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DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION’S REFUSAL 10
FUND HOLOCAUST CURRICULUM

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 19, 1988

HoUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
HuMAN RESOURCES AND
INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS SUBCOMMITTEE
oF THE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT RELATIONS,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:35 a.m., in room
2154, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Ted Weiss (chairman of
the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Ted Weiss, Jim Lightfoot, and Donald
E. “Buz” Lukens.

Als]g present: Representatives Sidney R. Yates and Barney
Frank.

Staff present: James R. Gottlieb, staff director; Marc Smolonsky,
professional staff member; Gwendolyn S. McFadden, secretary; and
Mary Vihstadt, minority professional staff, Committee on Govern-
ment Operations.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN WEISS

Mr. WEss. Good morning. The Subcommittee on Human Re-
sources and Intergovernmental Relations is now in session.

Today the subcommittee will conduct an oversight hearing on
the Department of Education’s refusal to fund a program to teach
American students about the Holocaust.

The program, called Facing History and Ourselves, was denied
funding by the Department, partly on the basis of & review which
reached the unthinkable conclusion that “the Nazi point of view,
however unpopular, is still a point of view and is not presented,
nor is that of the Ku Klux Klan.”

The Department’s $20 million National Diffusion Network is in-
tended to fund efforts to disseminate information about successful
school programs. Facing History has been extremely effectivc,
having already been taught by thousands of teachers. It also hap-
pens to be the only Houlocaust curriculum in the country eligible
for funding by the National Diffusion Network.

The Department's actions against Facing History suggest an in-
stitutional bias against teaching American children about the Holo-
caust. In 1986 and 1987, peer reviews of the program conducted by
outside readers hired by the Department rejected Facing History’s
application because it did not reflect the Nazi point of view, or be-
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cause the program was considered anti-Christian. These criticisms
were accepted by some Department officials,

Earlier this year, when less ideological reviewers were brought
in to examine the Facing History program, it received high marks
in its category ~history, geography and civics. But that still did not
prevent the Department from killing the application. The Depart-
ment simply eliminated the entire category from funding consider-
ation.

I believe this chain of events demonstrates that the denial of
funds for the Holocaust project was not the work of a single person
and was not an isolated incident. It was an act that had to be con-
doned by the highest officials of the Department.

This issue has a special meaning to me. Along with my mother
and sister, I emigrated tc the United States, arriving on March 12,
1938. As our ship steamed its way to New York Harbor, Hitler was
consolidating his power. The day before we arrived in New York—
March 11, 1938—was the day of the Anschluss, when Hitler trium.-
phantly marched into Austria to be welcomed by the Austrian pop-
ulation as the celebration of the union between Ausiria and Ger-
many.

I escaped the Holccaust, but others in my family were not so for-

nate. My grandparents on both sides and countless uncles, aunts,
cousins, and other relatives did not survive Hitler’s final solution
for European Jews, nor did 6 millior other Jews and countless
numbers of other people.

We are conducting this hearing todav to make a permanent
record of what has been going on at the Department of Education
for the past 3 years, Just as we memorialize the Holocaust, so that
we may never forget.

I should note this is not really a matter for partisan political con-
cern or effort. I had the privilege of attending the Holocaust Memo-
rial, a cornerstone dedication, about 10 days ago, where President
Reagan spoke eloquently, and he said, among other things, “I think
all of us here are aware of tho » €Ven among our own countrymen,
who have dedicated themselves to the disgusting task of minimiz-
ing or even denying the truth of the Holocaust.”

We have a letter from Mr. Hyman Bookbinder, who tells me
during the last 7 years he learned how Kitty and Mike Dukakis
feel about our children learning the meaning of the Holocaust,
This is a broad, bipartisan, congressiona! ccncern, not. one for parti-
san political advantage.

[The letter referred to is in app. 1, p. 105.]

Mr. WEiss. We will be hearing from the director of Facing Histo-
ry of the National Dissemination Study Group, and the professor of
the Holocaust and theology at Georgetown University. Before we
proceed to the witnesses, | am going to call on some of our distin-
guished members and we will have a brief, 10-minute tape which
will explain what the program “Facing History and Ourselves” is
all about.

I am pleased to indicate that we have with us one of our most
?lelnio:.' and distinguished Members in Congress, Mr. Sidney Yates of

maois.

Welcome, Mr. Yates.

ERIC 5
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I am pleased now to call on our distinguizhed ranking minority
member, Mr. Lightfoot.

Mr. Licutroor. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I appreciate the opportunity to explore in greater detail the oper-
ations of the Department of Education. It is my understanding that
today’s hearing will focus on the National Diffusior: Network and
the reasons why the grant application for “Facing History and
Ourselves” was not recently funded by the Department under this
program.

As someone who is unfamiliar with both the National Diffusion
Network, other than what I read in a Washington Post article, I
look forward to learning more about the process.

I do have concerns about the appearance of anti-Semitism, as it
relates to Facing History. There should be no place in the Federal
Covernment, including the Department of Education, for religious
bigotry of any kind.

I welcome the witnesses at this time, and I look forward to hear-
ing about this program, Facing History, and the Natioual Diffusion
Netwc k.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Weiss. Thank you.

Mr. Lukens, do you have an opening comment you would like to
make?

Mr. Lukens. No, sir.

Mr. Weiss. Thank you very much.

If we can have the tape, we will start with that.

[Video tape was shown.]

Mr. Wgiss. Let me take note also, that we have been joined by
another of our distinguished members, Mr. Barney Frank.

From time to time as the morning proceeds, I think there will be
other members who will be coming by as well.

Our first witnesses will be from the Department of Education,
and that first panel will be comprised of Dr. Brunc Manno, Acting
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Operations, U.S. Department of
Education; Dr. Milton Goldberg, Director of Programs for the Im-
provement of Practice, U.S. Department of Education; Dr. Shirley
Curry, former Director of the Re>ognition Division, U.S. Depart-
ment of Education.

Let me at the outset ind:cate how much we appreciate the fact
that you all were able to come on such short notice. As you know,
Congress is in its very last days. We will be hopefully completing
our work sometime this week. So there is no other time except this
week to hold the hearing. So we appreciate being able to adjust
your schedule to ours.

It is the practice of this subcommittee and indeed the Govern-
ment Operations Committee to have all of its witnesses sworn in.
So, before we commence, if you would please stand.

Do you affirm that the testimony you ai about to give will be
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

Let the record indicate that each of the witnesses responded in
the affirmative.

Dr. Manno, I think we will begin with your tes:imony.

ERIC
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STATEMENT OF BRUNO MANNO, PH.D., ACTING DEPUTY ASSIST-
ANT SECRETARY FOR OPERATIONS, OFFICE OF EDUCATIONAL
RESEARCH AND IMPROVEMENT, U.S. DEPARTVENT OF EDUCA-
TION

Dr. ManNo. Thank you.

I have a very brief statement I would like to read, sir.

Mr. Chnirman and members of the subcommittee, my name is

Bruno Manno. You have already heard of the others who are here
witll; me, Milton Goldberg on my left and Shirley Curry on my
right.
Let me briefly state, the National Diffusion Network is a school
improvemenQ program that identifies and disseminates information
about education programs that work. In order .or a program to be
part of the network, the program must be reviewed by a program
effectiveness panel. In addition to this, projects which are part of
the NDN can compete for developer-demonstrator grants. These
grants provide funds for training, revising materials and followup
assistance to schools using the progrsain.

There i re two points I wish to make. First, Facing Mistory was
first approved for inclusion in the National Diffusion Network on
December 5, 1980, and has been part of the NDN ever since then.
According to the infurmation that we have, Facing History was
used during the schocl year 1986-87, by 243 qublic schools and 24
private schools. In addition, 604 teachers an administrators were
trained and over 20,000 students were taught using the Facing His-
tory material.

My second point: The Department has never, and I state this un-
equivocally, denied the application of Facin: History, based on the
program’s alleged bias to Christians, nor has the program been
denied because it did not include the Nazi point of view, as your
press release contends.

Since Secretary Cavazos could not be here today, he asked me to
read his statement, which he would like to have included in the
record, and 1 would like to do so without your objection.

Mr. WEiss. Without objection.

Dr. ManNo. Dated October 19, 1988, statement by Secretary Ca-
vazos:

Questions have been raised in the media and elsewhere concerning the operation
of the Deparument of Education’s peer review process jn connection with the Na-
tional Diffusion Network. Stories in the press have alleged that the Department’s
peer review process did not operate properly in connection with the “Facing History
and Ourselves” program that was under consideration for NDN funding earlier this

ear.
y I want to assure this subcommittee that [ am a strong believer in the peer review
process, and will take whatever steps are hecessary to cnsure its proper functioning
b boment: ood fortune to ha ed iewer for programs
as n m ortune ve )¢ { as a T reviewer for

funded by the Na{iognal Library of Medicinsee. My experig:ge there has convli)nced me
that a strong peer review process ensures integrity and objectivity in the Govern-
ment's grant-making process.

While the decision to fund projects in the histo% geography and civics category
occurred before my confirmation as Secretary of ucation, in light of the allega-
tions surrounding the NDN funding decisions earlier tnis year, I am reviewing the
process. [ intend to take all possible steps to ensure that future peer reviews are
conducted in accordance with congressiona! intent.

I do want to assure this subcommittee that allegatior:s of anti-Semitism in the
funding decision concerning “Facing History and Ourselves” are unfounded.
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Finally, Dr. Curry has a very short statement that she would like
to read into the record. With your permission, she will do so.
Mr. WEesss. Please proceed, Dr. Curry.

STATEMENT OF SHIRLEY CURRY, ED.D., FORMER "IRECTOR, NA-
TIONAL DIFFUSION RECOGNITION DIVISION, U.S. DEPARTMENT
OF EDUCATON

Dr. Curry. Good day, Congressman Weiss and fellow committee
members. My name is Shirley Curry, former Director of the Na-
tional Diffusion Recognition Division for the U.S. Department of
Education. I am very pleased to have this cpportunity to testify.

To begin, I want to solemnly affirm that the published innuendo
in the Washington Post article on October 4, the very eve of Presi-
deint Reagan’s laying the cornerstone for the Holocaust Memorial
Museum, that somehow the Department in general and I in par-
ticular have operated from some anti-Semitic mode in not granting
funds to the National Diffusion Network program ‘‘Facing History
and Ourselves” is absolutely absurd.

I personally believe that current and future generativns should
know about this unspeakable tragedy, the Holocaust, and every
effort should be taken to see that it never happens again.

While it is true to understand and appreciate our republic form
of government, other systems of government should also be stud-
ied, I do not feel such atrocious regimes as the Nazi Party and its
philosophy should be presented to students or adults either, for
that matter, in a sympathetic light.

To further document my genuine dedication to assuring that the
sensitive subject of the Holocaust has its proper place in our
schools, I have actively encouraged the U.S. Holocaust Memorial
Council to become part of the National Diffusion Network. A
member of my NDN staff was working to help ready Holocaust
programs for inclusion in the NDN as early as the spring of 1986.
Interested personnel were invited to an orientation and training
workshop on how to prepare the Joint Dissemination Review Panel
submittal in May 1986.

I sincerely agree with your statement, Congressman Weiss, in
your October 5 cor1espondence to the Secretary: “There must be no
room in the Department for the grotesquc opinion.” I assure you
and other members of the committee, recommendations and deci-
sions were not ‘“‘influenced by such heinous thought.’

Thank you very much.

Mr. Weiss. Thank you very much, Dr. Curry, Dr. Manno.

Dr. Goldberg, I understand you do not have a prepare! state-
mex;t, but that you would be willing to respond to questions put to
you?

STATEMENT OF MILTON GOLDBERG, ED.D., DIRECTOR, PRO-
GRAMS FOR IMPROVEMENT OF PRACTICE, U.S. DEPARTMENT
OF EDUCATION
Dr. GoLpBERG. Certainly.

Mr. Weiss. Let me start off by asking you some questions, Dr.
Goldberg.

J
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You are the Director of Programs for the Improvement of Prac-
tice; did 7your responsibilities include supervision of the Recognition
Division?

Dr. GoLDBERG, That is correct.

) M;- WEiss. What ure the responsibilities of the Recogniticn Divi-
sion?

Dr. GoLDBERG. There are two major programs in the Recognition
Division. One is called the School ognition Prugram, a program
which identifies exemplary schools arourd the country and pro-
vides them with the recognition from the Department and then dis-
seminates information about what kind of scgoola those are.

The second program is the National Diffusion Network, which is,
as Dr. Manno described, a program which identifies good programs
in the schools and makes information about those programs avail-
able to other people,

Mr. Werss. How long have you been with the Department?

Dr. GOLDBERG. | have been with the Dearanment since 1976,

i\lier&"w:xss. And when was the Natjon Diffusion Network estab-
lished?

Dr. GoLpBERG. In the mid-1970’s. Some time before then, I be-
lieve about 1974.

Mr. WEiss. Now, when the Network was set up, did the Depart-
men; review applications on the basis of the programs effective-
ness?

programs for inclusion in the Network on the basis of data pro-
duced by the Program, data about its effectiveness in achieving its
outcomes,

Mr. Weiss. And at that time, when it was first established, did
the Department review applications for content?

Dr. (gownmc. No; not to my knowledge.

Mr. WEss. Did there come a time when the Department began
rt;lea:guring the rontent of the Program material, and when was
that?

Dr. GoLbBERG. In 1986 and 1987, there were efforts made to in-
clude content as a criterion for funding in the program. There were
r ﬂlations drawn for which publiz content was welcomed.

ére was an attempt to create something called the Program
Significance Panel, which would leok at a variety of criteria relat-
ed to the content of the program.

Mr. WEiss. And when the Program Significance Panel was cre-
atea, what was your reaction?

.. GOLDBERG. I had some misgivings about some of the charac-
teristics of the Program Significance Panel.
have always reviewed—thought there are some issues related to

to know. One of the obvious examples for me as a former school
principal and teacher is age appropriateness.

I have always felt that that is useful information for teachers
and principals to have.

Mr. Wriss. And did you indicate at that time that you would no
longer sign off on rogram applications?

Dr. GoLpBerg. No, no; not in general. I had not signed off on this
particular application, but, in general, I sign off on other programs.

14
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Mr. Weiss. When Facing History and Ourselves cetegory, history,
geography, and civics was eliminated, Dr. Curry, from funding com-
petition this year, did Assistant Secretary Chester Finn tell you he
would go to the Secretary’s Chief of Staff, Mr. William Kristol, to
exprexs concerns about the category?

Dr. GOLDBERG. Yes.

Mr. Wgiss. Did such a meeating take place, do you know?

Dr. GOLDBERG. As far as I know.

Mr. Wmss. All right.

Alter that meeting, was it Dr. Curry’s decision to deny funding
to the entire category of history, geography, and civics approved?

Dr. GoLDBERG. Yes, the Assistant Secretary followed her recom-
mendations.

Mr. Weiss. When the entire categories were eliminated from
funding in the past, it was hecause most of the programs in the cat-
egory were rated low; is that correct?

Dr. GoLpBERG. That is right.

Mr. Weiss. Now, was that the case with this situation?

Dr. GoLpBeRG. No. I should add one more thing.

Sometimes categories were not fuaded for some other reasons, in-
cluding the fact that there might have already been : number of
prog-ams in the Network in that category, or there had been pro-
grams funded the previous year in that category.

The answer to your quesiion is, in this case, this was a program
that was fairly highly rated. Although there were a lot of highly
;gted proposals this past year, Facing History was rated about an

Mr. Wziss. Dr. Manno, you were Dr. Finn’s Chief of Staff at ihat
time; is that correct?

. Dr. MannNo. That is correct.

Mr. Wriss. Can you tell us what your involvement with the
Facing Fiistory project was?

Dr. MANNO. My involvement was similar to my involvement with
all the other procurements that make their way through OERI to
the Assistant Secretary. The staff that I have was responsible for
checking a number of different things before a final document got
to the Assistant Secretary for approval.

We would check to make sure that the budget figures were accu-
rate on the material that was submitted. We would check to make
sure that, in general, the co:ggetitions were held according to the
regulations that were published for the competition, et cetera.

Mr. Wriss. Did you have a conversation with Dr. Finn about his
meeting with Dr. Kristol about terimination of the category?

Dr. MannNo. No; I did not have a meeting with Dr. Finn.

Mr. WEiss. Were you aware of the termination of the category of
history, geography, and civics?

Dr. 0. Yes.

Mr. Wriss. Whom did you discuss it with?

Dr. MaNNo. Just Dr. Finn.

Mr. Werss. Tell us about the nature of that discussion?

Dr. Manno. The discussion was very short and to the point. The
point was made by Dr. Finn that a decision had been made to
eliminate that category.

Q
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Mr. WEiss. What was tne basis for it? What did he tell you was
the basis for eliminating that category?

Dr. MAaNNo. He really didn’t go into any detail.

Mr. Weiss. Did you have any understanding from other sources
as to wliy that category was eliminated”

Dr. ManNo. No, I didn't.

Mr. Weiss. Did you ask anybody as to why it was eliminated?

Dr. MaNNO. No. The elimination of the category was not an un-
usual event. In the past, categories had been eliminated.
. It was not unusual thet a category had been eliminated for fund-
ing.
Mr. Weiss. You saw nothing unusual in this category being
eliminated?
alDr. ManNo. The category history; I did think it was a bit unusu-

Mr. Weiss. And did you convey your thought that it was unusual

Dr. MANNo. I had a brief discussion about this as part of that
conversation with Dr. Finn.

Mr. Weiss. What did you say to him and what did he say to you?

Dr. ManNo. I don’t recall the exact words, but something to the
effect that this seemed a bit unusual, and his response was, ye<, it
was unusual.

Mr. Wess. That was it?

Dr. MANNO. That was basically it.

Mr. Weiss. Did you discuss anything at that time about the prior
applications that had been made?

Dr. MANNoO. Not at all.

Mr. Weiss. For approval?

Dr. ManNo. No.

Mr;’ Weiss. Were you told that Phyllis Schlafly opposed the pro-
gram?

Dr. MANNO. Was I told that? No, not by Dr. Finn.

Mr. WEeiss. By anybody? .

Dr. MANNo. I was not tuld that by anybody. But it was generally
something that was known foing as far back, if I recall correctly,
to the hearings that were held up on the Hill concerning the Hatch
amendment.

Mr. WEss. Go into that in greater detail.

Dr. MaNNo. I really don’t know much of the details connected
with it. I just picked that up in the course of general discussions
that occurred on the question of Facing Histery.

Mr. Weiss. Did Ms. Schlafly write a letter to William Kristol,
who was the Special Assistant to the Secretary of Education, ex-
pressing her opposition to the program?

Dr. ManNoO. I was told that she did. I, in fact, have never seen a
letter.

I read that she wrote one, but I never saw a copy of that letter.

12
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Mr. Weiss. We will introduce into the record at this time, with-
out objection, a letter from Phyllis Schlafly, dated August 13, 1987,
to Mr. William Kristol, Chief of Staff, Counselor, U.S. Department.
of Education, expressing her opposition te Facing listory and Our-

selves.
[The information follows:]
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= August 13, 1987

Mr. William U"_istol

Chief of Staff/Cuunselor

U.S. Department of Education

400 Maryland Ave., S.W., Room 4181
Washington, DC 20202

Dear Mr. Kraistol:

I just read in the August 4 issue of Education Week that there
is some kind of dispute going on about a curriculum called Facing
History and Ourselves” and whether or not it should receive National
Diffusion Network recugnition and/or federa! funding. Although the
article mentioned my name and that of Eagle Forum, I was not inter-
viewed for the article.

I would like, however, to make our position clear on thit mac-
ter. Our oppcsition has nothing to do wi:n the subject matter or
the ideology of the curriculum. We certainly beliave that the Holo-
caust is an important fact of history that must be taught 1if history
is to be accurate and factual -- and that it must be taught sympa-
thetically to the victims.

Our opposition is based on the adverse, negative and offensive '~
[svchologacz® effects of the course as revealed bv those who taught, -
took, and eval.lted the course. I emphasize that NOME of my infor-
mation was taxen from those who are critical of the curriculum. ALL
my information 1s from supporters of the curriculum.

, I am sure that the authors werg well-intentioned and probably
did not forsee the negative effecty of this course on minor chil-
dren. But the adverse effects are so well-documented thac it would
be 2n embarrassment to the U.S. Department of Education 1f 1t nro-
moted of funded th:s curriculum in the fuce of the massive evidence
that this course 18 detrimental to students. °

Psychological manipulation (colloquially known as group therap:
in the classroom by unlicensed psvchologists) was the reason for the
Protection af Pypil Rights Amendment, passed by Congress in 1978,
for which requlations were jssued in 1984. Fac:ng Histor,; and Quc-
selves would certainly cor~ inder the purview of this stacite ard
fequife parental consent berore use by schecolchildren if 1t 1s fed-
ersally fvnded. I bel:eve it would be hard for the Department of
Education to justify funding this curriculum after i1ts nejative
eflects are so s/ell known, and when there ar? so many good curricula
avallable.

-



Docunentation for the 3bove statements is contained 1n a jour-

//ﬂnal cailed Moral Educatiocn Forum oublished by Hunter College, City

. Uriversity ot New York, 1n the Summer of 198l. The autlhors of this
journal were obviously friendly to Facing Historv and Ourselves --
%0 please note that 1 am not quoting from a critic of the curriculum
but from 15 f ;235;\‘ Chilaren who studied Facing Histor and Our-
selves Her‘:zé:u&i:ﬁ;&o write "journals” recording their feelings
atter tacing the .. Sons. One need only to read the statements of
the students wh:- studied the curriculum to understand i1ts negative
effects. Here are some of the vords of the students, as proudly
recorded and published in Moral Education Forum:

c:) "1 have learned that there is seldom a right or
ﬁf wrong but rather a right or left.® (p. 34)

"I feel ag though Something I have had all my

l1fe has been taken away from me, something that
(Jf\ can never be totally restored. 1 almost feel

that I peed i1t back because I feel so awtu’

without 1¢.... Wwe all, in our strugglaing timanity,

have to clutch to our eyeballs to keep out the

cold light of Jdespair.* (p. 28)

f}? "What T did learn wil® probably change the way I
— think and look on life for the rest of my 1, fe."
(p. 13

More documentation 1is contained in the February 1981 gsye of a
publication called Independent School. Here I quote a = _n directly
from student Journals:

"I'm conscious of having changed in the strength
CE; of my convictions on many of the ethical dilemmas
2 we've ccnfronted. Byt ip other ways I'm less sure
of myseif and more introsgective. Where do I draw
the line between right and wrong?"™ (p. 20)

Another favorable evaluation was made by Elisabeth H, colt and
Fanny a, Connelly in the summer of 1980. agaia I quote directlv
from the report or Journals of students wio took the Facinag Historv
arJd Qursel.es coeurse

"The mcsct meaninzful parts of the book to me were
wnen the oov stopped believing 1n God, and when the

CE: ficher was dyring I L.ink that maybe mv faith ;s
waning, a litzcle, just from reaa.ng aboy:r 1t. Un:tor-
tucatal,, this beux will always be tucved in my
wemory " (g g6,

/;‘ "we preoed quest.ons tr~3t had no right or wrong
= 1S~ers and I became nore and more confised as to
how I stsod on several i1ssues.* (p. 98,

J&/ "Cien i thys Seeningl, parfoss countsy, we are cruel,
& \ " ar= hatacyl, We ara Jbsessea sith ourselvas.”

\72)
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I also call to ynur attention some comments in the Project
Evaluation by Pr~fessar Marcus Lieberman of the Harvard Graduate
School Jf Education, as quoted in Moral Education Forum (cited
above).

“The changes the program expects to bring about

in students are complex.... FTurthecmore, the
effect of the program on students may not become
apparent until considerable time after the
completion of the unit.” (p. 16)

Pcofessor Lieberman calls the curriculum “experimertal” and
"controversial.” He states that the purpose of the program was to
make "changes in the students’ moral, ego and social development.”

He admits that the junior high school students who studied the CZJV

(fZ) curriculum *"complained bit-erly about the difficulty io answering

the guestions...” and that they had an "emotional sponhse to whet
students perceived as a high level of abuse...” p. 36?‘)

Another evaluator, Betty Bardige, stated that students studying

7;\ this curriculum were regularly “"asked to heep jcurnals in which they
) record their thoughts and feelings after eich class. The Journals

are one ot the most wnportant parts of the students’ response to the

curriculum.” (p. 42)

Such_psvchologic anj L ucad_hahayi hange, and
privady-invading Ereatment are utagcept-ble in fadarally-finded or
federslTy-approved curricula. They are what brought nbout the
Protection of Pupil Rights Amendrent (both the statute 1in 1978 and
the regulations in 1984). Americans do not appreciate having their
children treated like guinea pigs in the classroom.

In sum, I believe it would be most unfortunate if schools
across the nation are permitted to believe that the Federal Govern-
ment :s sponsorina such a manipulative course in the public schools.
Let's get back to "basic skills" and “what works."

Sincerely,

Mooy
&QL .,Jm-_\t)(

‘ 'b
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Mr. WEiss. It goes on for some 2% pages.

You had never seen that letter?

Dr. MaNNo. I really have not.

Mr. Weiss. Did you ever discuss that leiter with anyone?

Dr. MANNO. No, I didn’t.

Mr. Weiss. Dr. Curry, did you ever have any conversation or
communication from Ms. Schlafly about this program?

Dr. Curry. I had a conversation with her, yes.

Mr. WEiss. When did you have that conversation?

Dr. Curry. Sir, I couldn’t tell you.

Mr. Weiss. How long have you held the position that you held at
the time you had this responsibility?

Dr. Curry. Excuse me?

Mr. WEiss. How long were you in the Department of Education?

Dr. Curry. I have geen in the Department of Education since
January 1986,

Mr. WEiss. And s0 you had a conversation with Ms, Schlafly sub-
sequent to January 1986; is that correct? Did you have a conversa-
tion with Ms. Schlafly about this program Facing History and Our-
selves during the course of 1988?

Dr. Curry. I had several conversations with Ms. Schlafly and
with a lot of people about the programs.

Mr. Wgiss, Wﬁen was the last conversation that you had with
Ms. Schlafly?

Dr. Curnry. I don’t know, sir.

Mr. WEiss. Do you have records which could tell you when you
had your last conversation with Ms. Schlafly on this program?

Dr Turry. No, sir.

Mr. Weiss. Do you keep records?

Dr. Curry. No, sir.

Mr. Wess. Let me finish my question.

Do you keep diary records of people with whom you have meet-
ings or conversations?

. CURRY. No, sir.

Mr. Wess. So that if you meet with 50 people during August
1988, there would be no record at all in 8your diary or your files as
to whom you met with during August 1988?

Dr. Curry. Nothing more than what is on mf calendar.

Mr. WEsss. Well, then, let me ask you, would your calendar tell
you when you had conversations with Ms. Schlafly?

Dr. Curry. No. Because her name is not on my calendar.

Mr. Weiss. OK.

Tell us, if you can remember the substance of the conversation
that you had with Ms. Schlafly about the program Facing History
and Ourselves.

Dr. Curry. Ms. Schlafly’s opposition to the program is well
stal&ed w thatﬁciasber. )

r. WEIss. ou agree or disagree——

Mr. FRANK. Pulf the microphone closer to you.

Dr. Curry. I want you to hear what I have to say.

Mr. FRANK. Pull it closer.

Dr. CURRv. 1t helps to turn it on.

Mr. WEiss. Do you recall the substance of the conversations that
you had rith Ms. Schlafly concerning this program?

i
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Dr. CUurry. No, except that I knew that she had objections to the
program.

Mr;’ WEeIss. What did you tell her about your view of the pro-
gram?

Dr. Curry. My view f the program is that it is irappropriate for
the age group which it ‘s addressing. That is the only conversation
that we have had about ‘hat.

Mr. WEercs. Which age ,'roup is that?

Dr. Curry. According to +he JDRP application, this program is
approved for teaching eighth and ninth graders. And according to
noted Holocaust educators with whom I have discussed, and if you
don’t mind, I will just get this correct, I have been advised by dis-
tinguished Holocaust scholars and educators that the type of pro-
gram that is presented in Facing History is far too intensive for
presentation to junior high students.

Such material, they claim, should not generally be presented
before the 11th grade with such intensity, and great care should be
given as to win teaches Facing History. And, of course, it is only
approved to be taught in the eighth and ninth grades.

Mr. WEeiss. Who are these distinguished experts on the Holocaust
who made that statement?

Dr. Curry. Dr. Irene Shur, professor of history, West Chester
University, forerunner an' teacher in Holocaust education, who
produced training units on the subject and founded the National
Association for Holocaust Education.

Mr. WEIss. You were just quoting her?

Dr. Curry. Excuse me?

;Vlr. Weiss. And do you have any other experts that you can refer

Dr. Curry. I have discussed the subject with her cohort, Dr.
Frarklin Litrell

Mr. WEIss. Do you have a statement from her cohort?

Dr. Curry. No, I have no statement. I just discussed it with him.

Mr. WEiss. When did that discussion take place?

Dr. Curry. Yesterday, I guess. He called me for lunch.

ShMr‘i WEIss. And when did you have a conversation with Dr.
ur?

Dr. Curr~ The last conversation I have had with her?

Mr. WEIss. Yes.

Dr. Curry. It has been this week.

Mr. WEIss. Whan was the first conversation you had with her?

Dr. Curry. The first conversation I had with Dr. Shur—I will
have to think on that. It was in 1986.

" N‘i’r. WEeIss. iJow many conversations in all have you had with
er?

Dr. Curry. O, sir, I zouldn’t tell.

Mr. WEiss. More than those two?

Dr. CUrRry. Oh, yes.

Mr. WEiss. You were the Director of the Recognition Division at
thehtj’me that Facing History was an applicant for funding, is that
right?

Dr. Curry. That is true. Let me point out one thing on that sub-
ject, that when this program wes approved, in 1980, quoting from
the JDRP minutes, it says, “In approving this submission, the

18
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panel recommended that the developer keep the JDRP informed
Tom time to time of later findings in order to show the programs
adaptability, including harmful effects.”

That is the primary concern.

Mr. WEiss. And did you, in fact, ask the program to inform you
who suffered harmful effects?

Dr. Curry. No.

Mr. Weiss. Now, do you still hold the position as Director of the
Recognition Division?

Dr. Curry. No.

Mr. Weiss. When did you leave that position?

Dr. Curnry. Friday.

Mr. WEiss. What were the circumstances——

Dr. MaNNo. Sir, I might be able to shad a little light on that.

Mr. Weiss. Dr. Manno, if I need your assjstance, I will ask for it.
Dz Curry, when did you leave the position?

Dr. Curry. On Friday.

Mr.? Weiss. What were the circumstances of your leaving the po-
sition?

Dr. Curry. I was asked to go over and work in the Office of Man-
agement.

Mr. "Wmss The Office of Management of the Department of Edu-
cation?

Dr. Curry. Department of Education, yes.

Mr. WEiss. You were relieved of your responsibilities as head of
the Recognition Division, is that correct?

Dr. Curry. That is true.

Mr. Wziss. Dr. Manno, do you want to expand on that?

Dr. ManNo. The only point I was going to make was that on
Friday, I told Shirley that effective Fri ay, she would be relieved of
her duties as Director of the Recognition Division, and effective
this past Monday she was to report to the Deputy Under Secretary
for Management and await further instructions as to what her
duties in the Department would be. She was relieved of all her pro-
gram duties effective this past Friday.

Mr. Weiss. What was the reason for relieving Dr. Curry of her
responsibilities?

Dr. MaNNo. It is very much related to one of the points that the
Secretary made in his statement I read into the record. Namely,
the Secretary has undertaken a review of the proc - s related to the
funding of Facing History. It was the opinion of those in the De-
partment involved in this review that the best thing we could do
would be relieve Dr. Curry of her duties while this investigation
was underway,

Mr. Weiss. All right. And it is possible she may be returned to
that position sometime in the future, is that correct?

Dr. MaNNo. In fact, several months ago, Dr. Curry let it be
known that she was intending to submit her resignation, certainly
no later than November or December of this year. So the discus-
sion of who would in fact at some point take over the Recognition
Division is a discussion that has been going on sometime.

Mr. Weiss. So that——

Dr. Curry. May I address the question here, too?

o i 9
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I feel like a rabbit in a brier patch because for a year I have
asked to be assigned somewhere else. I am here as a Preridential
appointee, and I wanted experiences around the Department. I had
talked with senior personnel about being transferred many times.

So I am not the least bit upset about being transferred over to
the Office of Management. It will give me a chance to know how
the rest of the Department works. I know how OERI works. I am
here for a little while and the more I can learn about how the De-
partment works, the better I like it.

I am not upset. If I stay where I am, that is fine. If I am trans-
ferred back, that is fine.

Mr. Wmss. OK. Since you are not happy or not unhappi and the
Secretary is not unhappy about the situation, let me go back to a
discussion of your responsibilities while you were the head of the
Recognition Division.

According to the Education Depariment’s official description of
the division, I am quoting, “The division is responsible for estab-
lishing processes for identifying and selecting outstanding and
noteworthy individuals, educational programs and practices in
schools, providing national recognition for their schievements in
education, and using these resources in a variety of ways to assist
others seeking improvement in the quality of education, the divi-
sion of ministers, secre of school recognition programs in the
National Diffusion Network.”

That is an accurate description, is it not?

Dr. Curry. That is accurate.

Mr. Weiss. According to the Department’s official job description,
the director of the Recognition Division must be “recognized both
within the agency and by leading figures in the scientific communi-
ty as a nationally recognized authority.”

Now, when you took the job, Dr. Curry, had you authored any
books at that time?

Dr. Curry. Excuse me?

Mr. Weiss. At the time that you took the position of head of tle
Recognition Division, which required people who were nationally
recognized authorities, were you # recognized author? Had you au-
thored any books at that point?

Dr. Curry. I have authored no books.

Mr. Weiss. What research had you published at the time you
took this position?

Dr. Curry. 1 have published no research. However, sir, I have a
master’s degree in statistics and a doctorate from Vanderbilt, with
emphaais in teacher evaluation.

Mr. WEiss. And you think that qualifies you as a leading nation-
al authority, is that correct?

Dr. Curry. That and the fact that I have been active in school-
rooms for 13 years. They felt that I had the qualifications to know
what goes on in a schoolroom and what makes up a good program.
And I have the statistical background to work in the Office of Re-
search and Imgerovement.

Mr. Wesss. Before joining che Department, you were the director
of job training for high school students in Wayne County, TN, is
that correct?

Dr. Curry. That is correct.

24
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Mr. Wesss. Prior to that, you were the office manager for Volun-
teer Insulation, Inc., is that correct?

Dr. Curry. That is correct.

Mr. Weiss. That company did what?

Dr. Curry. We did insulation.

Mr. Weiss. Of storm windows?

Dr. Curry. Excuse me?

Mr. Weiss. Insulation of what?

Dr. Curry. Blowing in insulation, fiberglass insulation in attics.

Mr. Wess. You worked 1 month in 1982 as s consultant for
women’s programs at the Education Department.

Dr. Curry. That is right.

Mr. Wriss. You have a doctorate in education, correct?

Dr. Curry. True.

Mr. WEiss. Were applications to the National Diffusion Network
submitted for peer review by the Department?

Dr. Curry. Excuse me?

Mr. Weiss. Were applications for the National Diffusion Network
submitted for peer review by the Department?

Dr. Curry. Did people submit applicatious to the Department for
the National Diffusion Network?

Mr. Weiss. Were applications to the National Diffusion Network
submitted for peer review by the Department?

Dr. Curry. Sure. Our applications g0 out for peer review, yes.

Mr. Wess. Were you responsible for approving the people who
reviewed the applications?

Dr. Curry. I am glad you asked me that, Congressman. Yes, I am
responsible for gathering peer reviewers. I would like you to know
that the three programs that we run require over 400 peer review-
ers, non-Federal persons, annually. And I get resumes from every-
where. I practically collect them off the street to come up with 400
n}clm-Federal people to do work for us for which we do not pay
them.

Mr. Wss. So it is your responsibility, is that correct?

Dr. Curry. That is right, part of my responsibility, to gather the
resumes,

Mr. Weiss. Facing History and Ourselves, an educational pro-
gram about the Holocaust, first applied for funding from the De-
partment, other than for the seed funding grant in 1980, in 1986, is
that correct?

Dr. Curry. According to our records, it did apply, and—let me
sec. 1 think it was in 1982, the first time. Just 1 minute. Ju.ie, com-
petition, 1982, when it first applied.

Mr. Weiss. What happened to that application?

Dr. Curry. That application received a score of 57 and was
denied funding.

I have to poir.t out that was prior to my being there.

Mr. Weiss. Right. And then in 1986, there was an application.

Dr. Curry. There was an application in 1986, correct.

Mr. WEiss. One of the people reviewing that application was a
person n;zmed Christina Price. Did you approve her selection as a
reviewer?

Dr. Curey. I approved all the selections of the reviewers.

Q ‘zi
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Mr. Weiss. On December 4, 1986—without objection, we will
enter the review into the record—Dr. Price submitted her review of
Facing History, and it stated in the last paragraph, “The program
gives no evidence of balance or objectivity. The Nazi point of view
however, unpopular is still a point of view, and it is not presented;
nor is that of the Ku Klux Klan.”

Have you seen these comments before?

[The review referred to follows:]
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LA U, ow.vion
Applicat lon No:

TECANICAL REVIEW INSTRUMENT FOR DEVELOPER DEMONSTRATOR PROJECTS (DDs)
NATIOMAL DIFFJSION NE TWORK

Title of Proposal: Facing History ar surselves Priority Ares:_ 7

Applicant:__ Facing istory and Qurselves

Address: 25 Kennard Road Brookline, Massachusetts 02146
Street City/State ITp Code

Type of Applicant (Check One): LEA Institution of Higher Ed. Nonprofit Organization yx Other

Mmount of Funds Requested for first year: 59,325

APPLICATION EVALUATIOW CRITERIA

Maximum score Assigned Score

L. Plan of Operation _a 1.
1. Quality of Key personnel 2 $
1. Budget and Cost Effectiveness 10 10
Y. Evaluation plan _ 8
Y. Mequacy of Resources -5 5
YI.  Monitoring 15 15
VII. Effective Dissemination Strategles 10 10
Total Maximm Scoe: 100 Total: o1

Print Name of Reviewer: Dr, Christina F. Price

Stgnature, DAM,&; o E Lq“,“ o.u:_&_@/ﬂc

o

)
O
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Page 2 of ¥

Specific Instructions Indicate the point rating you give each criterion to the extent the program narrative is .41‘

high quality with respect to each of the activities as described. When citing specific {ssues

01 probiews, ycu should include the page reference iIn the application.
terion the Secrstary considers the extent to which excellence, balance,

demonstrated {n the proposed actlivities.

SFLECTION CRITERIA EDGAR 75.202 through 75.206
and SUBPART D 796.32 of REGS.

Comment s

In applying each cri-
and imagination are

1. Plan of Qperation 79.32(a)

1. The edtent to which the applicant shows
high quality in the design of the project.

2. The extent to which the str-ategies and
activities proposed to implement the proj-
ect are likely to accomplish the project's
objectives successfully.

3. The extent to which the applicant sets
out an effective management plan including
appropriate resource atlocation, realistic
schedules, and a .ufficient amount of time
to be spent on the project by the proposed
staff members.

4. The extent to which the applicant describes

an effective plan of training required to
install the program in new settings.

5. The extent to which the applicant demon-
strates that the project will address
the needs of racial or ethnic minority
groups, women, handicapped persons, and
the elderly.

6. If the applicant is a local educational

Pts.

5

4

agency or State educational agency, is there

4 clear description of how applicant
will satisfy the requirement of private
school pa-ticipation.

Max. |
(Strengthz wnd Weaknesses) |Score 20 { Score 7

It 18 not true tha* you educat.

people by teachar them to ~.al 0
with problems the, do not face.

The problems of today are svfficient

for today.

The project itself lacks balance;
will former Nazis, etc., be asked 0
to speak?

Resource allocation plans are 3
somewhat vague.

Applicant does not Justify ner
confidence that of the §

teachers trained at the Institutes, 2
allofthencanbeawpectedtoacbpt

the program.

A statement is made to this effect

on p. 15; but no elaboration 1s 2
gaven.



Page J of 8

b wes

Max, Score s
Score 20
V1. Quality of key personnel 796.32(d)
1o The extent to which the project director has Pro tempts b
’ the qualifications and capadblifty to conduct wgmr“mh:vde:’:“t?
the project successfully. factors o BE 0h- 11 | clarification A ther Ul‘emp:;rm
sidered ace formal educat fonsl training, director , Willixa Parsons, nor the 0
experience and training in flelds related .o applicait, Margaret Stram, is trained
the objectives of the project, o3 well as other in psychology or Plvd\ilt;y
infornution that the applicent rrovides. .
2. The extent to which other key .taff members have
the qualifications to disseminate and Inplement the
project successfully. 3 The same problem exists here. 0
3. The extent to which sufficient time Is allotted Sufficient time each
for each staff member to the project, 3 |wember to the Pxé;q::httad for statf 3

4. The extent to which the applicant as part of its licant appears nondi
nondiscriminatory employment practices, en- k] :”pm‘ p“cu;:_m‘mce scriminatory 3
Courages applications for employment from persons
who are members of groups that have been
traditionslly underrepresented, such as members
of racial or ethaic minority groups. women,
handicapped persons, and the elderly.

-
‘-
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Page 4 of 8

Budget and Cost tffectiveness 796.32{c)

The extent to which the applicant’s budget

is

adequate to support the project activities; 2

reasonable in relation to the objectives
of the project;

takes into consideration the cost to the
adopter for installing the proyram in a
new setting, and

provides a projection of the number of
educationd) service providers that will
adopt the progrem.

24

24

»

Yes.

Yes.

Yes.

Yes, {(although, 1 question the
accur>cy of the projection).

—

(3

Max,
Score 10

Score
10



Page S of B

Iv. Evaluation Plan 796.32(d)

The extent to which the applicant describes an
effective plar for evaluat un by addre:sing:

8. the quality and effectiveness of awareness
materisls and conferences, training and
follow-up, and of internsl managemest plans;

b. the implementation status of the adoption,
including key elements and implementation
levels, and

€. the effectiveness of the adoption Including
the impact on the students of the changes in
teacher or adainistrator behavior,

o
-3
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-

10

Applicant 'is vaque; she says “Workshons and
site visits will provide conaistent feedback"
{p. 2*) but neglects to tell us the form of
the “eadback.

Properly addressed.
The evalustion which applicant says was

It is a paradoxical and strange aspect of

this am and thw methods used to change
u\emqofmuhununu-t

Hitler and Goshbels used to propagandize the
German pecple. This resducation msthod was
perfected by Chaiman Mao and now is being
foisted on Mmerican children undar tie guise
of "understanding” history. It is demeaning

w
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Page 6 of 8

V. Mequacy Of resources 796.)2(e)

The axtent to which the applicent proposes

to devote adequite resources to the project
by:

e. providing adequate facliities including office

Max. | Score

Scora 5 | s

and conference space, and Sean adbquate. 5
b. providing edequate equipment and supplies.
|Nu. Score
V1. Monitoring 796.2(f) Score 15 15

The extent to which the applicant clearly deteils plans
that show promise of effective management of the program,
including post-adoption monitoring of the proyram imple-
sentation and resuiting benefits at the adoptien sites.

H
<

Applicart ig cbvicusly concerned
with post:

teachers
as they move fram school to school.




Page 7 of 8

Vil. Effective Dissemination Strategies 796.32(g) ' . !

The extent te which applicont proposes effective
dlisseminat lon strategies to meet specific
charactaristics of the program.

29

Max.
Score 10 | 10

Score




O

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

Page B of 8

Rased on an overal) assessment of the application, do you recommend this progrem for funding?

Please comment

My cbjections to this program have to do with the program's contant, rather than with strategies for diffusion. The
latter are well thought out, the former is not.

Pirst of all, the mtire program strikes me as mass reality avoidance. We can't deal with today's problems, so let's
solve yesterday's. We lad rather focus on the shortoamings of Hitler and the Goemens, than on owr own.

Secondly, the nroqram is designed to be a values clarification program (See p. 4). I have grave reservations sbout
this type of program for junior high students. Also on page 4, the applicant claims that the central themes of the
prograns are particularly appropriste for early adolescence. She does not sav whv, and rersonally, I disagree. She
goes on to cay that these subjects are usually kept from children. Again, I disagree, The Diary of Ann Franke,
whe*her or not it should be, is cowon reading material of this aqe aroup.

Finally, the program gives no evidence of balance or cbjectivity. The Nazi point of view however, unpopular is still
a point of view, and it is not presented; nor is that of the Klu Klux Klan. The selection of only two problem areas,
Germany and Armenia leaves cut many others, many of which are more recent. I am thinking of the U.5.5.R., Afghanistan,
Canbodis, and Ethiopia among others. No explanation of this selectivity is given. My inpression is that this program,
based as it is cn the rescurce book, The Holocaust and Human Behavior, may be appropriats for a limited religious
Zw..ence, but not for widespread distribution to tht schools of the nation.
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Dr. Curry. Sure I have. But that doesn’t represent the official
views of the Department. Anti-Semitic views of this issue are total-
ly at odds with those of the Department.

I would also like to point out something that you may not know.
That that reviewers score, 61, was the highest score that any of
those reviewers gave it. It was 50 percent higher than the scores
the other two readers recorded.

Mr. WEiss. And did you or anyone else at the Department direct-
ly inform Dr. Price that her comments were inappropriate?

Dr. Curry. We do not make a practice of informing our commen-
g:agors as to our evaluation of what they have said. That is not our
job.

Mr. Weiss. Dr. Price’s review also states that Facing History’s
methods for teaching are the same used by Hitler and Chairman
Mao. Is that also your view?

Dr. Curry. I cannot make any such statement. I am not familiar
with what she is talking abort.

Mr. Wess. Dr. Price also v rote that the Facing History program
lacks balance because former Nazis were not asked to participate
in it.?Do you believe former Nazis should be included in this pro-
gram

Dr. Curry. Absolutely not.

Let me restate my statement I began with. While it is true to
understand and appreciate our republic form of government other
systems of government should be studied, I do not feel such atro-
cious regimes as the Nazi party or its philosophy should be present-
ed to students or adults either in a sympathetic manner.

Mr. Wemss. After the application was rejected, did you have any
conversation with the people who proposed the program?

Dr. Curry. Excuse me?

Mr. Weiss. Did you discuss the rejection of the application with
the people who had made the application?

Dr. Curry. I do not understand your question, sir.

Mr. Weiss. After the application was rejected—you said that the
application was rejected, right?

Dr. Curnry. Yes.

Mr. Weiss. OK. Now, did you have any conversation with the ap-
plicants after the rejection?

Dr. Curry. You mean with the Facing History program?

Mr. Weiss. Right.

Dr. Curnry. Sure. I talked with them a lot.

Mr. Weiss. What did you say?

Dr. Curry. I don’t know. I talked with them a lot.

M:. Wziss. Do you have——

Dr. Curry. I like Mrs. Strom. She is a very wonderful person.

Mr. WEiss. Marvelous.

The question is, do you recall what you told her after the appli-
cation was rejected?

Dr. Curry. No, I don’t.

Mr. Weiss. No idea at all. OK.

Now, in 1987, the year after Dr. Price’s review, Facing History
applied again to the National Diffusion Network, is that correct?

r. CURRY. That is correct.
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Mr. WEss. Now, a review of the a?plication inclnded that Facing
History had “an anti-Christian bias” and a “selective .se of leftist
authors.”

Now, do you recall that?

Dr. Curry. I recall those comments. But - 3ain, sir, we are not
responsible for the comments of our peer reviewers. We are not re-
sponsible for what they say. They are not espousing the Depart-
ment’s view.

Dr. MaNNo. In fact, the Department publicly rejected those com-
ments and criticized them and distanced itself from those com-
ments on numerous ccasions.

Mr. WEeiss. When was the first time?

Dr. MaNNo. Shortly after the initial comments were published in
the press.

Mr. WEiss. Shortly after they were published in the press, when?

Dr. MANNo. These were Christina Price’s comments. I can't give
()i'ou a date off the top of my head, but I can certainly get a precise

ate.

The Department, when asked to respond to those comments, pub-
licly rejected those comments and disassociated itself from those
comments.

Mr. WEiss. Tell me roughly when that was?

Dr. MANNo. It was some time in 1987, after the first articie ap-
peared in the newspapers quoting these comments.

918)71- Curry. I can tell you exactly when it was. It was in August

i987.

c Mr. Wgss. All right. Now, did you have a conversation, Dr.
urry
Dr. Curry. No, sir. In Aagust 1987, I was in Tennessee. My

father had had a stroke and we spent that whole month at the re-

habilitation center in Vanderbilt.

Mr. Wesss. Did you at any time after that application in 1987
was denied, have a discussion with the applicants as to why it was
denied?

Dr. Curry. Nothing more, sir, than the letters we send. We
always send a lztter. If that is what you are alluding to.

Mr. WEiss. Why was the application denied in 19877

Dr. Curry. Because the score was low.

Mr. WEIss. What was the score in 19877

Dr. Curry. Well, 1987 was an interesting year. That was the year
that we were operating under the new regulation for the Program
Significance Panel and at that time we were to have two reviews of
each project.

One review would look at the content. The other review would
just look at the dissemination practices. When the content was ex-
amined, it was given a score—let me read you the scores and ex-
plain how we did it. It was given a score of 70, 57, 57, 30 and 0, and
then the readers were asked if this was appropriate for Federal lis-
semination.

The average score for content was 47. The dissemination review
score was 82.

Averaged together, I believe that is about 65 or 67. It was a low
score, therefore, it was not funded.

Mr. WEiss. And you conveyed that information to the applicants?
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Dr. CURRY. Yes, we did.

Mr. WEiss. OK. Now, along comes 1988.

Dr. Curry. Correct.

Mr. WEeiss. Tell us what happened in 1988.

Dr. Curry. About the scores?

Mr. WErss. About the application and what happened.

Dr Curry. We reczived the application.

Mr. WEerss. Right.

Dr. Curry. We reviewed it.

Mr. WEiss. Yes.

Dr. Curry. It hzd a score of 89.

Mr. Weiss. Is that pretty good?

Dr. CURRY. About midway.

Mr. WEIss. About midway?

Dr. CURRY. Yes.

Mr. WEiss. Would it surprise you if I told you there were only 14
that received a higher score?

Dr. CUurry. That is not correct.

Mr. Waiss. No; 89 is not a good score?

Dr. Curry. It is not an outstanding score.

Mr Weiss. OK.

Dr. Curry. In that particular competition there were 48 appli-
cgnts. Twenty-four of them made scores higher than 89, 24 out of
4R

Mr. Weiss. Then what happened?

Dr. Curry. I don’t understand your question.

Mr. WEiss. Then what ultimately happened in 1988?

Dr. Curry. Do you want to talk about the categories? I don’t un-
derstand the question.

Mr. WEeiss. Fourteen programs that scored lower than 89 were
funded, though. isn’t that correct?

Dr. Curry. I haven’t counted that.

Mr. Weiss. Ultimately the score really didn:’t matter; isn’t that
correct?

Be:éause the whole category was eliminated. Tell me how that oc-
curred.

Dr. Curry. I am glad that you have asked that. I was afraid I
was not going to get to discuss the category issue.

Mr. WEeiss. You know, Dr. Curry, if you feel as we go along there
are chings I haven’t acked you that you think I should, please tell
me and maybe I will ask you the question then.

Dr. Curry. I am glad you have given me that leeway. Sir, I
really appreciate you allowing me to come and testify because I
really want thes2 unfounded rumors to be put to rest. For to think
we have been accused of being Nazi supporters, so to speak, is just
ridiculous, and it is—well—

Mr. Weiss. We didn’t make up those quotes that I read to you
from these reviews.

Dr. Curry. But I am telling you we don’t support those state-
ments and never have.

Mr. Weiss. What did you tell Dr. Price after you read her lan-
guage about how it was unbalanced because the Nazis weren’t rep-
resented?

Dr. Curry. What did I tell her?

B ) s b
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Mr. Wgiss. Yes.

Dr. Curnry. I didn’t tell her anything.

Mr. Weiss. You bet. OK.

Dr. Curry. I don’t usually make comments.

Mr. WEeiss. No matter how horrendous the statement?

Do the reviews play any rcle in determining the scores?

Dr. Curgy. Excuse me?

Mr. WEiss. Do the reviews play a role in determining the scores
that an application or applications receive?

Dr. Curry. The reviewers give the scores.

Mr. WEiss. Right. So the person who says this was not objective
because it does not present the Nazi or the Ku Klux Klan point of
view then scores on the basis of the failure to include those points
of view; isn’t that correct?

Dr. Curry. Apparently so.

Mr. Weiss. Right. You then make a judgment to den{ that appli-
cation on the basis of that reviewer’s score and on the basis of that
statement; isn’t that correct?

Dr. Curry. No, sir. We don’t agree with every statement that is
put out, sir. We could not.

Mr. Weiss. But you went through a great deal telling us how this
is a terrible program hecause of the low score and low score is
given by the people whu made these outrageous statements.

Dr. Curry. She gave it the highest scores of those that were
reading it. We could have just eliminated hers and it would have
had a lower score.

Mr. WEiss. You didn’t. You didn’t say anything to her about it;
go ahead and tell me——

Dr. Curry. Yes, I have said things to her about it since then.

Mr. WEgiss. When was that?

Dr. Curry. She has called me about it and I told her, Dr. Price,
that was a dumb statement for you to make.

Mr. WEeiss. What did you say?

Dr. Curry. It was a dumb statement.

Mr. Weiss. Did you also tell Ms. Schlafly her statements were
dumb statements for her o ition?

Dr. Curry. Well, Ms. Sl::%(l):.ﬂy’s opposition does not have any-
thing to do with the Holocaust.

Mr. WEeiss. No? What did it have to do with?

Dr. Curry. You have the letter there, sir.

Mr. WEiss. i'ell me your recollection of what Ms. Schlafly’s objec-
tions were.

Dr. Curry. It is a matter of record.

Mr. WEiss. I know. Tell me what your recollection is as to what
her opposition was.

Dr. Curry. According to—as I recall, her primary opposition has
something to do with the psychological manipulation that she feels
the program does. She feels, too, that it is inappropriate for the age
group.

Mr. WEiss. And she thinks this is brainwashing; isn’t that right?

You think that is not a dumb statement?

Dr. CUrry. Bat, sir, that is not in one of our reports.

Mr. Wess. Did Ms. Schlafly’s point of view bear any weight as to
what action the Department took?
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Dr. Curry. My objection and reservation about the program is
that it is inappropriate for that age group. That is all.

Mr. Weiss. Yes, I know. Answer my question. Did Ms. Schlafly’s
stated opposition bear any weight with the action that the Depar:-
ment took in rejecting the application?

Dr. Curry. Not in my booE

Mr. WEiss. In anybody’s book in the Department of Education?

Dr. Curry. How can I tell? I do not know about that. Let me go
back now to our priorities and explain how that works, if I may.

Mr. Wriss. Yes.

Dr. Corry. We always, in the National Diffusion Network, look
at things in categories and we grade applications in categories be-
cause it is unfair to compare across categories. In other words,
when we receive the programs, a group of readers are assigned to
each category.

A reader in one particular category may grade harder than a
reader in another particular category. So if the grades are stacked
up when you get through, one’s 85 might be the top grade, but in
another category the 95 might have been the highest grade.

In other words, we do not strive for inter-rater reliability. There-
fore, we do not consider grades in one category as opposed to
grades in another category.

Have I made myself clear? If not, I will try to address that again.

Mr. Weiss. It is all right. I was wondering if you would answer
the question I asked you, which was, why was the decision made to
eliminate the cateflory altogether?

Dr. Curry. We did not eliminate the category, sir.

Mr. Weiss. Geography, history, and civics was not eliminated?

Dr. Curry. No, sir.

M:. Wriss. Tell me about it.

Dr. Curry. We do not eliminate categories. We chose the catego-
r}iles which we needed to fund according to the educational need of
the ‘ime.

Mr. WEss. Wait a minute. The category within which Facing
History and Ourselves applied was within the category of history,
geography, and civics; is that correct?

Dr. Curry. That is correct.

Mr. WEeiss. OK. Then after they received the score of 89 for their
applicaticn for 1989 they were told that the category had been
eliminated; isn’t that correct?

Dr. Curry. No. Not that it had been eliminated. We did not
eliminate categories.

Sir, that is what I was trying to explain.

Mr. WEeiss. Then why was the application rejected?

Dr. Curry. We selected categories for funding. We looked at
what we already had in the Network. And asked, is this what we
neegZdWe looked at categories that we needed and that is what we
funded.

Do you have problems with what we funded, sir?

Mr. Werss. So what——

Dr. Curry. Science, mathematics, reading, written communica-
tion, health including cdrug prevention programs. Programs that
improve teach’1g and quality education, dropout prevention, and
early childhood.

ERIC 15

t IText Provided by ERIC



32

We don’t have all the money in the world, Congressman, and we
have to make decisions.

Mr. WEiss. And so the decision was made not to fund history, ge-
ography, and civics; is that correct?

Dr. Curry. No, sir. The decision was made to fund science, math-
emnatics, reading, writing, health, programs that improve teaching,
dropout prevention, and early chilShood.

Mr. WEiss. I have 2 memorandum dated June 1, 1988, to Chester
Finn, Jr., through Bruno Manno from Shirley Curry, Director, and
it says at the bottom of the page, “the following priority areas are
not recommended for funding.”

Dr. Curry. That is right.

Mr. WEiss. No. 4 on that list is history, geography, and civics.

Dr. Curry. That is right. I did not say—we did not eliminate it.
We chose, sir, what we needed because of educational need and
that is 'vhat we funded.

Mr. WEiss. So you allowed people to make the application first?

Dr. Curry. That is right.

Mr. WErss. And you kept the programs open throughout the year
and then at the end of the year you decided that this particular
proposal fit into a category which you decided not to fund; is that
correct?

Dr. Curry. That is the way we always do. sir.

Mr. WEiss. So it had nothing to do with the program itse1t?

Dr. Curry. Absolutely.

I\:Ir. WEIss. It had only to do with the category you decided not to
fund?

Dr. Curry. Absolutely. You are absolutely correct.

Mr. WEiss. Thank you for clarifying that for us.

Dr. Curry. That is the way we always work it, sir. We always
gsk ‘fl‘or programs, cast a broad net, let everything come in and then

ecide.

Mr. WEizs. I don’t want you to mistake my perhaps inadequate
sense of irony to mislead you into believing that I really think that
is what happened.

lWh';' was the Program Significance Panel created in the first
place?

Dr. Curry. There was some concern aboit what people were
judging when they judged these programs.

Mr. WEiss. Now, did the Assistant Secretary tei! you prior to the
recommendation not to fund by category, that he could not deny
funding for Facing History which was rated highly?

Dr. Curry. No.

Mr. WEeiss. Were you aware that Dr. Finn discussed the problem
of funding Facing History with William Kristol of the Secretary’s
staff?

You say Dr. Finn never told you about his meeting with Mr.
Kristol; is that right?

Dr. Curry. No; he did not.

Mr. Weiss. Did you ever have any discussions with Mr. Kristol
about Facing History?

Dr. CURRY. Yes.

M;- WEiss. When did that take place and what was the conversa-
tion?
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Dr. Curry. As I recall, it was along about the first of June.

Mr. WEeiss. Right.

Dr. Curry. We discussed that this was a controversial situation
and he asked how we usually made decisicns?

I said we selec ategories. Then we look at the individual pro-
grams within them.

He said to recommend the categories like we usually had done
and follow the reviewers' recommendations to the letter within
those priority areas, and that is what we did.

Mr. WEiss. But you made the determination that you were not
going to fund in that category?

Dr. Curry. We selected the categories and the areas of the most
educational need, according to what we already had in the Net-
work, and made a professional judgment that those were the cate-
gories we needed to fund.

Mr. WEiss. And you said that you don’t have all the money in
the world, so you had to meke choices, right?

Dr. Curry. That i= correct.

Mr. WEerss. On August 10, 1988, did vou receive a memorandum
from your staff informing you that additional funds were available
to the National Diffusion Network and the first priority should go
to Ighasing Network?

.. CURRY. You are absolutely right. Yes; I did.

Mr. Weiss. After receiving the memorandum, did you agree to
fund Facing Histo?'?

Dr. Curry. No; I did not. I chose to go ahead with the priority
areas that we had because we had been instructed to go exactly by
the scores and the priority areas that we had already chosen.

So we looked down the slate in the areas that we had already
selected for funding and chose the projects.

Mr. Weiss. Now, so ycu denied funding for Facing History 2 co=-
secutive years. Then in the third year when the program was rated
higher tkan a large percentage o{ the programs that you did fund,
vour own staff implored you to fund it and you still denied funds
1or the program.

It seems to me that you have gone out of your way to see the
Holocaust program was not funded. Why?

Dr. Curry. Sir, I have told you my reservation about the pro-
%‘am, but that has nothing to do with the activity we had in 1988.

e selected programs, we selected priority areas ihat needed to be
funded because of the educational need.

Mr. WEiss. Were you once a member of the Eagle Forum?

Dr. Curry. Yes; I was.

Mr. Weiss. Do you know Ms. Schlafly?

Dr. Curry. Yes; I know Ms. Schlafly.

Mr. Werss. And did you discuss Fyacing History with her on a
number of occasions?

Dr. Curry. Not on a number of occasions, but I have discussed it
with her.

Mr. Weiss. Now, she told you she was opposed to funding Facing
Histolz; is that correct?

Dr. Curry. That is a matter of record.

Mr. Weiss. Did she ever tell you that she was opposed to any
other programs that apply to the National Diffusion Network?

ERIC A7

IToxt Provided by ERI




34

Dr. Curry. No.

Mr. WEeiss. How frequently did you discuss matters within your
purview at the Department of Education with Ms. Schlafly?

Dr Curry. I don’t know how you can answer a question like
that, sir. That is like asking how often do you eat raisins. I don’t
know how you answer a question like that.

Mr. Weiss. We have a note to put into the record, sent to the
Office of General Counsel by Dr. Price. She is the lady who wrote
about how she didn’t think the program was objective because it
didn’t have the Nazi and Ku Klux Klan point of view incorporated.

The note recommends that the Department inform Dr. Price,
“that it would be a mistake and loss to the academic community
and this Department if you were ever prevented from working with
us.”

She wanted you to send that note to her. In fact——

Dr. Curry. What wre you saying?

Mr. WEiss. Dr. Price sent a note to the Office of General Counsel,
which was entitled “Suggested Statements for the Department of
Education.” The note recommends that the Department inform Dr.
Price——

Dr. Curry. I thought you said that I would inform her. I am
sorry.

Mr. WEeiss. No. That, “It would be a mistake s.d loss to the aca-
demic community and to this Department if you were ever prevent-
ed from working with us.”

In fact, the Department did inform Dr. Price that she was not
barred from working with the Federal Government. Would you
allow Dr. Price to review Education Department programs in the
future?

Dr. Curry. Probably not, no.

Mr. WEiss. Mr. Lightfoot.

Mr. LicHtroor. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Dr. Curry, since I found out about this hearing on Friday after I
had gone back to the district and I didn’t get back to Washington
until nearly midnight last night, I am not all that well prepared, so
please pardon my questions if they may seem a little bit inane at
times.

Dr. Curry, in your opening statement, you mentioned that your
staff was working to encourage the U.S. Holocaust Memorial Coun-
cil to be a part of the National Diffusion Network. Would you ex-
plain in a little greater detail to us your efforts in this area?

Dr. Curry. Sir, I would be very happy to do that because I want
to dispel this notion that we are somehow anti-Semitic or that we
have acted in any such way.

We would like to have the U.S. Holocaust Memorial Council as a
National Diffusion Network project a dissemination process project.

That would mean that the Council would be a dissemination
process project in that they would be the judge of the Holocaust
programs that are part of the National Diffusion Network.

We would fund them considerably more than we fund a regular
DD to issue programs on the Holocaust. They would receive about
three times as much money. They would be the judge of what is
taught about the Holocaust. We are very pleased for we hope we
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will be able to work out an arrangement so that they can get their
application together and become part of th.e Network.

Mr. LIGHTFOOT. I believe you mentioned a letter or something,
didn’t you, in your opening statement from the U.S. Holocaust Me-
morial Council?

Dr. CUrry. Yes.

Mr. Licurroot. Could we make that a part of the record?

Dr. Curry. Yes.

Mr. WEiss. Without objection.

[The information follows:]




ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

36
United States Holocaust Memonai Council

March 17, 1988

Ms. Sharley B. Curry
Secretary's Recognit:ion Program
National Diffusion Network

U. S. Department of Education
555 New Jersey Ave., N.w.
washington, D.C. 20208

Dear Sharley,

Firstly, I want to thank you and the conscientious staff
at NDN for giving us an opportunity to consider the possibilaty of
submitting a proposal to your program. I consider it a personal
honor and privilege to have met you.

After a great deal of deliberation we concluded that
we would not be able to put together a credible presentation 1in
such a short period of time. It obviously would have been
better for us do so now rather than later, but the situation 1s
such that we would not have looked good i1n the process.

I hope you understand and appreciate our situation.
I would like to return to NDN and submit a credible proposal
sometime 1n the near future. I also hope that the sparit in whach
we met, when Irene introduced us, wi1ll continue in the months
and years to come.

I am looking forward to working with you again.
I consider you a valvable member of the Secretary's team.

With highest regards,

Ysaiah Kupérstein
Director of Education

cc. Mr. Lyle Ryter

2000 L Street NW, Suite 588, Washington, D C 20036-4907
(202) 653-9220
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Mr. LicHrroor. Dr. Curry, you went through a rather lengthy ex-
planation 1 think of how you arrived at some of your decisions. My
colleague, Mr. Lukens from Ohio, had some questions he wanted ¢o
ask because he has a personal interest in this particular issue but
had another hearing to attend.

I would like to go back over a couple of things just for my own
edification in this process. The scoring system that was used oy the
review group, I believe you us 1 the term “readers,” the people
that read the information and 1. n ealuate it and give it a score

Could you very briefly explain again how this group is selected?

Are they a part of the Department; and as far as their scores are
concerned how do they determine the 57 or 78 or whatever the
score might be?

Pr. CurRY. No, they are not part of the Department, sir. They
are peer reviewers. They are people chosen from the field.

We make an effort to have a broad representation from profes-
sionals in the field to read these proposals. Their résumés are giver.
to me and other people on the staff.

We send these résumés to the Assistant Secretary who approves
them and then he approves our selection for panels.

Mr. LicHTrFoor. Then the opinions that these people express are
their own?

Dr. Cuxrry. Absolutely.

Mr. Licutroor. Is that the basic purpose of peer review, to get a
different opinion?

Dr. Curry. I say over and ove nd over again, field comments
do not represent the official viev .f the Department.

Mr. WEiss. The comment, then, that is at question today, was
that a field reader’s comment?

Dr. CUurry. Absolutely.

Mr. LiGHTFOOT. Is the scoring system that is used from 0 to 100?

Dr. CURRy. Yes.

Mr. LiGHTFOOT. ¥ nsui criteria do the readers follow in putting
the score together to determine if it is a 20 or 90 or whatever it
might be? What is the criteria?

Dr. Curry. They have an instrument that asks various questions
such as the plan of operation, the dissemination techniques.

It asks for the qualifications of the personnel and so forth.

Mr. Ligutroor. The criteria that they ask those questions from,
is it something the Department puts together for them or is it
something that they have devised as a peer revie r?

Dr. Curry. That is an instrument the Department publishes.

Dr. MaNNo. Might I add a comment, sir?

Mr. LicHTroOT. Certainly.

Dr. MANNoO. As part of all of our competitions, the programs are
required to submit what we call a technical review plan or a tech-
nical evaluation plan that goes to the Department’s Office of
Grants and Contracts. That technical review plan precisely states
how many review . will be involved, what types of reviewers will
be used, what the . _crument will be like, how many points will be
allotted for each part of the instrument. So, then the instrument
that the indi.iduais use is really a kind of departmentally reviewed
instrument and oftentimes there are some very, very basic and
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standard categories used that are used over and over and over and
over again.

These are not things made up from competition to competition.
There is a standard process and a standard form and a standard
procedure that we go through in all of our competitions.

I might add in this particular competition we went through all of
those.

Mr. LicHtrooT. Now, you mentioned I believe there were 48
items that were in the competition?

Dr. Curry. Forty-eight proposals we received.
hMr. LicHTroOT. Did the same peer review pane' review all 48 of
those?

Dr. Curry. Oh, no. They are assigned to categories and the re-
viewers are assigned to categories. Some will read the writing cate-
gory, some will read the mathematics category.

Mr. LigHTFOOT. In other words, you have mathematicians looking
at math proposals not geography proposals?

Dr. Curry. Try to. Try to.

Mr. LiGHTFOOT. As a member of the Peer Review Board, would
an individual feel that they were somewhat hamstrung in express-
ing their opinion if they felt like they were going to be criticized by
the Department of Education if, in fact, their opinion didn’t neces-
sarily agree with theirs and, therefore, would not give an honest
appraival at the peer review level?

Dr. Curry. You are probably correct, sir. They are given every
leeway to express their own opinion. We do not try tc tell them
what to say.

Mr LigHTFOOT. Would it be a fair statement then the’ you at
that .ime in the Department of Education would be reluctant to
criticize what a peer review person said for fear of damaging that
process?

Dr. Curry. I guess that would be a fair assessment, absolutelv.

Dr. MannNo. I might also add in reference to the comment that
has been made, as I said before, the Department is on record as re-
jec.ng that comment. I have in front of me, for example, an article
that appeared in the New York Daily News on September 23, 1987,
where the Deputy Assistant Secretary for Policy and Planning in
OERI Ronald Presten, is quoted as saying, and I quote, he called
her commentary “an appalling review.’

So in this particular instance, the Department immediately dis-
associated itself with the comment that was made and is on pub-
lished record as so stating.

Mr. Licurroor. We have established then that you have a gener-
al reluctance to criticize what a peer review group has to say. In
this particular instance, you did distance yourself from it.

I guess a logical question is why.

Dr. MANNO. Because we found it to be an appalling comment and
an appalling review. And we thought we should make that publicly
known as quickly as possible.

Mr. LicuTFooT. Have you done this in other instances ir the
past, distanced yourself from a peer review comment?

Dr. ManNo. Probably not as publicly as this as far as I know.
But let me talk about perhaps two levels here.
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There is the formal public level and there is the informal level.
It is not at all unusual for a staff person to go to other individuals
who might have used a reviewer to discuss with that individual
how that reviewer worked in a particular context so that there are
informal comments that are shop talk among staff.

I think the important point here is that in this particular in-
stance there was a statement made that we rejected the review.

In this particular instance the other thing that occurred which
doesn’t generally happen is that the comment of the individual was
such an important one that it gathered all sorts of publicity. Be-
cause of that, the Department wanted to make sure this was in no
manner, shape Jr form associated with the Department in an offi-
cial way.

Mr. LicHTroOT. So you felt very strongly this was an inappropri-
ate comment.

Dr. MaNNo. Aosolutely, sir, and the Department so stated.

Mr. Ligutroor. Is Facing History and Ourselves still a part of
the National Diffusion Network process?

Dr. CUrry. Yes, it is.

Mr. LicHtrooT. The next questions are for getting a better un-
derstanding of exactly how this whole process works.

Let’s say that I have got a paper I wrote on who knows what—
fairness in Congress—and I would submit it to the Department of
Education. What would be the process briefly that it would go
through in order to become funded and become a part of the Na-
tional Diffusion Network program?

Also, do you accept everything that is submitted to you?

Dr. MaNNo. There are a couple of vhings here that would set the
parameters.

In answer to your question, fii»¢ of all there is a formal an-
nouncement that is published in the Federal Register inviting ap-
plicants to apply. In this particular case, as with all our competi-
tions, an announcement was made. The announcement specifies
the general guidelines for the competition and the number of
awards we expect to make, what the range of those awards is, the
closing date, et cetera.

An applicant then submits an application and that application
goes to what we call the application control center. An initia! de-
termiiiation is then made as to whether the application contains
what it should contain, does it have the proper format, the cover
sheets, et ceterc. If in fact it has everything it should contain, it is
sent over to the program for review.

It is at tha' point that ‘ne peer review process kicks into place. A
panel then ceviews the proposal. Those comments are analyzed by
program scaff. The immediate supervisor of the program staff then
makes a recommendation to the program director.

Tl.at recommendation makes its way up the hierarchy, so to
speak, to the Assistant Secretary, who, acting on behalf of the Sec-
retary, approves or disapproves the slate which is sent forward.

I might add that it is extremely rare, and frankly I can’t think of
an instance, at least in the time }'have been responsible for looking
at this paperwork, when the Assistant Secretary has overturned
the decision of a program when it came to a recommendation.
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Those are the general parameters of a competition. There are
various riuances along the way, but that is in general.

Dr. Curry. I think one thing Congressinan Lightfoot was getting
at is how does one get into the Network initially?

Mr. Licurroor. Right.

Dr. Curry. In other words, one does not just send in an applica-
tion for funding. One must first be in the Network. In order to be
in the Network, a program makes a program effectiveness applica-
tion, 1 which case it states its «ducational claim, what it claims it
can do. Then it must show statistically or with some other educa-
tiom(allly persuasive evidence that it can indeed do what it claims it
can do.

Once it convinces a panel of statistical experts that it can indeed
do what it claims to Jo, it has PEP approval. Then it is part of the
Network and is eligible to be disseminated throughout our 52 State
faci}(itators across the Nation. So this program has been in the Net-
work.

Mr. .:GHTFOOT. So then there is actually any one of a number of
places that a program could be kicked out or rejected; first of all,
through the effectiveness—if it doesn’t meet that criteria, it is
gone.

Dr. Curry. If it doesn’t meet that, it is never in the Network.

e.
Mr. LigHTrooT. Then once it becomes a part of the Network,
then the peer review process would be the next level where it can
be kicked out?

Dr. Curnry. It is not kicked out, no. In the peer review it just may
not get funds, but it is still part of the Networh.

We have about 400 programs in the Network, Congressman, but
we only fund about £0 of them.

Mr. LicgHTFoOT. The 400 thut are ir the Network, will they con-
tinue in their attempts to be funded until such time they are
funded, or will the program run its course and b+ dropped because
it isn't effective anymore?

Dr. Curry. Many of them ha’e their own funding, and they do
not require Federal funds. Various ones of them do come back and
compete in other competitions. But ttey will stay in the Network
as long as they have program effec. sness approval regardless of
whether they ever get any money from the Federal Government or
not.

Mr. LigHTroor. If I were in a school system wuiking with the
National Diffusion Network program, and saw this parti- ilar pro-
gram, and thought it was something I could use eveu though it
hadn’t received Federal funding, and I was in a Lsit'on in my in-
stitution to tund it, could I take the program and use it?

Dr. Curry. Surely. You surely could. You would probably call
either the program itself or you would be in touch with your State
facilitator—we have an office, State facilitator office, in each of the
50 States—and inquire about the program, inquire about when
they would he having awareness sessions, and you could use it,

truly.
M}r". LIGHTFOOT. Then the aspect of the funding we are talking
about—=$70,000, is that correct, or whatever I saw?
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Dr. Curry. That is about what they were requesting. Our aver-
age funding is about $55,000.

Mr. Licurroor. Basically what would that funding be used for—
,st disseminating the information, producing it or what?

Li. T'URRY. Primarily it is used for disseminating the informa-
tion, for iraining workshops and so on, material, things of that
sort.

Mr. LicguTFoor. It could be used for films or videotapes or books
or whatever?

Dr. Curry. Yes. It is used by the developer/demonstrators them-
selves. It is not used by the schools as such.

Mr. LigHTroor. Do you know if anyone has picked a program up
and used it without it being funded?

Dr. Curry. Surely. All these that we have here are without Fed-
eral funds.

Mr. LicatrFoor. Is the Facing History program being used now?

Dr. Curry. Yes. He testified to this at the beginning, as to how
many schools it was in already without the aid of Federal funds.

Mr. LiguTroor. Basically we are talking about Federal funding,
which possibly would cause a program—if they did receive Federal
funding, to be used more widely, is that correct? I guess maybe
that is a logical question. If we spend the money on any program,
does that guarantee it is going tc oe used?

Dr. Curry. We don’t have that guarantee.

Mr. LiGHTFOOT. Are they usually used?

Dr. Curry. We will have to say that funded projects are usually
used more than nonfunded projects, but I don’t think that is true of
this case. I think in this case this program is used about as much
as many of our funded projects.

Mr. Ligutroor. Going back to your response to several of the
chairman’s questions, there was something that kept catching my
ear in the answers, and basically I am asking you now in order to
make sure I understood correctly what I think iyheard you say.

The basic reason this particular project scored as low as it did, if
I am hearing correctly, was based on the fact, not that it is not a
good program, or not that it is a story that shouldn’t be told, but
on the fact it is inappropriate for J;'unior high students.

Did I hear that correctly or not?

Dr. Curry. That is my reservation on the program.

Mr. LigHTFoorT. Is that the key reason it scored that low?

Dr. Curry. I can’t say that because I don’t recall the various rea-
sons.

Mr. Ligutroor. Mr. Chairman, could I ask your intent to allow
Mr. Fr%nk and our other colleague to ask questions, in the interest
of time?

Mr. WEiss. As a matter of fact, I am going to call on Mr. Frank
and Mr. Yates and then come back for a second round if other
people want to ask questions.

Mr. LigHTroOT. I certainly have no objections to my colleagues
asking questions. I think any of our colleagues who are interested
in this issue should be allowed the opportunity to do that. I am
anxious to hear what my two friends have to say.

I would remind the Chairman, in your opening statement you
made a very big argument that this was a nonpartisan situation. I
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recall a Social Security hearing not long ago where a freshman
Representative, Mr. Kyl from Arizona, was not allowed to ask ques-
tiuns because he was not a member of the subcommittee. I merely
would make that statement for the record.

Dr. Curry, I apologize for not having the degree of background
that we should have, because it came about so quickly, but the
uproar over the statement, which I agree with you is a ridiculous
statement, I doubt very seriously if there is anyone in this room
who would not go to the wall to defend particularly the Jewish
people and what happened in the Holocaust and so on. I think this
s something we all feel; there are not words to describe how terri-
ble that situation was. We certainly would never want to see any-
vhing like that happen again. Our young people should learn about
it.

Dr. Curry. Absolutely.

Mr. LicHTroOoT. Because they are the ones who will be the future
of this world. Those of you who are experts in your particular area
in education are the ones who, in cooperation with parents and
school boards, should make those decisions of what our young
people should see at a particular time.

I agree with your statement that we should learn about the Nazi
point of view but ¢ 2rtainly not portray it in a positive light. I think
it should be shown for being as ugly as it is.

At the same time, as we review this particular issue, I still get
the feeling that the core issue here is a very inappropriate state-
ment that was made. There has been a great deal of reaction to it
which I think is very appropriate, the reaction to it, because the
statement shouldn’t have been made in the first place.

But I think the issue here is determining whether you in fact
condone that, and my feeling is at this peint you didn’t.

My final question to you would be what you would do in the
future if a peer review group on another issue of whatever magni-
tude would make a comment as ludicrous as the one that is at
issue here? How would you respond to a peer review panel in the
future that would make a statement as ludicrous as the one we are
discussing this morning?

I realize you are out of a job now, but perhaps you could offer
your experience to whoever may succeed you.

Dr. Curry. No. 1, this became such g vroblem because this com-
ment became public. It is not the Department’s job to critique gen-
erally what our commenters say.

However, if anyone would ever make such a statement as this, I
would tell them I strongly support Holocaust education and that
statement is offensive to me.

Mr. Licurroor. Thank you, Dr. Curry.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Weiss. Thank you, Mr. Lightfoot.

Mr. Frank.

Mr. Frank. Thank you.

Dr. Curry, I just want to get clear, you say you were reassigned
on Friday?

Dr. Curry. That is correct.

Mr. FrRank. What are your duties in your new job?
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Dr. Curry. I am the Special Assistant to the Under Secretary—
let me get the exact title.

Mr. FRANK. I am sorry, I didn’t think that would be a hard ques-
tion.

Dr. Curry. I am the Special Assistant to the Deputy Under Sec-
retary for Management.

Mr. FRaANK. What are your duties?

Dr. Curry. I prepared for this hearing for the last 2 days and
when I go back we will see what my duties are. I can tell you what
I want to do.

Mr. FrRaNK. This is not a wish list; this is an oversight hearing
about the Federal Government.

What is your salary?

Dr. Curry. My salary?

Mr. Frank. Yes, ma'am.

Dr. Curry. $57,000, I believe.

Mr. FrANK. It sounds like you don’t have any duties as of now. I
was skeptical at yonr description of yourself as Sister Rabbit being
thrown into the briar patch. With this hearing coming up, the ad-
ministration decided to take a politically safe move and move you
out of there, especially since Dr. Manno said you were talking
about leaving in November or December.

Are you still thinking about leaving in November or Decemb¢r?

Dr. Curry. Absolutely.

someone from a position, put you in a new position for a month or
two, your duties still haven’t been defined, and we are paying
someone $57,000 not to do very much.

I don’t suggest it is your fault. I dorn’t suggest in this case you
are looking not to do things. It sounds to me, however, if they move
you to the management department with a month or two to go in
your tenure—this is the end of October—what they are doing is to
avoid political embarrassment, giving you a paidy vacation for a
month or two at a $57,000 salary.

It is ironic that you are going to the management department. I
can’t think of a worse management decision than to take a senior
Presidential appointee, transfer her to a new job, which you had to
look up when I asked you what it was, and not define your dutics,
and you are going to leave ir a month or two so by the time you
learn your duties you are going to be out.

I can understand wheu people feel politically in the advent of an
election they have to cover parts of themselves, but this seems to
me to be a little expensive way to do it.

On the peer review process, I have this problem because you
keep saying these opinions don’t mean anything, except the opin-
ions are the basis for the scores. Both cases of these very u. “nsive
and inaccurate and professionally incompetent opinions——

Dr. CURRY. Amen.

Mr. FRaNK. You counted the scores, correct?

Dr. Curry. The scores were recorded, yes.

Mr. FRANK. So, yes, amen, they were incompetent and off the
wall and inaccurate, and yet your Department awarded them full
weight. Did you discount them for being crazy?

Dr. Curry. That was the highest score in the category.
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Mr. Frank. But the fact is the high score doesn’t detract from
the fact that you, in your process, gave full weight to the one who
said the Nazi point of view wasn’t included and for the one who
said this was anti-Christian.

So the fact is, you selected these people to be the peer reviewers.
They submitted these opinicns and, having read them, you fully
counted the scores. An appropriate response would have been to
say, “Whoops, out you go.’

ile you disagree with the specific language, which disagree-
ment I gather was not voiced until after it became public, there
was no instant response. This was not an instant response, “I will
tell them.” After it became public, then you had to disassociate
yourself from it. But the fact 1s, until this testimony became public
you gave full weight to these scores in the process.

Isn’t that correct?

Dr. Curry. They were recorded.

Mr. FRANK. The‘}"hweren’t just recorded. They were treated like
any other scores. They were arranged in whatever weight scores
get, these two crazy opinions were given full weight.

You read them. You read these offensive remarks and you said,
oh, OK, that is 61 and that is 57. I know the one here they have a
57. By far the lowest percentage they got was on content, the one
who said it was anti-Christian.

So I don’t think you are entitled to say you r:f)udiated these
things. After the fact, when it became controversial, you said you
didn't agree with those opinions; but all during the process these
two whacko, offensive opinions were given full weight by your De-
partment in the evaluation process.

}Ilsn’t? that correct? The scores were given the same weight as any
others?

Dr. Curry. The scores were recorded.

Mr. FrRank. What does that mean, “recorded”? Were they then
disregarded or were they given the same weight in the process as
every other evaluator?

Dr. Curry. The scores were recorded, sir.

Mr. Frank. Dr. Curry, was your doctorate in repetition? I am
asking you a question as an intelligent Presidential appointee.
Were those scores given the same weight in the process as were
other scores, whatever weight that is?

Dr. Curry. The readers were, thei~ material was used.

Mr. Frank. The same as anybody else?

Dr. Curry. Yes.

Mr. Frank. I think that is very important. I don’t think you are
entitled to say dyou repudiated them. Your Department got these in
1986, 1987, and you read them and gave them full weight. Shame
on the Department.

No further questions.

Mr. Wesss. Thank you, Mr. Frank.

Mr. Yates.

Mr. Yates. Mr. Chairman, I am not a member of this committee.
Mr. Frank is.

Mr. Wriss. We always welcome participation, and the incident
that Mr. Lightfoot referred to, his recollection was in error. In fact,
that gentleman was present. He left before it was his turn to be
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called upon for questions. There was no denial. We always reach
out with great courtesy to any visitors, either members of the com-
mitiee or nonmembers of the committee.

We are delighted to have it.

Mr. LigHTFOOT. Mr. Chairman, I have no objection to Mr. Yates
or Mr. Frank asking questions. As Mr. Frank just told me, I was an
ungrateful bastard behind your back, but quite frankly——

Mr. Yartes. I wouldn’t say that about you.

Mr. LicuTroOT. I have no objection to members coming in and
asking questions. I think that is something we should always do.
Quite frankly, I think it is just courtesy, and I am interested in
what Mr. Yates has to ask on this particular issue.

The situation I made reference to was a hearing we held some
time back, and Mr. Kyl did not ask any questions. He expressed to
me he was very upset that he was not allowed to ask questions,
and that is the only reason I brought it up at this point in time.

Mr. Wriss. Again the use cf “not allowed’—he left before we
could call on him for questions. Sometimes, as you know, the ques-
tioners go on, I go on, you go on, other people do, and not every-
body gets reached at the time that is within their schedule to be
reached.

Mr. LigHTFOOT. All I can say, Mr. Chairman, is that I can cer-
tainly identify with minorities and I know what it is like to be in a
minority.

Mr. Wriss. Me, too.

Mr. Yates.

Mr. Yates. With your permission, Mr. Chairman, and with Mr.
Lightfoot’s permission, I will ask a few questions, because I am in-
terested in the subject. I am interested in this hearing.

I did imake a speech on the floor when I read the Washington
Post article on October 4 and was horrified by the contents of that
article. It didn’t seem possible that the Department of Education
could go through that kind of procedure. That attitude of mine was
underscored by the questioning that Mr. Frank undertook here to
show just how the Department acted.

As I read through the Post article, I read that Dr. Curry was a
member of the Eagle Forum. As a matter of fact, the article said
that she was a director of the Eagle Forum.

Is that statement correct?

Dr. Curry. Correct.

Mr. Yares. What does that mean? In the capacity as director,
were you the operating executive director or a member of the
board of directors?

Dr. Curry. The latter.

Mr. Yares. What was the purpose of the Eagle Forum?

Dr. Curry. It is just an organization to take a look at profamily
issues.

Mr. Yares. Profamily issues. Was that program organized by Ms.
Schlafly?

Dr. Curry. Yes.

Mr. Yates. Did it reflect her point of view?

Dr. Curry. Yes, I would think so.
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Mr. Yates. And I read also from here that it says, “Curry, a
former director of the Eagle Forum, said once her team had been
elected, she had come to Washington to play for that team.”

Is that a correct statement?

Dr. Curry. Not adequate. That is not an exact statement. But I
am a political appointee.

Mr. YaTes. Were you appointed by the President directly?

Dr. Curry. My appointment had to be cleared by the White
House.

Mr. Yares. Were you recommended by Ms. Schlafly? Is that the
reason the White House decided t. appoint you?

Dr. Curry. I don’t know.

Mr. Yates. Well, in your testimony you said that you prepared
the list of panelists who reviewed the programs, who reviewed the
applications.
allDr. Curry. I said I approved them. My staff prepares them usu-

y.

Mr. YATES. Your staff prepares them.

Dr. Curry. I have to give my OXK on them, and then Dr. Finn
gives his OK on them and then they are used.

Mr. Yates. Well then I still don’t understand with respect to the
procedures that are used in the Department of Education when an
application is filed and proceeds th: :gh the Department on its
way to approval or disapproval.

As it happens, I am chairman of the Appropriations Subcommit-
tee which reviews the appropriations for the National Endowment
for the Arts and for the National Endowment for the Humanities.
Presumably, the endowments go through the same ki  of proce-
dures in approving grants from among the applications that are
filed for Federal funding. In both of those, I think that peer review
and peer panel decisions are the guts of their programs.

By listening to peer panels, we keep politics out of the programs.
The appications are judged by the peers of those who are applying.

Would you make the same kind of statement with respect to the
Department of Education?

Dr. MANNo. Yes, sir. . 5 a matter of fact, if we look at the
number of competitions that have been conducted, for example, in
OERYI, since October 1937, there were over 20 separate competitions
held, over 740 proposals were received, over 300 awards were made,
and only once through that whole process was there any deviation
from the so-called rank order of the peer reviewers. That occurred
only so that the slate would have bette: geographical distribution.

So the point here is that in most instances the comments of the
peer reviewers are so important——

Mr. Yares. The important thing to me here is whet is the quality
or the character of the peer panelists. In this case, inasmuch as Dr.
Curry selected or approved the peer panelists, does that mean that
the peer panciists then were those who had political philosophies
or social philosophies the same as Dr. Curry'’s, if she is the one who
is responsible for their selection?

Dr. MaNNo. The selection of panel members is to be made on the
basis of professional qualifications.
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Mr. Yates. OK. You can have professional qualifications like
those of Dr. Christina Price then, can you not? She was one of
those who was selected to review the application of Facing Histery.

ésDr. gumw. Sir, I did not kziow Dr. Price. She has an astounding
resume.

Mr. YaTEs. That’s right. You looked at her résumé and Dr. Price
was one of the panelists whom you approved for use for consider-
ation of the projects. Isn’t that right?

Dr. Curry. That is true.

Mr. YaTes. But the fact still remains that the selection of the
panelists will in great measure determine whose applications are
appruved.

As an example, Facing History, the character of the panelists de-
cided this should not be approved. Isn’t that right? The project
wasn’t approved. We know that. don’t we? Who disapproved it?

Dr. CUrRy. Sir, are you——

Mr. ’YATES. Was it disapproved by the panelists in the first in-
stance?

Dr. Curry. The panelist rated it low.

Mr. Yares. Is 89 a low rating?

Dr. Curry. You said the first instance?

Mr. Yates. In any instance, who decided? The panelists rated it
low and therefore you threw it out because of the panelists, is that
correct?

Dr. Curry. Which competition are we discussing?

Mr. Yates. How many competitions were there?

Dr. Curry. We have had five competitions.

M;- Yares. This was rejected in all five competitions, is that cor-
rect?

Dr. CURRY. Yes, sir.

Mr Yates. Were the grades accorded to Facing History the same
for each of the competitions?

Dr. Curry. No. The grades were not the same.

Mr. Yares. Can you tell us what the grades were for each of the
competitions?

Dr. Curry. In 1982 the grade was 57. In 1986 the grade was 69.
In October 1486 the g~ade was 48. In July, for the Program Signifi-
cance Panel——

Mr. YaTes. What year is this we are in?

Dr. Curry. 1987. The grade was 47. The dissemination review
panel, the grade was 82. In April the grade was 89.

Mr. Yares. And were the low grades that were recorded for this
§rojmt made by ‘;Janels consisting of the people that Congressman

ran;(’described. Were they members of that panel, of those
panels?

Dr. Curry. No. I don’t know. What do you mean?

Mr. YarEs. Congressman Frank asked you about certain panel-
18ts, did he not?

Dr. Curry. That is true.

Mr. Wess. All right. Their scores were considered—their scoring
was considered in deciding whether that would be approved, as I
understand what you told him.

Dr. Curry. The readers were chosen and they raade their choice.

Mr. Yartes. Is there a difference between readers and panelists?

¥




48

Dr. Curry. Not in my case.

Mr. YaTes. Is a reader the same as the panelist?

Dr. Curry. That is true. That is right, Congressman. We might
note, Congressman, that the last co..ipetition only evaluated dis-
semination techniques. It did not evaluate the program.

Mr. YaTEs. Let me ask you about this comment that appears in
the Post respecting Ms. Schlafly. It says this: “In the spring of
1987, a new panel convened to consider the project. During its de-
liberations, Ms. Schlafly wrote to the Department’s chief of staff
William Kristol, summarizing the forum’'s opposition to the pro-
gram. Schlafly char%led Facing History was psychological manipula-
tion, introduced behavioral change and privacy invading treat-
ment, and urged that the Department reject its proposals.”

How did Ms. Schlafly know about the pro ?

Dr. Curry. It was in the paper. She was responding to an article.
Read the first of her letter. It says responding to an article in some
paper.

Mr. YaTEs. Was her letter responsible in any way for the rejec-
tion of the project?

Dr. Curry. No.

Mr. Yates. She wasn’t a panelist.

Did Mr. Kristol do anything as a result of having read that
letter? Did he talk to anybody in your Department?

Dr. Curry. Not to my knowledge.

Mr. Yartes. He didn’t talk to you?

Dr. Curry. No.

Mr. YATEs. Did he talk to you, Dr. Manno?

Dr. MANNoO. Mr. Kristol.

Mr. YATes. Yes.

Dr. MANNO. Certainhy not, no.

Mr. Yates. CX. Did you have enough money to fund all the
projects that were approved? Perhaps I ought to precede that ques-
tion by asking this one. In the humanities, Mr. Bennett told our
committee, when he was chairman of the National Endowment for
the Humanities, that above a certain score projects were approved,
but the money that was available was only adequate to take care of
the reall‘y’; excellent ones. Is that true in your system as well, when
you reach a certain score, do you approve projects over that score?

Dr. MANNoO. In general, that is true, but not in all instances. The
question of the funding of projects is related to a variety of issues,
one of which is score, the other ones being, for example, geographi-
cal distribution. Oftentimes as a slate comes forward, the person
who is in the process of preparing the slate might see that all the
recommendations or at least all of the high-scoring proposals are
from, let’s use this as an example, the east coast. In order to main-
tain some kind of balance in the number of awards which are
made, a decision might be made to skip over a p.oposal or two, as I
illustrated a couple minutes ago in one of the slates that we had.

Mr. Yates. When the project received a score of 89, were projects
that did not receive that score, that were below that score ap-
proved?

Dr. Curry. Yes.

Dr. ManNNo. We have to remember here that in this instance, all
of the rankings were within certain categories, as opposed to a
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strict ranking from 1 to 40. So that within each of these categories,
proposals were ranked by score and awards were made on the basis
of scores within categories. And it is my understanding that there
was strict adherence to ranking of proposals within categories.

Dr. Curry. It is as though we have 18 different competitions.

Mr. Yates. Where would the project rank in that overall scoring?
Were gexé):’ projects that were below this project in overall scoring
approved?

r. CURRY. Yes. We told you it ranked about 25th.

Mr. YaTes. That doesn’t answer my question, I think. My ques-
tion is, were there projects or applications that were approved that
were scored in all the categories of scoring that the witness testi-
fied to that received lower scores than this project?

Dr. Curry. Yes. That is what I said. In the ranked——

Mr. Yares. But I don’t understand Dr. Manno’s answer to my
previous question then. My previous question, I said this had a
score of 89. Were any projects that received lower scores approved,
and you said yes. But then you told me there were other categories
that were taken into consideration.

Then my next question was, taking all those criteria into consid-
eration, all the manners of judging these projects into consider-
ation, were there any projects approved that had a lower score
than this one, and she said yes to that. Is that correct? Were there
such projects that were approved?

Dr. MaNNo. If one looks at the——

Mr. YATES. I don’t understand why you can’t answe1 that qu es-
tion directly. You have a series of criteria. In one of the crit:ria
you said this project got an 89.

Dr. MANNo. Nothing was funded in the history, geography, and
civics category.

Mr. Yates. Why were they not?

Dr. MANNo. Mrs. Curry spoke to that issue before.

Mr. YATES. You mean, this is the category that was taken out of
the playing field then, is that the reason for it?

Dr. Curry. We did—we funded programs in science, mathemat-
ics, reading, writing, health, programs that improved teaching and
the quality of education, dropout prevention and a——

Mr. Yares. Why did the person who applied file her application
if she wasn’t going to be allowed any consideration for her project?

Dr. Curry. Congressman, that is the way the process works. We
cast a broad net. We ask for applications in all of the 18 priority
areas.

Mr. Yates. Yes, but did you at that time say that applications in
the field of history would not be funded in any respect? Why would
a person go through the enormous travail and pain and expense of
pregaring a project grant application in compliance with your
gili ef}ines that you have advertised for, if it was futile in the first
place?

Dr. MaNNo. In fact, people do this and have done it all the time.

Mr. Yates. Why do you say that?

Dr. MaNNo. There is a list of 18 or 20 categories that literally
covers the waterfront. In casting the widest net possible, we hope
to evoke the widest interest posstble. Obviously, everyone who sub-
mits a proposal in these 18 or 20 priority areas has to xnow in sub-
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mitting a proposal that awards are limited, as is money. So it is
common knowledge that not every category is funded, not every
specific topical area is funded. This is common practice, and has
been done over several competitions.

Mr. WEss. Dr. Curry, wait just a moment. I asked you and I am
going to ask Dr. Manno, taking up exactly at that point. Okay. You
get through making the evaluations and decidc that you have only
got x amount of money and you can’t fund everything. So you
make your judgments as to who is going to be funded. Then lo and
beholdy it occurs that you discover, the staff discovers, that there is
money available that they had not anticipated. And so on August
10, 1988, Lee Wickline, who is a team leader, sends a memorandum
to D; Curry in which he says that a total of—is Lee Wickline a
man’

Dr. MaNNo. Yes, sir.

Mr. Weiss. He says that a total of $162,472 is available in the
NDN account to fund additional development demonstrator
projects. . e tells you where the money is coming from and why it
1s available. Then he says, “Attached is a list of the approval
projects that could be funded. My recommendations for selecting
projects for funding aze based upon the following assumptions.” He
goes through six criteria. And then he says, based upon these as-
sumptions, my recommendation, according to priority, follow. And
at the top of the list, history, geography, and civics—Facing Histo-
ry, priority No. 1.

And I ask you, Dr. Manno, having accepted for the sake of this
discussion everything you told Mr. Yates, why at this point, with
that recommendation, with that ¥ind of substantiation as to why
Facing History ought to be the one that gets top priority, why
Facing History is at that peint not t'inded?

Dr. ManNo. That was a recommendation made to Dr. Curry, who
made the decision not to fund it.

Mr. Weiss. You know, that is like saying tne television set is a
rectangle because it is a rectangle. Dr. Curry says because it is my
professional judgment, and what I want to know is, on what basis
she made that professional judgment, and if you know when in fact
the recommendation of the staff spelled out and backed up in great
detail that Facing History at that point be the No. 1 priority.

™ ManNo. She has talked about her professional judgment and
what vt into forming that judgment.

Mr. Weiss. In the face of the professional judgment of the people
who are in charge of giving her that advice.

So you took that upon yourself, Dr. Curry, right?

Dr. Curry. Well—

Mr. WEiss. To overrule that recommendation?

Dr. Curry. Yes, sir, I make my recommendation.

Mr. WEiss. You make the decision.

Dr. Curry. I made the recommendation, sir. I don’t decide.

Mr. WEeiss. Who made the decision?

Dr. Curry. I do not decide. The Assistant Secretary is the ap-
proving official.

Mr. WEgiss. Is that Dr. Finn?
Dr. Curry. Dr. Finn.
Mr. WEeiss. Dr. Finn made the recommendation.
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Now, did you submit a memorandum to Dr. Finn making your
-<commendation in the face of the recommendation that was made
to you? Do you have a memorandum in which you made your rec-
ommendation?

Dr. Curry. I have a memorandum that is on file of my recom-
mendations to Dr. Finn, yes, and I believe you have those.

Mr. V'riss. What reason did you give?

Dr. Curry. Educational need.

Mr. Weis~ We have not received a memorandum. Do you have
that in front of you?

Dr. Curry. Excuse me?

Mr. Weiss. We naven't received that. We asked for all the papers
and documentation. We have not received——

Dr. Curry. You don’t have a memorandum of tke slate that I
sent forward?

Mr. Weiss. Subsequent to August 10, 1988, which is the supple-
mental distribution, do you know what——

Dr. Curry. Wo have a memorandum to show the supplement- |
distribution went forward ves.

Mr. Weiss. Do you have +?

Dr. Curry. I don’t have (. nith me, but you have it.

Mr. Weiss. No, we don't.

Dr. Curry. Well, I don’: kuow why you don’t.

Mr. Wesss. I don't know why we lon't either.

Dr. Curry. We will sure ... ke it available to you.

Mr. WEeiss 1t would be nice to have it now

Tell me v =t you said, if you recollect, in the me ..orandum that
you sent to Dr. Finn, as to why you were r::ommending that in
fact Facing History not be the one granted supplemental appro-
priation.

D1. Tukry. When we found that we had—let me see how much
money we had.

Mr. WEiss. $162,472.

Dr. Curry. We had that much money left and we said, “Go
ahead, and in the priorities you have already chosen, fund the next
projects that are available, that are on the list.”

Mr. WEeiss. Wait a minute. The priorities that were recommended
to ggu by Lee Wickline, put Facing History at the top of the list.

. Curry. The history categery was not one that had beer
chosen for funding.

Mr. WEiss. Yes, but they are making—now we are on “Who's” on
first, “What’s un second and “I don’t know,” third base.

Dr. Curry. I don’t know what you are driving at.

Mr. Weiss What I ain driving at, Dr. C rry, is that you had said,
and I am wiuing to accept for the sake of this discussion, your ar-
gument that you have only so much money, you can only fund so
many programs, and unfortunately history, geography, and civics
category wasn’t lucky enough and there was no money loft by the
tim2 you got through making grants. OK.

Along comes your staff and says, “Hey, wait a mirute, we found
another $162,000,” and they say, “We recommend Facing History
to be at the top of that priority.” You say, “No, | made a recom-
mendation in the face of that to Dr. Finn not to fund Facing Histo-
ry.” I am trying to find out why.
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Dr. Cupxry. That money became available because we did not
have another dissemination process project eligible for funding.

Mr. Werss. Right.

Dr. Curry. Therefore, we had extra funds.

hMr:7 WEIss. My question is, why was Facing History not one of
those?

Dr. Cunry. For the same reason that it was not—that category
was not chosen to begin with. We had chosen the categories to be
funded in this competition. So when more moneys arose, we put
those to the priorities which had been chosen in this competition.

Mr. WErss. So it didn’t make any difference how much money
you got had available. You could have gotten $3 million more avail-
able and you still wouldn’t have funded Facing History because
you wouldn’t——

Dr. Curry. N, sir, you are absolutely incorrect. If we had money
to fund everything, we would have funded Facing History.

Mr. WEeiss. Well, tell me which programs, because apparently the
team leaders said you could make $54,000 available for each of
three additional developer-demonstrator projects. Which were the
three projects that were supplementally funded?

D;. Curry. Do you want the name of the projects or the catego-
ries?

Mr. WEiss. Both.

Dr. Curry. We funded the dropout prevention program,
COFFEE, in Massachusetts. We funded early childhood education.
We funded improving teaching. We funded geoiogy and science. We
funded four of them.

Mr. Weiss. You funded four. Aad dia you—do you have the
memorandum? Does any of your staff have the memorandum
which you sent on to Dr. Finn, making that recommendation?

Dr. Curry. Do you have that?

Dr. ManNo. I think I have the one she is referring to.

Dr. Curry. I believe you have this in your package, sir.

Dr. MaNnNo. I believe it is in your package.

Mr. Weiss. May we see it.

Dr. Curry. Because Mr. Wickline gave me a note that everything
was complete. I assumed that it was.

Mr. Yates. Mr. Chairman, may [ just continue?

Mr. WEiss. Of course.

Let me close it out by saying that it seems to me that what you
are telling us, Dr. Curry, is that the last paragraph of Ms. Schlaf-
ly’s letter is really the operative guideline here. It says, “In sum, I
believe it would be most unfortunate if schools across the Nation
are permitted to believe that the Federal Government is sponsoring
such a manipulative course in the public schools. Let’s get back to
‘basic skills’ and ‘what works'.”

From what you told me, in fact, the prugrams such as Facing
History never had a shot because you made a determiration with
Ms. Schlafly’s support or direction that in fact it was .. the kind
of program you were interested in funding.

Mr. Yates.

Mr. Yates. I .hink beyond that, Mr. Chairman, I think it prob-
ably never had a shot because of what seems to be the character of
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the panelists that were se.ected to decide which projects would
have a shot.

If this Post article is correct, and I will let the witnesses state for
the record whether it is correct, this is a serious situation. We do
know what Dr. Christina Price said in respect to the necessity of
presenting other points of view tL.an that presented in Facing His-
tory, such as the Nazi point of view and the Ku Klux Klan point of
view.

Then we come to another part of the Post artizle and it says,
after discussing the Schlafly letter to William Kristol, that when
the panel reported, one member found the program to rely on se-
lective use of leftist authorities and cited British historian A.J.P.
Taylor, writer, Kurt Vonnegut, and New York Times columnist,
Flora Lewis. I take it that person is not Dr. Price but some other
panelist.

Another panelist says, “The program was also found to be pro-
foundly offensive to fundamentalists and evangelicals.” Then an-
other basis for rejection. Another reviewer called it antiwar, anti-
hunting, and another judged it likely to induce a guilt trip.

The article goes on and says, “It’s not possible to amass a list of
panel niembers with individual review.” If those viewpoints are
samples of the character and quality of the panelists, who reviewed
these epplications, a project like Facing History never had a
chance for approval.

I think it is reprehensible.

Mr. Chairman, I thank you for the opportunity of asking ques-
tions.

Mr. Weiss. Thank you very much, Mr. Yates.

I guess that I really have——

Mr. Yates. Let me finish that, Mr. Chairman, because the es-
sence of peer panel review is that the panelists must be objective,
must be unbiased. They must have an open mind and they must
have discretion. Thet is the only basis that you have ior maintain-
ing a scholarly and unprejudiced viewpoin. as you face the applica-
tions that are sent to you for review. I don’t think that was done in
this case.

Mr. Weiss. Thank you very much.

Let me just clear up a couple of peints ‘where there may be some
confusion, and I think the record really ought to be clear.

Dr. Curry, I think you had said in response to a question of mine
that in fact you did have conversations with Mr. Kristol regarding
the Facing History proposal. Is my recollection correct, did you
have some conversations with him?

Dr. Curry. Yes.

Mr. Weiss. You did. Because in response to a question that Mr.
Yates put to you, you seem to indicate that you had no conversa-
tions with Mr. Kristol.

Dr. Curry. No. I have never denied that.

Mr. Wriss. You did have conversations?

Dr. Curry. Yes, I did.

Mr. Wgss. Now, Dr. Manno, I assume that given the newspa-

r's publicity about Facing History in 1987, that come 1988, the

acing History proposal was a matter of clear knowledge within
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the Department, is that right? There was no secret abou’, the fact
that there was an application penaing?

Dr. MANNo. No, sir. No secret.

Mr. Weiss. Right. Wher I asked you about conversations that
you had with Dr. Firn, you said that you couldn’t reslly remember
any of the substance of the conversation except that you had said
at one point that the process was unusual.

Now, amplify that for me? What, in your opinion, was unusual?

Dr. MaNNo. About the process?

Mr. WErss. Yes. Right.

Dr. MANNo. Reached in making a decision about Facing History?

Mr. WEiss. Right.

Dr. ManNo. I did think that it was a bit unusual that a conversa-
tion occurred between Dr. Curry and Mr. Kristol.

Mr. WEiss. About that?

Dr. ManNo. Yes.

N Mr. WEiss. Now, where do you fit into the chain of command
ere?

Dr. MannNo. I will use some bureaucratic lenguage to explain
that.

Mr. WEiss. Please.

Dr. MANNo. There is an Assistant Secrctary, who at that time
was Dr. Finn. There was a Deputy for Policy and Planaing, who at
that time was Mr. Preston.

Then there was a Director of Operatic ns, who at that time was a
gentleman by the name of Mr. Gonzmart. There was no Deputy As-
sistant Secretary for Operations at that time.

My formal title at that time was Chief of Staff. That responsibil-
ity involved coordinating on a day-to-day basic the internal oper-
ations of OERI.

That included things like budget, planning, prociirement issues,
FTE, S&E Budget, as opposed to the program budget. So it involved
working with a variety of staff people who performed those func-
tions. And my primary responsibility was to make sure that the
system worked, that the place moved on a day-to-d: ; basis.

Mr. WEiss. And when you did have the conversation with Dr.
Finn about how uausual you thought, was the discussion between
Dr. Curry and Mr. Kristol—

Dr. ManNo. Sir, I did not say that, and if this is the impression I
gave, I want to correct it. I did not say I had a discussion with Dr.
Finn ~bout how unusual it was that a conversation took place be-
tween Dr. Curry and Mr. Kristol. I found out about that conversa-
tion later.

I did not have a conversation with Dr. Finn on the conversation,
because I didn’t know, in fact, that a conversation had occurred
until after the fact.

Mr. WEiss. I am trying to establish for the record what, in fact,
the conversation was and what the substance of the convers«tion
was between you and Dr. Finn.

Dr. MaNNo. Yes, sir.

Mr. WEiss. So could you enlighten us on that?

Dr. ManNNo. My recollection of the conversation was that, it was
probably less than 15 seconds, ~»d it was within the context of a
variety of other issues.
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Dr. Finn and I had sometimes daily conversations about a varie-
ty of issues, related to the day-to-day operatiors of OERI. The con-
text was probably the procurement schedules and keeping track of
the procurement schedules because this slate was a slate that had
a schec'ule that nieeded to be met. The context would have been the
day-to-day situation at OERI in meeting the schedule. In fact, it
probably was on why there was some delay in the program in send-
ing forth the developer demonstrator slate related to the competi-
tion that is being discussed.

Mr. Weiss. Right, and specifically as it related to Facing History.

Dr. ManNo. Not Faciag History as such, but the competition
part of which included, of course, Facing History.

Mr. Weiss. So, what I don’t understand, here we have a subject
matter which is not to put too fine a point on it, controversial
within some aspects withir the Department of Education?

Dr. Manno. Correct.

Mr. WEiss. And there a1 discussions going all the way .2 to the
Thief of Staff of the Secretary of Education about it. It is not a
matter that is just handled, “on the basis of professional judg-
mert.”

1t .= handled on the basis of what will the Secreiary think about
it, or what will the Chief of Staff think about it. And here you are
Laving some conversation about it with Dr. Finn, who was in that
line of operation, and yet, we can’t tie down what went on, al-
though quite clearly something went on and some signals were
being sent.

And the conclusion that I draw, and nothing that I have heard
frem the witness’ table dispels it, is that it was felt that there were
people of sufficient stature outside of the Department of Education,
to name one, Ms. Schlafly, who were so exercised by the possibility
of this program being funded, that no matter what the sccring or
the rating was going to be, for the saks of keeping peace within an
aspect of the family of the administration, there was going to be no
funding for Facing History. That is the sense that I get. And I
would like to be able to have somebody dispel that by saying, oh,
no, we went and spoke to Mr. Kristol about it and he said none of
that stuff—we don’t care what .s. Schlafly said, this is all being
done on the record.

Nobody comes forward and says what happened. What we have
on the record is all these intimations about objectivity or lack of it
oecause of Nazis and Ku Klux Klan and antiwar and anti-Chris-
tian, and Ms. Schlaily’s letter.

If you can help to dispel any of thac for the record, now is the
time to do it. Otherwise I am lefi to draw my own conclusions as I
have said I do.

Dr. Manno. I think you need to keep in mind, and perhaps this
is a clarification of my role in this general process, that I was not
responsible for making policy decisions in any general sense of the
word. Oftentinies I was not involved 1n discussions on NDN.

In fact, the Deputy for Policy took it upon himself in a special
way to be involved in all discussions related to the NDN, including
the development of regulations. This was his special purview.
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So a passing reference to a procuren.ent item in the course of a
conversation with Dr. Finn would not have peen unusual. That
v;ouid have been pretty much the general state of events.

Mr. WEiss. So in any event, there is no way—you are in no posi-
tion to shed any light on this, because that was not really within
your resgonsibi ities, to be familiar with the specifics of what was
going on’

Dr. MaNNo. No, uirless it pertained to schedules or those types of
activities.

Mr. Weiss. OK. Again, I have no further questions.

If any of the panelist< wish to make any closing statement, this
is a good time to do it.

Dr. Curry. I have one, sir.

Mr. WEiss. Dr. Curry.

Dr. Curry. I strongly support Holocaust education.

4 Mr. Weiss. Well, you know the old saying, pretty is as pretty
oes.

I thank you very much.

Dr. Curry. I am pleased to be working to get the U.S. Holocaust
Memorial Council to be part of the National Diffusion Network.

Dr. MaNNo. Sir, may I respond to your invitation?

Just a brief comment.

I would like to reiterate the two points I made in my opening
statement.

Namely, that Facing History is part of the NDN network of pro-
grams. In fact, it has been for quite some time.

And second: The Department has never denied the application of
Facing History, based on the program’s alleged to Christians, and
the Department has consistently and continues to reject the com-
ments made by Christina Price on this program.

Mr. WEiss. Thank you very much.

The record wil’ speak for itself at this point.

I add my appreciation to all of you for participating in my hear-
ing today.

Our second panel is comprised of Margot Stern Strom, dire ztor of
Facing History and Qurselves, and Max McConkey, director, Na-
tional Dissemination Study Group.

Would you please approach the witness table?

Do you affirm that the testimony you are about to give will be
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the t.uth?

Let the record indicate that each of the witnesses responded in
the affirmative.

We are pleased that you are able to rearrange your schedules to
be with us on relatively short notice. And Ms. Strom 1 think we
will begin with your testimony, if that is all right?

Ms. StroM. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. WEiss. Do you want to go first?

Mr. McConkeY. We were discussing that.

}’;\:.I(si. StroM. Will I have an opportu.uty to respond when he is fin-
ished?

Mr. Wgiss, Of course.

If you prefer to have Mr. McConkey go first, that is all right, too.
As a matter of convenience, I called on you first because your
name is listed first on my sheet.
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Ms. Strom. The chronology of events Mr. McConkey will give
will be helpful.

STATEMENT OF MAX McCONKEY, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
NATIONAL DISSENINATION STUDY GROUP

Mr. McConkEY. 1 ask that my prepared statement be made part
of the record.

Mr. WEiss. Without objection, that will be done.

Mr. McConkey. I am David Max McConkey, executive director of
the Naticnal Dissemination Study Group, a nonprofit association of
educators from throughout the country. The study group’s purpose
is to vromote school improvement through the dissemination of
educational practices that have proven to be successful. The special
arezi of interest for our association is the National Diffusion Net-
WOrkK.

We appreciate the invitation to testify. We, in our association,
consider this testimony as a form of protest against a series of in-
justices committed at the U.S. Dep..ctment of Education. While the
denial of funds to the Facing History, Holocaust education program
is the single most outrageous example of the Department of Educa-
tion’s abuse of authority, it is only one example.

And I would like to focus—with Ms. Strom talking about the par-
ticular Facing History issue—on my association’s perspective on
the larger context: on abuses as they relate to the peer review proc-

ess.

The injustices that have occurred are not only the denial of the
Facing History project, but the development by the Department of
an elaborate coverup, pieces of which were revealed in testimony
that you just received, and subsequent decisions by the Department
to deny eight other deserving grant applicants in addition to
Facing History, the support that they earned in order to cover up
the specific decision to keep Facing History from being funded.

But I think that the principal injustice, and I think Mr. Yates
spoke to this, just a few minutes ago, is the sad case of a process of
feir and equitable treatment that American citizens and grant ap-
plicants can expect from the U.S. Government being violated.

1 won’t go into great detail, but my statement has a chronology
of or description of the process applicants go through in the Na-
tional Diffusion Network. I realize from this morning’s testimony
that these various phases are somewhat confusing.

In order for a project to be included in the National Diffusion
Network, it needs to be a practice th: was developed locally. It
needs to hav> had a careful evaluation and have nad the outcome
of that evaluation presented to a Federal parel, which reviews and
makes decisions about how exemplary the program is. Then, and
only then, after that process has been completed and the project
has passed that scrutiny, does it be-ome part of the National Diffu-
sion Network.

Dr. Manno mentioned on a couple of occasions that Facing Histo-
ry is part of the National Diffusion Network. It is, indeed, because
it went through that initial process, and so did over 400 other pro-
grams since 1974, since the National Diffusion Network was cre-
ated. That doesn’t imply any kind of funding, and many of these
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NDN programs are unable to be disseminated because they don’t
have any support.

Others heve some support from other sources; there is a whole
range in that 400. Facing History has applied unsuccessfully, as
you heard already this morning, for funding on a number of occa-
sions.

My association works very closely with the Department and has
a great deal of respect for the people within the Education Depart-
ment, but we have noted a troubling trend i:i which the Facing
History story is but one example. I would like to start back in 1983
when the Assistant Secretary of Education, Donald Senese, abrupt-
ly ended the funding of 13 of these NDN developer demonstrator
projects.

He similarly halted the funding of three more grants that were
already in operation, a year later. The Assistant Secretary’s stated
reasons for arbitrarily canceling these Federal grants, was that he
alone had concluded that their continuation was, “not in the best
interest of the government.”

I might note that some of the programs that he canceled at that
time were drug education programs which he considered to be of-
fensive to his conservative constituency. Only 2 years later the ad-
ministration concluded that drug education was, in fact, a priority,
and they were then put in the position of needing to support the
programs which Dr. Senese had canceled just a few years before.

Dr. Senese’s explanation for canceling them really marked our
entry into a period when the Department of Education began to
condone arbitrary and capricious grant funding decisions by politi-
cal appointees determined to impose their own ideological bias on
American education. When the new Secretary, William Bennett,
announced a reorganization oi the Department, Chester Finn re-
placed Donald Senese. NDN was trausferred to the newly created
Office of Educational Research and Improvement. Finn imposed a
set of new steps within OERI that had great impact on the Depart-
ment’s procedures for allowing grant applications to be evaluated
by a panel cf reviewers.

They are called ‘“peer reviewers,” as Mr. Yates noted, because
they are presumably representative, they have expertise in the
fields of education, and they are nominated because of their sub-
stantive qualifications.

Among Dr. Finn’s innovations was the requirement that all field
reviews be approved personally by him. By the time Shirley Curry
joined OERI in 1986, as the first permanent director of the new
Re¢ -ognition Division, the stage had been set for the direct manipu-
lation of what had traditionally been in a reaso..ably equitable, ob-
jective process used by the Department for reviewing grant applica-
tions and making funding award decisions.

It is clear that the grant reviewers employed by OERI’s Recogni-
tion Division to assess the qualifications of applications by Facing
History and Ourselves, first in 1986 and then in 1987, were ap-
proved, if not hand selected, by Dr. Curry. Indeed, documents that
my association was provided by the Department through a Free-
dom of Information Act request show that a review panel, appar-
ently assembled by Curry in December 1986 included at least four
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of six reviewers who were Curry friends, associates, or contacts—
including Christina Price.

In fact, the way Assistant Secretary Finn and those around him
managed this grant review process was seen as such a problem
that the Senate report accompanying the fiscal year 1988, Labor,
HHS ap%ghopriations bill for education contained the following lan-
gnage. “The Appropriations Committee continues to be concerned
about the integrity of peer review procedures used by the Office of
Educational Research and Improvement.

“During the fiscal year 1958 hearing, the committee uncovered
practices by an Assistant Secretary—Dr. Finn—who used his au-
thority in an attempt to influence the outcome of the process by
encouraging the selection of reviewers known to be favorable to a
particular proposal.

“The committee, therefore, expects the Secretary to monitor per-
sonally all review procedures at OERL.”

So, meanwhile, as you heard this morning, OERI, in addition tc
these peer review violations, was attempting to institutionalize the
ideological review of all future National Diffusion Network grants.
This device was called the program significance panel review.

In essence, the PSP was a panel whose job it was to impose pan-
elists’ own judgments about what was “appropriate” for funding by
the Federal Government.

The very concept of this panel flew in the face of the underlying
philosophy of the National Diffusion Network, that the FeJtzral
Government plays hut two roles with respect to the dissemination
of locally developed school improvement programs.

The first is to assess whether the program has been effective at
the site where it was developed, and the second is to provide some
financial support for the dissemination.

The decision about whether to adopt an NDN program—or, for
that matter, whether the program is appropriate for adoption—has
always been made by each, individual, school—its teachers, admin-
istrators, parents, and school boards.

It was, in fact, preliminali?y versions of the Program Significance
Panel that originally kept Facing History from being successfully
nominated for funding.

Over the objections of nearly 300 educators, plus nearly 100
Members of Congress, all of whom wrote the Education Depart-
ment last year to protest the inclusion of the Program Significance
Panel in the NDN regulations, the Department decisionmakers
made the PSP a permanent part of the grant application review
process, in August 1987. Congress stepped in, however, and, in tech-
nical amendments to the reauthorization of the NDN earlier this
year, HR. 5, abolished the Significance Panui.

With OERI on notice that its selection of peer reviewers was
under careful scrutiny, the Program Significance Panel abolished,
and media attention having been focused on previous “unfair to
Nazi” Department reviews of Facing History, my association ex-
pected a reasonably fair grant review process to be conducted this
year. As it turned out, we were quite naive in holding those expec-
tations.

It appears that, being dead-set agains. funding Facing History,
Dr. Curry manipulated the peer review process this year so as to
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keep that program from being funded. But, in addition to that, the
failout is nearly as bad as the case in 1983 with Dr. Senese.

Now none of the developer-demonstrator applicants in five differ-
ent categories, that had been previously determined by the Secre-
tary to be priorities, have received support.

These applicants received a cumulative average grant review
score of 86, of a possible 100, with average scores for some of these
ggograms that are now being denied funding as high as 93, 94, and

These projects are in important educational priority areas as
identified by the Secretary, like adult literacy, and comprenension
analysis and problem solving. One project, in the gifted and talent-
ed category, received more program adoptions in the National Dif-
fusion Network last year than any other program, but was denied
funding because of this whole scheme.

The services of these exemplary programs are desperately needed
by the American schools, but they are not to be funded this year.

The reason seems to be fairly clear. Phyllis Schlafly, head of the
Eagle Forumn and a leader of a far right political movement, has
deemed one of these projects, Facing History, as unacceptable to
her. Unfortunately, seven other deserving projects seem to have
gotten in the way of Dr. Curry as she has attempted to find some
legitimate way to satisfy the demands of Ms. Schlafly.

It was certainly appropriate for Ms. Schlafly, as a citizen, to ex-
press her opinion to Government officials, but Dr. Curry and other
Department political appointees have a responsibility that Ms.
Schlafly does not have. They are Government officials entrusted to
follow rules and to act in such matters fairly and decently, and all
evidence uncovered to date suggests they did not.

The steps that Dr. Curry took last summer, which I have termed
“Grantscam,” apparently started with the recognition that to keep
Facing History from being funded would require action that would
certainly call attention to itself given the publicity in the newspa-
pers last year.

So a decision apparently was made, with approvals from officials
at the highest level of the Department, apparentiy, that entire cat-
egories of projects would not be funded so as to disguise the at-
tempt. to get one particular project.

Because of this so-called policy decision, Department officials
were able to announce, again today, that despite receiving a No. 1
rating in its category, in a category that the Secretary had deemed
to be ainong the highest priorities for this year, the Department
has chosen not to fund any projects in the history, geography, and
civics category.

The decision to not fund was not made until after Facing Histo-
ry, with proposal review scores averaging 89, including one score of
97, emerged as an approved applicant for NDN support.

But apparently Department officials believed that a move to
deny funding to DD applicants only in the history, geography, and
civics category would also appear transparent, so they seem to
have tried to cover that objective by moving to elimwmate a few
other entire DD funding categories as well.

The move provided Dr. éurry with an opportunity she had
needed to take complete control, or she wanted apparently to take
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complete control, over the selection and deselection of developer-
demonstrator applications, despite peer review, their ratings, and
rankings. Whatever her motivations, she chose seven other projects
in four other categories, including another one in the history, geog-
raphy, and civics category, to be cut.

If these actions, a series of actions by Dr. Senese, Dr. Curry and
others, go unchallenged, we believe that dangerous precedents will
have been set for futvre administrations.

Political appointees will feel comfortable using the Federal grant
and contracts procedures for rewarding their friends, for pursuing
their own particular ideological perspectives, however narrow.

The NDN is already suffering and American schools will be the
ultimate losers. No longer will the schools have made available for
them a wide variety, a wide array of exemplary program choices.
The Federal Government, in the persons of the Department of Edu-
cation Assistant Secretary and the Division Directors, will be
making those choices for them. Ironically, the Big Brother, whom
this administration has so often warned us about, may have ar-
rived already because of its actions.

Justice Louis Brandeis wrote that “the greater dangers to liberty
lurk in the insidious encroachment of men of zeal, well-meaning
but without understanding.”

The National Diffusion Network is a superb program. It brings
exemplary school improvement developments to teachers and class-
roomr that need them, but it has been ill-served by political parti-
sans disguised as educational experts within the U.S. Department
of Education.

Too often within the past 5 years the Department’s management
positions have been filled with zealois, “well-meaning but without
understanding.”

We believe, with Justice Brandeis, that they pose “great danger
to our liberty.”

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Mr. McConkev tollows:]
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NATIONAL
DISSEMINATION
Stuoy >
GROUP

A

OPENING STATEMENT BY: DAVID MAX McCONKEY,
NATIONAL OISSEMINATION STUOY GROUP,

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR before the
e— SUBCOMMITTEE ON HUMAN RESOURCES AND
P INTERGGVERNMENTAL RELATIONS
of the
BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS,
£ast UNITED STATES HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES
et e 19 October 1988

FILAR RN

CENTRAL
[ Mr Chairma: and Members of the Committee
y 1 am David Max McConkey, Execut.’e Director of the National
Siimtan, Dissemination Study Group, a non-profit assoctation of educators from
throughout the country The Study Groups purpose ip to promote school

P hrough the d of ed | practices that have proven
gee to be successful The special area of for our tion 13 the 1
[ Diffusion Network

We appreciate your invitation to testify | sce my testimony in the form of
a protest against injustice, because it is & whole series of injustices that have been
committed at the United States Department of Education within the past few
months and yeass that bring us together in this heariny room today

BOARD EMERITLS

g:‘i"i‘l “‘i" Specifically. these injustices include --

5.":}':\.},‘ ’ « the dental of National Diffusion Network funds to the deserving
Kowrme f . 0 Holocaust education program. Factng History and Ourselves, which, aceording to an
L ion A of criteria d d by the Department. was deserviug of

th;( support.

o the davelopment by Department officialy of a cover-up scheme to
disguise thetr actual reason for denying Facing History the federal grant it
deserved. and.

o the subeequent decision by the Department to keep eight other
deserving grant applicants, in addition to Facing History. the support they each
earned

The principal injustice that has been tnflicted in this sad case iy against
the processes of fair and equitable treatment that American citizens expect from
the United States Government

A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION SUPPORTING THE QISSEMINATION
AND IMPLEMENTATION OF EXEMPLARY SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PRACTICES AND PROCESSES
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In July. then-Educaty . Secretary Willlam J Bennett was quoted in USA Today magazine aa
saying about the deft ¢ “good ch .

. .twe should tnc e specific traits such as thoughtfuln Adelity, rd diligerce, h
Jairness, selfdt: pine. respect for law and taku g one’s guidance by accepted and tested
sm.‘m\uojruumdm.mﬂmumby.jor pie. one’s o ! prefe

Y

Using S. y B ‘s defl 1. as an ed » would have to give the officials In the

Department that he administered an “F~ in character. They have substituted for

honesty. bias and subjectivity for faimne ss, and manipulation of technical regulations for respect of

law. Further, rather than “taking las tVeir] guidance sceepted and tested standards of right and

mn;.'theyhnemb.utuudthur'mpa'omlptﬁeﬂmo'-ndthueol’th&hmdn&omlmge
1 grow

Allow me to back up, and first explain what the N | Diffusion N k is. The NDN,
muwmmmu-m:dmpmdmmmwmnmn
m.h-mmﬁedmlQHmdulminutﬂedﬂnuhmy:theDepum:orHulth.
Education, and Welfare's Office of Education. later through the Department of Education's Office of
Ed R h and Imp The NDN is designed to cary out the Congressional

date to fnywpr edh quality through the q tion of
districts thror.@out the nation -- thus p ting

The National D{ffusion Netu.ri

The National Diffuston Network operates through two baiic components -- State Facilitators
and Developer Demonatrators State Facilitators, located in every atate. provids information about
eduuuonpromhpubllclchooldum:(uwel‘utoprhneundpnmchnlod:ooh).eekmgto
improve their educational p Developer D. are proj through the country
that represent locally- developed. th ghhy and d plary school
mprovenent practices. Each program has been selected by a special federal board, this group fonce
titled the Joint Dissemination Review Panel, now called the Program Eff.ctiveness Panel), which
m-w.m-mm.m.mmmtdmmmm
effe ful appl

mplary o to school
n n edu

asing

These plary school tmp P - nearly 450 in all have been validated as
uanpluymmtheNDqum--uem-de-vau-blerordnmuonmmuolun-mmw
system While limited resources have meant. unfortunately, that the Education Department is only
ubletoﬁmd.on-venge,ltohlor-boutBSDevelopaDemomhvmlwdne-chyen.lﬂm.
il pr are d d in & catalogue -- “Ed ! Prog That Work” -- sponsored by
our prof The catalogue lista proj h d

n g, 13, early
hildhood ed h ties. spectal ton, bilingual and migrant education, and
app tely 60 other 7

Essentially the National Diffusion Network is successful American teachers helping other
teachers duplicate thetr achi rements

In 1975 about 15.000 teachers, serving some 375.00C atud were trained by National
Diffusion Network grantees By the mid-to-late-1980s, an avernge of over 60.000 teachers a year -- in
000 school: h

22, g an 2.500.000U S school children -- are provided new skills
through the training provided by the ded d ataff of valid; NDN prok across the country
The NDN is au enormously efiective and cost-efBctent ystem for the tropr of

America’s schools l.m;bd‘on!hephue‘thWorh'bmme-popuhrmmtheuuuuon
D partment lheN.leﬁnnlonNetwwkmpmﬂngﬂntlchoolprmﬁutwmunbe
lanted ok ple. in stud

P with a dupl of the same successes (for t}
\ by the original developer.
Our prov:ztonal the D Study Group. which representa the
men and women who operate the Nationa) Diffus i1 Network granta. as well as educatoss (n the

2

-

~J

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:




ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

64

hoola that these hroughx the country. w» s with -- and. over time. has been
hxgﬂy-uppomveo(--theus Bduc-uonDeplrtmcn(ln!' nagement of the NDN A nutmber of
events have occutred in the past § rew years. unfortunstely. have shaken our confidence in the

Department's ly and fairly program

History qf blas

Backlnlsas thenbep.runento(“ S y Doaald S sbruptly

ding of 13 Develop projects [He llmlhrly halted I’unduuto(hme more

Dm-vurlaw.mmy 1964 ] The y's stated for ly canceliing
these federal grants was that he, alone. had Juded that their continuation was ‘not in the best

of the g * Pertod mtuwlmtbnmrkcdourenuymto-pmodmthe
Department of Educats bepnto d ,.nde-pﬂdnu-g-nt dectzions by
politicat spp mp thetr 1 biases on American education

When new Education S y William B d a reorg of the
Deplnlnm( ctmternnnrtphcedbomldsgm lndmeNDanm.fa-md(otheneﬂycru(ed
Office P noe(ornew-'epsm(hmosm that
had gent tmpact onthebepqnmxm’ d I’ J1 grant to be dbya
panel of » -- ‘peer” -lheymmnedbeelu.emotol"fm t expertise in the
various education ficlds and are of thetr qmten to assess the

quality of the applications.

Finn's innovations was the requirement that all Aeld revicwers be approved
personally by him By the time Shirley Curry joined OERI In 1986 as the first pertuanent director of
theomce-l!ccognluonDmuon.the-ugehndbeenmtordlrmmlpuhuonorwhathn
Muomnybeaurulmbly q" % P used by the Department for reviewing
grant applk and ding sward d

1t 1s clear that the grant reviewers empioyed by OERI's Recognition Division to assess the
qualmmuom orappuuuombymumstovyammsemes first in 1986 and then in 1987, were
if not urry .ndeed that my tion was provided by the
Deplrtmmtlthmup:lr dom of q ) show that st a review panel assembled by
Curty in December 1960, at least rmuorme-uuwmm(:uny&mm associates, or contacts
[The testimony here today by Macing History's director. Margot Strom, will further deal with the facts
surrounding that project’s reviews |

Finn and peer review
In fact. the extent to which Assistant Secretary Finn and those arou. ] him managed the

and contract review process was seen as such 8 problem by Congress that the Senate report lloo-lasl
accompanying the FY 88 Labor-HHS- Education Appropriations bill contained the following
language --

The |Approp } Co be concerned about the
mqmmswbywomojw
Research and improvement. Dwing the fiscal year 1988 hearing. the
Cornmittee d p by an secretary [Finn] who used
his authority in an wt tc the out: of the process by

aging the sel of known to be favorable to a
proposal.

The Conwniitre, therefore. expects the Secretary [Bet,ett] to monitor
lly all review p d of the OERI during fiscal year 1988 to
mMWMMUnsﬂrumﬂhmd
the peer-review selecton process *

A vhile, ORI was making an sttempt to for the
potentially ideological review of all future NDN Developer Demonntrator grants The device m .
Program Sign'cance Panel review. in essence s panel whose job it was to impose thetr own
Judgements about what was “sppropriate” for funding by the feders) government

3
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Thrvexyconeep(o[ﬂmpnndﬂewlnﬂnﬁuonheuuderlymgplulooophyofu:emuonu
Diffusion Netwurk, um‘.:nefedenlgovunment, y.buttwordenm!hmpmtoundhoemmuon
d% ped sciicol tmp progr Thelln(lnloumuwhﬂlmﬂnmhn
been -t!.heute'hemltmdmloped.mdmemnd.luoptv\ndemﬂnlnuﬂmppon
for the dissemination The decidon about whether to adopt an NDN program -- or, for that matter,
whether!hepmmhappmmforudopuon--hnulwlyabeenmldebyudn.lmmdud..dnol
-- its teach d w8, P . and school boards. (It was, in fact. pnliminary versions of
the Progr 1 Significant fanel, that orginaily kept Factng History fom being succesefully nominated

)

Over the objections of nearly 300 educators, plus nearly 100 Me. oers of Cong-ess. all of whum
wrote to the Cducation Department last year to protest ‘ke inclusion of iz Proz.am Significi.ce
Panel in the NDN 1t the Dx & mkmmndeunPSPupetmmentp-nofﬂu

4. in tect 1

grant application review pro-ess, in August 1987. Congress stepped in, h , and,
d to the h of the NDN eariter th, vear [in HR 8], abolished the Significance
Panel.

With OERi on 'otice that Its selection of peer-reviewers was under careful scrutiny, the
Fanel abolished, and media attention having been focused on previous
{"unhktoNul')Dep-mmntmdMumtwy.my P a bly fair
Qrant i jew process to be conducted this year As it turned out, we were quite natve in holding those
“pectations

Bemgnblolutdyden‘-mmtﬁmdln;l'hangmsw'y.blckmmeloopforlbthﬁﬂ
urry 0 | lated the

try at ing NON support, C PP ly pletely P peer-review
mﬂmynrﬂntﬁnhn-omunhdnutmyume since 1983 nine Developer-Demonstrator
licants In five progr . detmnedtobe'pﬂonun‘byu:esmemyhavebeendemed

support  These appl a Age grant review score of 86 [of a posstble 100],
wl!humgemiormofﬁmuh@uss.m.mdsvs Among these projects. tn important
educational program categortes like Adult Literacy. Compre} ly and Problem Solv.ng,
-nd.cmed-ndmented.-mtqorymwhmhmmlnupm}ect that received more program adontions
last year than any other ¢ antee tn the National Diffusica Network

The services of these plary proj are desy ly ne_ded by American schools. But they
wlnmtbenupponedbyUuNDNthhyur.nndme son is fairly clear: Phyllis Schiafly, the head
o[ﬁ:e‘&peromm.‘lnduludaofuhrmt,' 1 has d d one of these
projects, Facing History, as unacceptable to her Unfortunately, seven other desening ts seem to
have gotten in Dr ¢ s way as she has attempted to ind a means to legitimately satisfy the
demands of Mrs .mmwh«mm;tmuutwylnul987letterto
Secretary Bennett's Chief of Staff, William Kristol

It is certainly apiropriate for Mrs Schiafly. as a citizen, to express her opinions to
tal uficials Rut Dr. Cunry and the other Department political appointees have a
p ility Mrs, Schlafly does not have; they are government officials entrusted to follow rules
and to act tn such fairly and decently "All evid to date sv gests that they did
not.

“Grantscam*

The steps Dr. CurTy took this summer, which 1 call, "Grantscam," apparently started with s
recognition tha' to keep Facing History from being funded would require action that would call
attention to he- mottves So. a decision was apparently inade. with approval from officials at high
leveis in the Depai noent, that entire caiegories of projects would not be funded Because of this

s . ¢ uffictals are able to - p bly with straight faces -- that
Facing History, for example. despite receiving & #1 rati. g in its category. will not be funded in 1988
because the Department has chosen not to fund any projects in the "History Geography. and Ctvicy"
category

Of course, the decision to deny funding to entire calegories of projects was not made uni) after

£uacing History -- with proposal review scores averaging 59 {of *00). including one score of 97 --
emerged as an approved applicant for NDN support

4
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t, ap -rently Department officials believed that s move to deny funding to DD applicants
only in te “Hie.0ry. Geograply and Civics™ category would also appear transparent, so they seem to
h-ve tred to cover ti.at obj by ng to el s few other entire DD funding categories as

Sudnmmu-thnnpmvtdedCun-yjuumemumw ded to take k trol
over the sek and de-sel DD of peer review, s:unp and rankings
Whatever her motivations. -bednooenevmoﬂnrpmjecumfourothuatmlmomu
to-be-approvea applicant in the “History, Geography and Civics® priority a.ca had also been cut when
that ~ategory was eliminated].

Among the categories chosen was “Adult Literacy.” with only one approved applicant --
mmmmmuamu«mmmﬁoa.mnmdmmmw-
which had as pp Dbs, including Profect SAGE, with over 700 NDN

last Progect
CLIMB, which had received one of the season’s highest external review scores {(surpassed by only two
other applicants) - an 89, a 99, and a 100, for an average score of 96  Other successful DD
would also fall, including Talents Unlimuted, one of the o. ginal {1974} NDN projects and one of the
mm.mmmmwmdmmmtmtwmm

Allegiance to s radical conservative ideo} hil hy is the junuﬂuuonlhe
Dep-nmmtomd.lnmypvepnvlwyfuwmcceuﬁueﬁmhtoqﬁnomy Hiustory and
against proj that actively fought the Department's Program

&gnﬂuneehnelundo!het, posed regulatory fe iast year may be behind some of these

AcuvutDDBubaannnaol’Ncmency director of Project CLIMD, last year

single-handedly d the gr of letters -- from adopters. educational mmﬂen
MentenorCmaunmdodm--m pp to ED-proposed NDN reg d or
supported by Shirley Curry

Conclusion

Whatever the explanations. what we obeerve here is a cynical (and to date successful) attempt
by political appointees within the U.S. Educution Department to to circumvent an established set of
proc< i--otmwh!chﬂwyoﬂ‘nlllymmtedamtowhlchﬂwwntﬁnuetopllyup-‘uvlce--lhe
pea few of gran .pp and fair and eq based on those
Teviews,

If the actions of Senese, Curty, and others go hall d, dangerous preced: may have
nhudybemutbrﬁnmmunuhﬂom Nuumlppolntmvmteelwmmhleumlhe
l‘ede-lmntand P for ding friends. and for pursuing their own particulwr

h The NDN t» already suffering. and America's schools will
be the ultunate losers No longer will they have made available for them a wide array of exemplary
pmgr'ncholce- mkduﬂmmmedemeDep-mto‘uuclmn.muum

d be making thoee cholces for them, Ironically, the Big Brother.
mw.Mmmumuonhnwmmnrmdm-boul may have arrived already because of its
actions

Justice Louis Brandeis wrote that “the gmta- dangers to llbeﬂy Iurk in the In-ldlou-

encroachment of men cf zeal, Dln'umn
Network, a superb program, bmmmmﬂnrylchool pr de ‘, to the h
nnddnmoomuxnmeddmhnbemﬂl-nawdby,' ] partisans disg d as ed \|

experts within the L..ted States Drpartment of Education.

'l‘ooollenvltmntmpu(nvew .unDep-mnmumlnngelmtpouuomh-vebemmled
with sealots. “well g but nding * They have ione much harm. and. as Justice
Brandeis recognized. wbdmm.tnwypo.egutdnngertoourubuty

Thank y« . Mr Chairman

#H

70

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:



67

Mr. Weiss. Thank you, Mr. McConkey.
Ms. Strom.

STATEMENT OF MARGOT STERN STROM, DIRECTOR, FACING
HISTORY AND QURSELVES

Ms. StroM. I will be brief.

My name is Margot Stern Strom, executive director of Facing
History and Ourselves, National Foundation, Inc. I am asking that
you put my statemert in the record, please.

I would also like to enter the statement of one of our board of
directors, Allan Ryan, who was with the U.S. Justice Department
from 1980 to 1983 in charge of investigating Nazi war crimi-
n | e————

Mr. WEiss. That, too, will be entered in the record.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Ryan follows:]
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STATEMENT OF ALLAN A. RYAN, JR.
TO THE HUMAN RESOURCES SUBCOMMITTEE
OF THE HOUSE GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS COM.TTTEE
OCTOBER 19, 1988

Mr. Chairman:

Thank you for inviting me tc testify before this
subcommittee. I regret that an unmovable commitment at Harvard
prevents my appearing personally before you this morning, and I

appreciate the opportunity to submit this statement.

From 1980 until 1982, I was the d. ~tor of the Office of
Special Investigations, U.S. Department of Justice, and as such
I was responsi-~le for cairying out the Congressional mandate to
investigate and prosecute Nazi war criminals in this country.
In 1983, I served as special assistant to the Attorney General
and carried out the investigation of Klaus Barbie's ties to

American intelligence after World war II.

For the past several years, I have been in the Office of
General Counsel of Harvard University, but I have continued to
write and lecture on Nazis in America and, more generally, on
the American response to the Holocaust during and after it

happened.

FACING HISTORY AND OURSELVES NANIONAL FOUNDATION INC 25 KENNARD ROAD BROOMUNE MA02146 . 617-232-1598
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I am also a member of the Board of Directors of Facing
History and Ourselves National Foundation, Inc., and it is in
that capacity that I submit this statement. I have been
affiliated with Facing History and Ourselves because I believe
deeply that young people in our country must be taught the
awful consequence of racial and religious prejudice, and must

learn to recognize and fight it in their own lives.

This is, of course, an issue that touches all of u- -~
black and white, Christian and Jew, young and old. But
especlally the young, for it is then taat attitudes of
tolerance, understanding, and concéern for others are formed. I
believe in a very simple formula: if we can teach our children
to understand and respect those whose race or religion is
different from their own, and if we can teach them to recognize
the corrosive anc often tragic consequences of bigotry, we will
bring up a generation of adults who hate nothing but hatred
itself, who understand the meaning of tolerance znd respect,

and wh» will pass those values on to their own children.
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This is hard work. Platitudes don't last. Children
themselves, and especially blacks, Hispanics and other
minorities, understand all too soon and too wall what prejudice
means. Many children who are not normally victims of prejudice
all too‘lo a take on the mantle of intolerance because no one

-hll taught them differently.

Facing History and Ourselves tries to break that chain.
We have no political agenda. We are neither a liberal
organization nor a conservative one. We are liberals,
couservatives, Reprblicans, Democrats, blacks, Jews,
Christiani, old and young, working together in our common
belief that as Americans we must teach our children that
bigotry and intolerance have no place in their generation, in

our community, or in our nation.

We work in the schools, at the request of -- and with the
indispensable support of -- teachers, administrators and
community leaders who recognize the need for this education but
who often do not have the time, the expertise, or the money to
develop it on their own. We subscribe to no educational theory
except the one that believes that if teachers bring serious

matters before their studentc and discuss them in a serious,
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thougktful way, the students will respond. We don't believe in
scaring or disturbing students; we believe in educating them in
history and in current events so that they will understand that

they do not live in a vacuum.

To do this, we work primarily with their own teachers,
because we believe that those teachers are best qualified to
relate the lessons of history to the problems their students
experience from day to day. I may be a poor teacher for
Hispanic students in East Los Ang-;eles, but I and my colleagues
at Facing History can work together with the teachers in East
Los Angeles and elsevhere who are looking for ways to bring the
lessons of history home to their classrooms. Last summer, at a
Facing Hist&éy workshop in Boston, a te .cher from Texas
approached me after a discussion and said, simply, "I

understand this better now.” That's why we do what we do.

All this costs money. We pay our staff -- most of whom
are former teachers and administrators themselves -- modestly,
but the money has to come from somewhere. We are fortunate in
having been able to raise some funds privately, and we will
continue to do so, but the loss of dissemination funding
through the Dgpartment of Bducation's National Diffusion
Network has hurt. We are particularly disappointed in the
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funding cutoff because the Facing History curriculum had
received such outstanding marks from the professional educators
who had reviewed it and from those in the Department who had
worked most closely with us. I respectfully urge this
subcommittee to use 1ts oversight responsibilities to see that

the Department's decision is thoroughly scrutinized.

Over 40 years ago, Justice Robert H. Jackson, chief
American prosecutor at the trial of the major Nazi war
criminals at Nuremburg, told the Internatioral Millitary
Tribunal, "The wrongs which we seek to condemn and punich have
been so calculated, so malignant and so devastating that
civilization cannot tcolerate their being ignored because it

cannot survive their being repeated.”

The purpose of education is to drive out ignorance, where
the malignancies of bigotry and hatred flourish. This is not a
job for us as Jews or Christians, as black or white, as
liberals or conservatives. it is a job for us as Americans.
We believe we can do it, because we cannot afford to believe
anytbing else. Plea vive us, and more importantly the
teachers in our comm (ties -- your communities -- the support

we need.
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Ms. Strom. Would you also put in the record the letters of teach-
ers, parents, and students which appear in a packet we brought
with us that is available for you and I might add these parents,
these students and administrators come from schools in Albuquer-
que and southwest of Califoraia, and Chicago and Memphis, TN,
the Smokey Mountains, across the country.

{The letters referred to are in app. 1, p. 106.]

Ms. Strom. I could sing tne song to you from coast-to-coast. I
would also like to recognize, if you would, the people who are in
this room, persons who speak in classrooms, ~cross the country, one
of whom, Leon Bass, recently spoke when Fresident Reagan spoke
at the Holocaust Memorial Council’s laying of a cornerstone for the
U.S. Holocaust Museum.

This man is one of the men who gces into the classrooms where
often there are more police in the classroom hallways than there
are teachers. He has visited in South Boston High School for
Facing History often.

Mr. WEiss. I have heard you speak. Thank you.

Ms. Srrom. He was at Buchenwald as an American soldier in
World War II and goes into a classroom where people ask is this
our history and he discusses that question with them. He has been
in Mempl is and Palm Beach, Philadelphia, and so on.

Other ...ople in this office come from Virginia and Maryland.
They are regional coordinators, people who have seen Facing Histo-
;‘ly in action and I appreciate the colleagueship and their suppori

ere.

I also want to thank you for showing the video tape of Facing
History and that is where I will begin and end very quickl: , so I
can answer your questions.

‘ihe video tape that you saw was a short visit to Facing History.
It gives you some idea of how we allow teachers to come to semi-
nars, to institutes and workshops to sit with people from the
clergy, parents and often young studenis from junior high and high
school and collegz to learn about this history, to think about a
methodology and then to decide what kind of program they would
like to take back to their own school ccmmunity.

It is very important that you know that there is no packaged cur-
riculum. Facing History and Ourselves produces a miniencyclope-
dia; we call it a resource book because text books have been
dumbed down and are inadequate. In that resource book we repro-
duce the comments of teachers, students, gentiles, Jews, blacks,
whites and it is continually revised with the comments of the par-
ents, adults and teachers.

We also give the scholarship of the history—the latest scholar-
ship, if we can, on such issues as America’s involvement, why did
Truman insist on the Nuremberg trials, what relevance does this
history have to the Cambodian genocide. How do people under-
stand anything about what is going on in the Soviet Union now
without understanding this history.

So it serves as a resource book for teachers, students and, again,
it is aot mandated, not required. Some teachers will choose materi-
als from it to create their own course.

We also house a library of materials that teachers cannot afford,
materials that have come from television shows. For instance, Bill
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Moyer’s materials such as “A Walk Through the Twentieth Centu-
ry” and a video tape of Myan Angelo talking about going into a
classroom to tap children’s creativity to see thern as moral philoso-
phers, materials that Alfred Hitchcock edited for the British when
the British and others took extermination camp film and brought
it to the public light.

We can bring those materials to classrooms. Teachers do not
have those in their own libraries. Facing His ory’s library is na-
tional and international and we get private supy. ort for that library
and for those materials and for that kind of a dissemination effort.

We applied to the National Diffusion Network believing that we
were asking for our fair share. We applied according to its regula-
tion.

We were told in 1988, this last application, that history had been
chosen as a No. 3 nriority, and that Secretary Bennett believed
deeply in history and ethics. We were encouraged to apply and
promised fair review this time.

We did indeed apply for the third time in the past 5 years. We
feel rather brutilized by those comments.

The idea that a reviewer could in their misguided relativism sug-
gest that we should 2ave former Nazis or the Nazi point of view
represented in the way that I understand Chrisiina Price suggests
is absolutely inappropriate.

I might suggest that most of the film footage that we use in the
classroom was the Nazi film footage which they took to document
the Third Reich, such films of the Warsaw Ghetto, for example,
were documented by the Nazis and it is that kind of film footage
used. The Nazi film documents when Hitler asked Eva Braun how
did you like “Gone With the Wind,” we have that to take into the
classroom.

We did not create that film and neither did the American sol-
diers. That film was created by the Nazis so perhaps that is the
Nazi point of view.

I might also suggest 10 you that when one visits Facing History,
one also visits children in Hispanic communities who are sitting in
isolation in classrooms with teachers who feel very burned out.
These teachers who have said tc us the reason they have stayed in
teachiny is because Facing History has n:ade a difference.

I might also suggest to you if you were to walk into one of those
schools in the urban neighborhoods of Roston, you might also like
to walk out, but some of those teachers have told us that they are
staying there and teaching because Facing History has been able to
support them.

When Facing History comes into a school system, it invites the
librarian, guidance person, the art teacher and those other school
personnel to go to create a course. As professionals they have found
a way to integrate materials and be truly interdisciplinary. As a
result, students are asked at the end of the course to think about
hew people memorialize events in history.

During that time they try to figure out why George Washington
is dressed in a toga in frrnt of the Senate and talk about monu-
ments. They talk about t'.e Vietnam Memorial, what kind of con-
troversy was there about chis monument.
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Then they look at the memorials throughout Europe to the con-
centration camps and then they discuss how education can be a
living memorial, a kind of monument.

Art teachers come into the class and deal with propaganda and
80 on. I would love to be able to continue thiough this walk-
threugh of Facing History, but I think the best thing I can do is
end with two things—actually three.

One is that I would like to request help from the Congress, from
you, Chairman Weiss, in discovering some type of funding so those
sl_ghools that we applied for could indeed get the services of Facing

istory.

We are talking about schools in the past who applied to use
Facing History that serve underserved children. We could not find
foundations in their local neighborhoods and their schools to sup-
port their requests.

We could not find funding for them and they could not find fund-
ing. We are talkmf about people from rural Maine who asked for
this program, peoplc from Albuquerque, NM, who said it dealt with
the n that they had because of racial tension and bigotry and
intolerance and we are talking about schools in urban areas that
could not find support—and had underserved populations and
could not get this funding.

So I would like to request your help in getting this funding or an
assurance that there will be fair funding opportunity for Facing
History and fair review.

Lacond, T would like to end with just two more things. The
second one would be the notion one of the philosophers who has
documented this history, Hannah Arendt, said she sat a{ the Eich-
man trial and saw what she saw as the ultimate Socratic evil:
Thoughtlessness, and she raised the 1uestion after sitting at Eich-
man'’s trial, what if we could get people to abstain from evil by get-
ting them to think about thinking, putting themselves in other per-
son’s shoes, seeing the world through another person and other
people’s lens.

I suggest this is one of the guiding principies of Facing History,
we really hope that junior high school students will begin to move
from the concrete thinking that they have been doing to begin to
include some of the abstract thinking that will help them under-
stand the violence that they see on television, the violence that
they see around them and they will be able to think about how
they can move from perhaps beirg prejudiced and intolerant to
making a difference and being tolerant and I think the quotations
we have submitted here will show that students do, in fact, move te
becoming a better citizen in a democratic society.

Finally, I would like to end with a very short poem. This is a
poem that a principal gives to a teacher at the beginning of every
school year and he puts this poem in the mailbox.

It says, “Dear teacher: I am a survivor of a concentration camp.
My eyes saw what no man should witness, gas chambers built by
learned engineers, children poisoned by educated physicians, in-
fants killed by trained nurses, women and babies shot and burned
by high school and college graduates.

“So I am suspicious of education. My request is help your stu-
dents become human. Your efforts must never produce learned
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monsters, skilled psychopaths educated Eichmans. Reading, writ-
ing, arithmetic are important only if they serve to make our chil-
dren more humane.”

I might suggest we also believe children should read, write, and
do their math. In fact, we have children look at the lesson plans of
Nazi Germany where children were asked to draw Semitic features
of the Jewish children who were in the art class and later when
the Jewish children were removed from class, they were asked to
find the perfect Aryian and draw that person. We have videotaped
the memories of a child who was in that class talking about the
anxiety he had when his teacher didn’t look like the perfect Aryian
and he didn’t know how to get the assignment correct. Erica Mann,
daughter of Thomas Mann, has documented those early Nazi lesson
plans.

We look at the capabilities of government to commit genocide
and then we think about our students learning about the violence
around them and on television and we say we have an obligation to
try to help them become better citizens.

Thank you.

Mr. Weiss. Thank you both very much.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Strom follows:]
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My name is Margot Stern Strom, Executive Director of
Facing History and Ourselves National Foundation, 1Inc.
Thank you for permitting me to talk with you today about
Facing History and Qurselves and its quest for fair
treatment from the Department of Education.

Facing History and Ourselves was founded in 1976 to
bring an interdisciplinary teacher training history program
to educators who wanted their students to learn about the
dangers of bigotry, racial snd ethnic prejudice, and
intolerance in a society. Facing History uses the history
of the Holocaust to educate students and teachers about the
meaning of human dignity, morality, law, citizenship and
human behavior and to help them make connections between
history and their own lives. The lessons provided by this
piece of 20th century history about bigotry, dehumanization,
the roots of violence, individual and collective
responsibility are examined t> illuminate the role
individual citizens have in a democracy to preserve
Justice. When students learn, for example, that one of the
12 persons put to death at Nuremburg, Julius Striecher
editor of a hate promoting magazine, was indicted for
turning neighbor against neighbor, breaking the moral
backbone of a citizenry, they begin to question the power of
words. Violence takes on additional meaning. Through
inquiry, analysis and interpretation, students examine
actual choices made .n history. Events no longer seem

inevitable as they confront the range of possible responses
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st any given time. By lookiag at Germany in the 1920s and
19308 as an example of democratic processes gone awry,
students begin to explore the roots of hatred, tha imp. t of
propaganda, the effect of peer pressure, and the concept of
unthinking obedience.

The Facing History program is based ‘r~on an ancient and
rigorous approach tu citizenship education. We encourage
teachers to see their students as activo learners who
explore connections between what tley learn in the clasccoom
and the hoices they must make in every day life. They need
teachers who can facilitate the kind of thinking and
judgment which will stay with them for the rest of their
lives.

Throughout the racing History program we suggest a
method of inquiry which stimulates students to examine and
re-examine their essumptions and the assumptions of others
so they ctn make the type of informed choices necessary for
preserving our democratic institutions. Socrates recognized
the importance of thLis kind of education for the citizenry
in anci n%t Athens. Hannah Arendat saw it as a necersary pre
condition for civilized life in the 20th century. AnZ the
Superintendent of the School Department in York, Maine in a
letter to Assistant Secretary Chester Finn speaks to the
value ot this approach in his community,

. I proucly refsr to it as an example of our

8. .00l system's dffort to teach relevant

historical content in ‘+he context of basic moral

guastions which face civilization now and in the

next century just as surely as they faced
civil!zation in thbe &iddle third »f the present




century. I honestly believe the Facing History

curriculum to be one of our best etfforts to

produce the kind of educatiorn. in the humanities

that you and Secretary Bennetf would want to see

in our high schools.

The curriculum is balenced and objective
primarily because it challengjes students to

consider the relevance of the higtorical events of

the Holocaust to the social and political context

of our present day. The curriculum takes no

politicel stand on these modern issues other than

forcefully raising the great moral questions

inherent in the course.

From its veis beginning, Facing Histor: 1as provided a
teacher tra ning model that involves all educ *:0rs in a
school. Principals, librarians, cuid.nce counselors, art
and humanities teachers, along with parents a community
leaders participate in our workehops and institutes which
are designec to help secondary schools and students exrlore
tis history and its implications. Through adult educ .tion
workshops, special conferences and seminars, Facing History
reaches out to invite tha full participation of the
community.

Since 1976, the Facing History program has reached
thousands of teachers and hundreds of thousands of students
~ 46 states, from inner city schools in Boston, Chicago,
Memphis, and Los Aingeles, to suburban schools districts in

Illinois to rural schools in Maine, New Mexico, East
Tennessee, etc. Facing History has been used successfully
in a wide varietv of settings: mainstream publ.c and private
schools; ‘nner-city schools with p.pulations primarily from

socioceconomically disadvantaged groups; drop-out and

alternative programs; special needs programs. It has vroved
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replica%le, cost effective and responsive o local needs.
Between 1977 and 1980, with the help of federal funds under
ESEA Title IV C, Facing History developed its original
resource materials, crained teachers and began implementing
the program in the New England .rea. At the end of three
yeais of monitoring and evaluation, in 1980, the program was
validated by the Joint Dissemination Review Panel as an
exemplary wodel and a program worthy of dissemination across
the country, and recertified in 1985.

Fecing History provides gchcols and teachers with a
wide variety of instructional materials including resource
manuals, audio visual materials, excerpts from scholarly
works ani bibliographies. Equally important, we offer
®lucetirs the chance to come together to meet historians and
researchers and discuss the latest sciolarship and ideas
sbout educating gstudents to become active participants in a
democracy.

The Facing History program focuses on a watershed
p#riod of hiscory--the 1930s and 1940s in Europe. Facing
History has gelected this recent, well-documented historical
moment, the era of World Wwar II and the Holocaust, as the
core J)f its program to help -eachers teach this period in a
more comprehensive manner. Although this history continues
to capture the imagination of millions of Americans, as
reflected in the amount of scholarship, literature, films
and television shows relating to it, it is rarely examined

in-depth in the classroom or in teac..ers' education.
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Facing Histcry explores the failure of democracy in the
Weimar Republic, the rise of totalitarianism and the
genocide of World War II to help gtudents think critically
sbout the opportunities for prevention, the gignificance of
citizen participation in democratic institutions and the
role of individusls and groups in government, economics,
socisl systems and religion during the decades of choice
before Americz entered World War II. American presidents
and American institutions i.sisted on bringing judgment to
Nuremburg. Now, forty years later, many American educators
are seeking information about this history to make it part
of their students education.

Like other clessic periodc in history studied in
American clsssrooms, such as the French Revolution, the
Industrisl Revolution of England and the Renaissance of
Europe, the study of the World War II period lends itself to
an interdisciplinary spprosch. Teschers who turn to
Shakespesre to enhance the lessons of history ..nd to
illuminate yuestions of Tuww:, human behavicr and ethics
find a similar approach available through the Facing History
and Ourselves program. Stnrlents participate in learning
activities in social studies, literature and art with a
concentration on develcping reading, writing, discussion,
and pToblem solving skills.

The Facing History program offers seminars and
institutes for educators who choose to gelect this rich

historical period to develop a program *o match the needs of
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their local school system and communities. With Facing
History stafc, teachers design a program which may
supplement or conrich their existing junior high or high
school curricula. In workshops and follow-up sessions,
teachers choose from a range of resource materials: a mini-
encyclopedia style resourcCe book for teachers and/or
students, providing historical documentation and
introductory materials; an annotated
bibliography/filmography for teachers, librarians and media
specialists; articles; case studics of teachers using the

é—’;;ogram and materjal to guide teachers in the use of
videotapes in the teaching of history.

The broader definition of history embraced in the
Fz2ing History program engages students of all ages. vYet it
has particular attraction for adolescents. The lives of
students in this age group are centered in peex groups and
mutual relationships. They struggle with issues of trust,
loyalty, and responsibility as individuals within groups.
If a Holocaust p.ogram is to be an integral part of the
social studies curriculum for this age group, it must
suppc ;t and Challenge students as they are beginning to see
themselves as unique individuals, but at the same time boys
and girls who desperate:y need to belong. Such a program
must help students whose nevly discovered notions of
subjectivity raise the problem of differing perspectives,
competing "truths”, the need to understand motives and

consider the intentions of and the abilities of themselves
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and others. Adolescence is a time of major developmental
trangitions. The sort of moral reasoning which ought to be
a basic component of adolescent education and which is
integral to Facing History, nourishes critical,
intellectual, gsocial ané ethical development. In our view,
Facing History's content is relevant for it corresponds to
adolescents' emerging awareness of society and how it works.

Through the use of historical material presented in
readings, f£ilms and through the eyes of witnesses who visit
Classes ag Iresource speakers, studentS becore aware of the
layers of influence and the range of factors that affect
their own 1ives.

For example, students read the actial lessons plans
from Nazi Germany, which were documented by Erica Mann.
They learn about the art lesson which asked children ia a
Nazi German :lass to draw the non-Aryan features of a Jewish
Classmate. Stud-nts then watch a video exserpt of a
Holocaust su- ,or retelling the humiliation he experienced
in cne of .ese classes. He remembers not being able to
turn to anyone for help--principal, teacher, police. (This
is one of the many video clips made available to Facing
History from the Yale archives and which is now part of a
companion manual to the resource book.) Finally, students
listen to a resource speaker who was raised as a Jehovah's
Witness and later joined the Nazi youth after her father was
taken away by the Gestapo. Through this varied use of

primary source documents and resource speakers students
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realize how precious the freedoms we have in our own
democracy are. They are asked to think about what
constitutes the fundamental beliefs and ingtitutions in the
United States which guarantee freedom and justice for all.

Throughcut the program gtudents are encouraged to
ralate the history to their own lives. For instance, while
they are studying the chapter on "Preparing for Obedience”,
they conuider the roles that education and mass media play
in shaping their attitudes and behavior. Reading about the
response of foreign nations to the Holocaust, they wonder
what adults in their own families and neighborhoods were
doing during World War II. At the close of the course they
begin thinking about specific ways in which they can make a
difference and prevent the abuse of human rights that
occurred in the Hitler era.

A high school teacher, who has worked with Facing
History since its origins, identifies how the program's
approach addreases the students' needs:

Facing History and Ourselves is a curriculum that

honors duality; process and product, head and

heart, history and ethics.

Facing History continually revises its materials. We
monitor and gather the responses of teachers and students to
the materials so that we can better adapt our program to the
needs of their communities. So e teachers use a journal as

& way of documenting the progress of the course for their
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students and themselves. They record their thinking as they
ponder their confrontation with this history.

In some classes, students too keep journals. They
respond to readings, films and speakers, writing entries
that reflect self-dialogue, individual views on subjects and
questions about issues that have sparked their curioeity
during the course. For one student, the journal was a
*daily remindsr so that when class didn't meet or there was
no time to discuss something we wanted to, we held our cClass
with our journals."

Not only does every student have his or her own
thoughts about the Facing History experience, but parents
too record their thoughts. Often we receive letters from
parents telling us what they think their child got out of
the Facing History course. This is an excerpt from on such
letter,

As my daughter's graduation from high school
approaches, we have been talking about the high
and low points of her years at school. in fourteen
yoars of school, one experience stands out
overwvhelmingly as the most valuable, the time
spent in "Facing Hiscory and Ourseives” when she
was in the eighth grade

In no other course was she exposed to real
dilemmas as cocmplex and challenging. In no other
course has she been inspired to use the whole of
her spiritual, moral, and intellectual resources
to solve 8 problem. In no other course has she
Leen 80 sure that the task mattered seriously for
hetr development as & responsible peérson.

...When she toock the course in eigh.h grade
shs found it hard to respect many adults even
hsrder to talk with them. Facing History enlarged
rer abili*v to discuss major issues in a calm and
serious way...

The journal-keeping and parent involvement
aspects of the course opened many continuing
conversations, from which we have all benefited.

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:
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I want you and others responsible for the

course to know what a fine Job you have done of

accomplishing the goals you get for Facing

History.

Feedback from students, teachers, and parents suggests
that the Facirg History program is accomplishing its gcals
in 1 variety of educational settings. In gome cases, the
influence is subtle with students obseurving that they have
begun to think differently about stereotypes and racial
slurs and will find it harder to be passive bystanders when
they witness acts or words of brutality. 1n other
instances, the changes have been dramatic enough to compel
the students to vow that they will take direct steps to
Combat prejudice and intolerance in their communities.

Teachers often Teport that their students relate issues
raised in this Program to their own 1ives. Each may register
the impact at a different point. There is one point,
however, at which it is virtually impossible for
participants to avoid confronting issues very close to home:
any discussion on racism, prejudice or digscrimination, ir.
the context of a Facing History unit almogt invariably draws
parallels to racism within our own society, especially
within our schools and neighborhoods.

In all probability, racial slurs, graffiti and fights
within the schools and neighborhoods where students have
studied the Holocaust and Human Behavior will continue.
Nevertheless, program evaluations have demonstrated that

students and teachers in the Program gain an expanded
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awareness of justice issues. One small, but telling
indication of the power of the program, occurred when a
ctudent teking Facing History erasel a swastika from his
notebook.

The Facing History program helps revitalizs teachers
and provide them with information and ideas for their own
professional und pe-sonal growth as well as for direct
classroom use. In addition, through its extensive mailing
list and regular quarterly newsletter, Facing History keeps
teachers up to date on the development of the program, new
materials, and relevant conferences.

I must now turn to the three recent attempts by Facing
History to receive federal £ :ading from the Department of
Education. In October of 1986, Facing History submitted a
proposel for funding. At & conference of National Diffusion
Network projects in January of 1987, I was told that the
panelists who reviewed the Facing History proposal reported
extremely negative comments on the content of the proposal.
i also learned that a pilot significance panel had been
instituted to review our proposal in addition to the
technical review Panel. I recejived copies of the reviews.
7he comments were beyond my imagination. I met informally
with Educat.on Department officials who said they were
embarrasged by the nature of the reviews and they encourajed
Facing History to reapply and promised a fair review. .a
July of 1987, we submitted another proposal. In late July,

I was called by a reporter who tol¢ me that our proposal had
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c€ace again buen denied. The comments -< the raviewers of
the two proposals were sumnarized in a September 1987
article in Education Week. They included the claim that the
project "lacks balance": that it used the same methods to
change the +'’nking of students that Hitler and Goebbels
used to propagandize the German people; that the program did
not present the Nazi point of view nor that of the Klu Klux
Klan, and that while the program may be appropriate for a
limited religious audience, it was not suitable for
widespread distribution to the schools of the nation." At
my requost to the Department, I received the scores of the
Teviews of the first year of the Official Program
Sigrnificance Panel in 1987. It appears as if the scores tor
most projects wers in the 80's, a few with lower scores. We
received & very low score and 2 of 5 panelists gaid it
wasn't appropriate for dissemination. My professional
association, the National Dissemination Study Group,
concluded that the significance panel which had generated
these reviews yere an ideological screen to permit the
Department to deny funding to Facing History. My own
reading of the comments showed an extraordinarily narrow
bias on the part of the reviewers.

Phyllis sSchlafly in an August 135, 1987 letter to
William Kristol, Chief of Staff at the U.S. Departuwent of
Education, expressec her opposition to Facing History. The
Quotations she selected and the comments about Facing

History are taken out of context. It is remarkable that the
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reviews of the 1986 and 1987 panelists would have ended our

hopes for fair treatment by the Department of Education. We
do not teach relativism, but the application of basic
values--good is good and evil is evil--in the complex and
challenging situations which characterize life in modern
civilization.

The historic realities of the Nazi era stimulate a
response in students totally in keeping with the decision at
Nuremburg that blind obedience to evil or dictated authority
is wrong. For example, we do not dabble in the misguided
relativism of one of the reviewers who would give equal
voice to the Nazi and Klan points of view because we firmly
believe in liberty and justice for all! We are secure in
our belief that these criticisms do not represent a balanced
view of the educational issuas we as teachers and citizens
must confront.

At a National Diffusion Network Conference in February
of 1988, Ron Preston, Deputy Secretary of the Office of
Education apologized for the treatment of Facing History in
the 1986 and 1987 panels. I met with Mr. Preston after his
speech, and he told me that he was personally embarrassed by
the review process. He encouraged Facing History to apply
again for Federal funds, promised a fair process of review,
and encouraged me to make it a strong proposal. 3o Facing
History reapplied for the third time. The news during the
following weeks was increasingly distressing. I heard that

Shirley Curry was insisting that Facing History nnt be
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funded, and that in order to bypass the very high reviews
which the proposal this time received from paneliste, the
whole category through which we were applying would be
dropped. In July, I wrote to Shirley Curry asking for an
inquiry into the review of the proposal. In September I
receivea a letter informing me that funds for Facing History
were being denied.

The 1988 regulations invited proposals in the history
category, in fact, the category was #3 in terms of priority.
They also announcad that funding for projects not previously
funded was a priority. I understand that a large percentage
of projects funded in 1988 were projects that had previously
received NDN funding. Facing History should have received
funding because: 1) It scored lst in an area that was the
#3 priority for 1988 2) We sver re.eived NDN funding

previously 3) We received the highest peer reviews.

The peer review panel was composed of reput-ble
educators from across the country. Their overall assessments
were congistently high. One panelist said,

This is clearly one of the blue-ribbon
curriculum projects in the country today. There is
an admirable focus upon recorded higtory and a
philosophical , literary, and artistic expression
thereof. Unlike the 'values education® of Simon et
al, which establishes an ethical no-man’'s land
which is totally relativistic, students have moral
discussions about real events and real people.
Moreover, teachers are prompted to review their
scholarship so they participate in this prograa. ..,

Our program does not provide utopian political

solutions for our s\ idents. wWe regard our program as pro-
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democratic and pro-American. While not part of tho program,
members of the staff staunchly believe in the essentac!
goodness of the tow political system.

Some reviews in this search for funding have criticized
our program for concentrating on the horrors of the
Holocaust and not including within the program history
dealing with the depravity of certain left-wing
dictatorships, such as the mass execution committee led by
the followers of Pol Pot and Stalin. Our intent is not to
single out right or left wing dictstorships for criticism,
nor do we intend to teach a course categorizing each episode
of mans inhumanity to man for the purpose of examining the
horrific consequences of unchecked prejudice. We are not
politiciesns, nor philosophers, we are educators who believe
that schools can serve a valuable role in helping eradicate
the vestigious of prejudice and bigotry from American
society, and that the history of the Holocaust--a history
that until recently was left out of our textbooks and
classrooms--offers a powerful lesson in this regard.

We've gained support from Jews anc Sentiles,
Republicans and Democrats, who share our view that racism
and bigotry can ba a corrosive force, even in the most
advanced socie*.es. I hope that you share our views and
vision.

Let me close with this message which a school principal

sent to all teachers in his school at the beginning of the

~ At ssmmems
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Deaar Teacher,
I am & swrvivor of a concentration camp. My
oyes savw what no man should witness.
Gas chambers built by learned engineers.
Children poisoned by educated physicians.
Infants killed by trained nurses.
Women and babdies shot and burned by high school
and college graduates.
So, I am suspicious of education.
My request is: Nelp your students become
human. Your efforts must never produce learned
monsters. skilled psychopaths, educated Eichmanns.
Reading, writing, arithmetic are important only
if they serve to make our children more humane.

RIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:




94

Mr. Weiss. Let me start off by asking you to respond to the state-
ments made by Dr. Curry that the applications were rejected be-
cause they scored too very low. What is your response to that?

Ms. STROM. One of my responses to the 1988 application reviews
is that I have now, through the Freedom of Information Act, is to
note that one of those reviews which Dr. Curry refers to with the
number 89, has a note from one reviewer written at the bottom of
the review which says, “I have never done this before. I don’t know
how to Put this in perspective. I would like to give this the highest
score of anything but I scored my second one so much lower so
glease keep this in perspective. This should be the highest scored

lue ribbon project.”

I also understand that we scored the highest in the history cate-
gory. My response is that I am dismayed. I truly believe the ﬁr
review process was going to work this time. It was promised by Ron
Preston that it would.

Ron Preston was also relieved of his duty while he stood in sup-
port of Facing History to make sure we received this fair peer
review. After he was removed I understand the category was
drgfped. I am dismayed.

r. MCCONKEY. In the earlier rounds and before 1988, I think it
is clear from the documents that we have received, also throu%h
Freedom of Information, that the grant reviewers were selected by
Dr. Curry, and we believe they entered with biases about how the
rev.ews would be done.

Whether or not they were instructed how to do that or did that
entirely on their own is unclear, but it appears as if there was a
very careful selection of the reviewers.

I'helieve that this year, because of the publicity created previous-
ly, because of the Congress telling Dr. Finn that they were moni-
toring the peer review process, that they were careful to select
good peer reviewers with credentials, with experience, with know!-
edge in history, civics, and geography, substartive areas, and as a
result, Facing History received a very good and very adequate
review.

Not only are there a series of at least 14 proiects that I count
that have been funded this year that received review scores, aver-
age review scores, below, in some cases well below, Facing History’s
average review score of 89, but as Margot suggested, Facing Histo-
ry was No. 1 ranked in the category that had already been identi-
fied as a priority for the Department.

Ms. STrRom. May I add one thing? Facing History never received
an apology, a firm statement regarding those scurrilous, ill found-
ed, brutal reviews. The story that Shirley Curry referred to you
that was in the newspaper that she said came to light unfortunate-
lgr, came to light 1 year later so the reviews of 1986 and Christina

ice, I understand Christina Price has been interviewed recently
and she said the Department was very proud of her reviews and
never scolded her, never said they felt them inappropriate and only
until 1 year later when the journalists discovered it, the press, did
these reviews come to light and did the press write the story but
Facing History was never apologized to.

In fact, when I went to meet with Shirley Curry at a National
Diffusion Network Advisory Council—I represent the unfunded
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projects—I spoke with her. Incidentally, I want to return her com-
pliment. She said she likes me. I like her, too. We both have Mem-
Fhis, TN, in our background. At our meeting I said to her informal-
y I do not understand what is oing on here. These comments are
just brutal and inappropriate. What we do is to work in the schools
that Secretary Bennett believes in. Can you please tell me what to

de before I rea %ll)" afain?

She said, ca.lf yllis Schlafly. I indeed did that. She gave me her
home phone number and I did call Phyllis Schlafly and Phyllis
Schlafly suggested to me she stands by her comments that she is
on record that Facing History was dangerous and that was the end
of that and she had that tyge of influence.

Mr. WEss. She also said in the course of her response to her
questions that the elimination of certain categories for funding was
usual, that there was nothing unusual about that. Mr. McConkey,
would you comment on that?

Mr. McCoNKEY. Our experience over the years in that process is
something as follows. There are nearly 400 projects that have been
validated, approved for dissemination throughout NDN. They are
all eligible to produce applications for funding as developer demon-
strators. There are some 60 project content categories. Obviously,
with a very limited amount of money avgilable, the project direc-
tors of these many projects have to make a decision each year
about whether to go through a very arduous p-ocess of preparing
an extensive grant application.

The Department makes it easier b declaring in advance that
certain categories have a priority. ’l}k':o% priorities have shifted
over the ycers; they shift from Commirsioner of Education to Sec-
retary of Education and to new Secre of Education. So Secre-
tary%ennett's priorities, as listed in the Federal Register each year
when a request is made f: new aﬁ;:slication for developer demon-
strator grants, are different than hj predecessor’s. This year, as
Mat:got noted, the history, geography, and civics category was
listed as third in a series of priority categories. The listing helps
the field make decisions about whether it is worth their while to
make application.

Now, I1n years past, as we have reviewed the processes, there
have been occasions when a priority was listed, projects came in,
and then ne¢ individual projects were funded in that category. But,
the only insiances, in searching our records, that we can find when
that occurred were cases where there were siraply no projects in
that particular category that received high enough scores. IJn those
cases, it was really legitimate for t » Department to fund no
projects there.

In all other instances where there have been a sufficient number
of projects that have received acceptable scores in the priority cate-
gories, those projects with the highest ratings or rankings in those
categories have been funded.

This year, for instance, in a final decision there were six projects
that have been funded in the science category, just as one example.
gf those I_;ix t‘swo' fundﬁd, tg’hree had sco}xl'es tixas were lower than

acing History's in its history, geography, and civics category.
t normally would have happenegr is: given limited funds, the
highest rankeX Projects in the science category—the first three re-
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ceived average scores of 93, 92, and 89—would have been funded
and, then, with the remaining money, they would go to another
category that had alsu heen identified, like science, as a priority, in
this case history, geography, and civics, and funded the highest
ranked one or two projects there, and across the board, and so on.

This is the only case we have observed over the years where an
entire category had acceptable and highly rated projects, and yet it
was eliminated.

Mr. WEsss. In the course of Dr. Curry’s testimony in response to
questions, she said that what sne found most objectionable about
Facirg History was the fact that the age group to which it was ad-
dressed was too young. She said that these were, I think she said,
eighth and ninth graders and she felt those people were too young
and she cited an author, Dr. Shur, I guess, and her cohort she said.

Tell us about how you develop the age level to aim this program
and what the Feneral sense i8 in the professional field about that.

Ms. Strom. [ understand Dr. Shur was also one of the reviewers
on our last review. We had three reviewers and they decided to add
a fourth at the last, added her review.

Facing History was developed originally under ESEA, title IV,
part C funds in the 1970’s. As a requirement for that funding you
had to have an evaluation component during the developmental
years, 3 years if you are able to continue to get funding. We, as
junior hi%h school teachers, piloted this program in our own rlass-
rooms. ‘i he original two teachers were history teachers and took
them into our own junior high school classrooms. As it began to
move outside of our classrooms to other classrooms, we also used it
in junior high school and ninth grade classinoms across the State,
all the time evaluating and monitoring tkrough parent-teacher
journals, student journals, and instruments that were deemed ap-
propriate to monitor childrens’ thinking and childrens’ understand-
ing of the material.

Our experience has been, and I feel the same way as any adult,
who expresses the feei.ng that any time it is too hard to leern pain-
ful history but the reality is as the recent Atlantic Monthly article
on learnir -~ history discusses history is about both good and evil.
We indeed found if we were not to teach these junior high school
students the things that happened for the evil as well as good then
they indeed would have disdain for their teachers or disdain for
their text books. They would learn it later and feel apathetic that
they had not been trusted. We had decided during the developmen-
tal stage to allow the teacher who decides to take this history the
opportunity to create the curriculum that works best for their par-
ticular class and their children.

I will end my comments by telling you that most of the students
teach their teachers. Teachers go in with a great deal of apprehen-
sion. They are teaching a piece of history the¥l were not taught in
their own classrooms. They find that junior high school students
are indeed moral philosophers. They are thinking and struggling
with issues of peer pressure and loyalty and obedience and these
are the very issues this history is about.

Those junior high school students feel at the end of the course
that this course must be taught and that it has been appropriate
for them. We have had very, very few—I can’t think of the names
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on my hand of people who have criticized this program except from
Phyllis Schlafly and Christina Price. We did in the first year have
a parent who did not want this taught to their junior high school
student and when we went to meet with the parent; it .urned out
the parent was a Holocaust survivor and felt she didn’t want her
chilter('ien to know about the story, which was interesting and unex-
pected.

Mr. Wesss. In the course of the question period, Dr. Manno, I
think, said in response to a question that although there are some

rograms which would have been disadvantaged because of the
ack of Federal support, Facing History, in his judgment, is not one
of those, that in fact Facing History does quite well in raising
funds from other sources.

Would you address whether, in fact, the program has been ad-
versely affected by the failure of Federal funding and the extent to
which it has been affected, if it has been adversely affected, and
how programs are currently funded?

Ms. StroM. When I originally found out the reviews in 1986, I
did not use them. I didn’t want the press to know about them. I
barely wanted my staff to know about them. They were dishearten-
ing, painful, brutal, ill founded and there was such a misguided de-
scription of what Facing History does I just wanted to put them
away and say either these are ludicrous or let’s not pay any atten-
tion and for 1 year I did do that.

Some people, in fact, at the Department of Education said to me
those comments must have been helpful to you. You could use
them for fundraising. We are not fundraisers. We are educators.
We spend our time writing curriculum, visiting classrooms. We do
not spend our time nor want to spend our time fundraising. Facing
History, however, has a track record of being able to find support
within the school, if possible, or outside the school in a corporation,
to fuiid some of the programs.

However, these particular programs that we apply to the Nation-
al Diffusion Network were unfunded programs, underserved pro-
grams. Thsy were deserving programs. Theg asked for, met the cri-
teria and deserved to be served. I think the comments were very
confusing for our constituency.

Many peogle don’t know how to read the headlines very well and
you have a headline that says Facing History is biased and unfair
to Nazis you have to be able to understand that and figure that
out. Before this hearing I asked a local teacher what effect did the
controversy have on you and he said I used it as a classroom lesson
plan and my students were astounded people who revise or use
these kinds of comments.

Facing History did not use the comments; we found them brutal,
confusing and did not in any way see how they could have been
help“ul to this organization.

r. Weiss. What are your sourcee of funding currently?

Ms. StroM. Right now they go from private individuals to fund-
ing within school systems like the archdiocese of certain school sys-
tems ir Albuquerque. There is also funding from hoth the Lotus or
Polaroid, people who are interested in improving inner-city schools.

We write proposals. For example, the Ford Foundation funds us.
We have a project called, Choosi gnto_ Perticipate which is the fol-
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lowup to the orifinal Facing History program that asked students
to think about the voluntary traditions in America and how they
can make a difference and that funding has come from Carnegie
and other places.

Mr. Weiss. At the opening of the hearing I quoted a sentence
from President Reagan’s eloquent speech at the cornerstone dedica-
tion of the Holocaust Memorial Museum; he said that I think all of
us here are aware of those, even among our own country men, who
have dedicated tnemselves to the disgusting task of minimizing or
even denying the truth of the Holocaust.

Have you encountered skepticism with the truth of the Holo-
caust around the countri; as you tried to promote the program?

Ms. Strom. I wish I had the opportunity to bring the teachers
from across the country to testify before you. It is alarming. We do.
But that we eapect in workshops. We are looking ter allow that to
come ug so we can help dispel myths, but we hear more and more
often that the Holocaust did not happen, that it was a creation,
more negative comments than that, yes.

Mr. WEiss. Would you say that the Department’s action in deny-
ing your avnplication and in particular, the reviewers’ remarks that

Facing History does not provide Nazi and Ku Klux Klan’s point of
view, have reenforced the skepticism that you have encountered?

Ms. Strom. | think it fuels that skepticism, yes. I have spoken to
my associate director, Dr. Sleeper, yesterdsy and others in the net-
work of Facing History and this is the kind of comment that would
fuel those persons who want to prove that the Holocausi didn’t
haﬁpen or how out of their ignorance believe it didn’t happen.

r. Weiss. Mr. McConkey, the Department of Education created
the Program Significance Panel te examine the content of educa-
tion programs appl;ing for funds from the National Diffusion Net-
work. Did the educa‘ > rs whom you repressnt view the creation of
the panel as a form of censorship? What was their reaction to it?

Mr. McConxey. They reacted with alarm.

The National Diffusion Network was created in 1974, now that
we look vack upon it, with a great deal of care and wisdom. I think

. there was t concern even then in the Office of Education that
the role of the Federal Government with respect to funding cur-
riculum needed to be very carefully prescribed, and so, as I noted
in my testimony, the NgN was created with the belief that the
Federal Government’s role would be twofold. One, to certify that
there needed to be some sort of standard, a good housekeeping
system of apylrhoval, if you will, on programs that had been devel-
oped locally. The Federal Government could play a legitimate role
looking at the statistical data that were available that indicated
that the programs that were developed actually carried out the
goals and objectives in the ways that they had said that they would
and that, in fact, they were workable, that they were effective, that
they indeed were exemplary. That process has gone on reasonably
well since 1974,

Second, the National Diffusion Network would provide some lim-
ited support for the projects for dicsemination across State lines so
that the project that had been developed, that was exemplary,
coulgeénove to the schools throughout the country that needed and
wanted it.

ERIC

102



99

The introduction of the Program Significance Panel introduced a
third element. It suggested that, at the Federal level, decisions
would be made about which programs were most appropriate to
American schools for dissemination. Prior to that time those deci-
sions, about appropriateness and whether a school needed, wanted,
or found the p.ogram acceptable, were all made at the local level.
A funded National Diffusion Network program in health may be
seen as perfectly appropriate and welcome by an elementary school
in the District of Columbia and may be seen as eniirely inappropri-
ate and unnecessary, even offensive, by an elementary school in
Nevada, and that is as it should be.

Local schools should have the prerogative to make those deci-
sions. The Program Significance Panel represented a Federal intru-
sion in that process.

Mr. Wriss. Thank you.

Me. Strom, as we have indicated in the course of earlier testimo-
ny, in December 1987 the Department of Education, Office of Gen-
eral Cour-el, sent a letter to the attorney for Dr. Trice who wrote
the controversial review which included comme:+* ,;01.t the Nazis
and the Ku Klux Klan. The letter expressed i -- Dapartment's
regret to Dr. Price for the inconverience causec tay by the contro-
versy.

You have indicated the Department never errressed regret to
you in writing and although obviously the legisiative branch and
Congress is distanced from the executive branch of the Govern-
ment, nonetheless, in the cosmic sense we are all the Government
of the United States of America. So I ce, tainly want to express my
regrets and our regrets for the injustice that was done to Facing
History by comments such as those.

Thank you both very much for your participation.

Our final witness for today is Dr. Michael Berenbaum, professor
of the Holocaust and theology at Georgstown University.

Do you affirm that the testimony you are about to give will be
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth? Let the
record indirate that the witness has responded in the affirmative.

We are g -ateful to you for fitting 1s into your hectic schedule
and being with us all this morning. Ve wouid be pleased to hear
from you at this time.

STATEMENT OF MICHAEL BERENBAUM, PH.D., PROFESSOR OF
THE HOLOCAUST AND THEOLOGY, GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY

Dr. BEreNBAUM. Mr. Chairman, let me offer very brief opening
remarks and deal with some of the 18sues that had been raised in
testimony. Let me begin by merely stating for the record, I am a
scholar of the Holocaust and my pariicular involvement, I am also
employed right now by the U.g. Holocaust Memorial Museum as
the acting project director for the museum Proje: ¢,

I speak as a scholar and not as a museum official which gives me
greater latitude to speak. I am also here in a very particular role
because in 1979, 1980, and 1981 I initially applied for a grant and
then supervised a research project on American youth and the Hol-
ocaust and was tke author of its major conclusions.
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We considered several curricula at that point and its impact, in-
cluding the issue of age appropriateness. One of the curricula so
considered was the Facing History, which was then in its infancy. I
have followed over the years the course of the work on Facing His-
tory and Ourselves. I indeed an~ one of the people that has support-
ed Facing History and Qurselves and was involved last summer in
teacher trainung for their national network of teac'iers.

Let e begin also by saying I knw Irene Shur. I, too, thought
this material is certainly not age appropriate for junior high school
people—except that I was persuaded otherwise when I walked into
the classroom and saw what the children actually learned and
what the children actually did. I would have concluded with every-
body in the Department of Education that this wus thoroughly not
age appropriate for younger children—except for the fact that
there is now an exhibit over at the Children’s Museum, within
really a stone’s throw of this building, which is drawing hundreds
and thousands of children who are encountering the Holocaust
asking highl; intelligent questions, engaging in conversation with
survivors, producing incredible material including tiles tha\ will be
used in the museum itself. So perhaps philosophically, the material
is not age appropriate, but empirically—judged by what the chil-
dren learn by che activities they engage in—time and again we
have found not only is it age appropriate, but it speaks to the es-
sence of some of the issues that junior high school students are con-
fronting in their own lives.

What is the nature of authority, what is the nature of responsi-
bility, what is our commitment to human dignity? What is the
nature of the education that I receive? Am I being deceived by the
world? Can I be taken in? What does it mean to behave like a
human being under situations that are extraordinarily difficult?
We have heard very important philosophiral theories, but ~mpiri-
cally that are just not true and I can marshall significant empirical
eviJ;noe to demonstrate both by the material of Facing Histo
and Ourselves and other material elsewhere, including the chil-
dren’s exhibit, that the age appropriateness question is a strawman
agrument. It has no relevance whatsoever.

Let me also say one other thing. Why is it that we believe, that I
believe that the Holocaust is so important? Because frankly, it’s a
matter of en%agement with history but also a confrontation with
values. The Holocaust is about what is most destructive event
within the human community. It also teaches us not only about
darkness, destruction and tragedy, but about the nature of human
heroism and of the estrangement and dangers of the estrangement
between the power of government and the mrral dimensions of the
human enterprise.

It, therefore, addresses the core of our national values and it ad-
dresses issues that are of the utmost of significance to American
youth as they begin the process of engagement with the world.

One final point, Phyllis Schlafly in one sense is right. Facing His-
tory is dangerous. It is dangerous because of its virtues. All of the
things that it has been criticized for are precisely its strergth. It
forces people to question their own values. It forces people to ques-
tion authority. It encourages people to examine the world in whizh
we live. If this is a nation of values, if this is a nation of freedom, if
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the commitment of the American people is to pluralism, then I
submit to you and I have demonstrated this in writings which I
will submit to the committee, that Facing History at;‘(f:esses the
core of our national values and it speaks significantly to what is
best in the United States of America and what makes us all proud
to be citizens of this great land.

Mr. WEiss. Thank you very much, Dr. Berenbaum.

For those of uz who lived through tha time of the Holocaust, we
believe that it nust r.ever be forgotten. Mast of us do, anyhow.

Have you seen any signs that the world is starting to revise the
history of the Holocaust in a way that could lessen the truth of
what happened?

Dr. BERENBAUM. Let’s begin with the most pernicious, or the
whole revisionist historians, who say the Holocaust never hap-
pened. I probably receive one request a week to appear on a panel
with revisionists, some media, television, the Larry King show, ev-
erywhere in the country. I normally get a request a week and I am
always tempted to say, “Sure, I'll debate,” but I don’t know how
the debate flatters society. How do you debate whether an histori-
cal event did or did not take place?

There is a second attempt to minimize the significance The Hol-
ocaust is about tragedy, but let’s turn ourselves to happier subjects.
Let us not confront the past. Amnesia invites repetition and in the
word of Santayana, a very distinfuished American philosopher,
“Those who forget the past are condemned to repeat it.’

We then have a whole other series of denials of the Holocaust.
Don’t tell us about evil; tell us about goodness. So we have a whole
geries of stories about heroism and we begin to forget that the core
of the experience was about tragedy.

I believe that if we confront the nature of evil, if we understand
it, if we understand the role of government as a perpetrator of evil
in the Nazi case, if we begin to confront an event whose 50th anni-
versary we are going tc commemorate next month, Krystallnaet,
when e?'rmgogues in Germany and Austria were destroyed, }:omes
invaded, businesses looted, and tens of thousands of Jews ,
we begin to discover the core of what the Bill of Rights is about—
which includes the freedom to worship, which includes the freedom
of human dignity and human security and the protection of indi-
viduals’ rights which are the essence of the American experience.

Sure, there is increasing evidence of miniriization and of revi-
sionists, and this certainly contributes to those and gives, as it
were, a green light which says, “Hey, you can do it, anc. it’s simple
to do,” and look, you now get into a situation where a curriculum
on the Holocaust Kas to be fair to the Nazis, and next we will know
a curriculum on sexual violence has to be fair and sympatheti~ to
the rapist.

I think the virtue of the cu.-iculum is that it thoroughly has a
value perspective and the value perspective is against nazism and
for American values.

Mr. WEess. In your judgment, what is the awareness level of
American citizens about the Holocaust? Who knows about it and
who doesn’t?

Dr. BERENBAUM. Over the past 10 years, as we have had the
minimization and denial, there has also been an incredible resur-
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gence of interest in the Holocaust; in one sense or another, the Hol-
ocaust has had a greater impact over the last 10 years on Ameri-
can society and culture than it did throughout the postwar period.

Part of that hLas to do with the beginning of sericus scholarship
which has taken place in the university. In 1970 there were two
courses on the Holocaust offered at the university level. In 1979
there were 206. In 1988 there are 1,960.

If you lock at publications that have come, the publications that
have been produced, you are talking about an increas : that is 10,
20, 30 timesfold, and as Facing History demcnstrates, beginning
with two teachers in the late 1970’s, and spreading across the coun-
try, impacting on thousands and tens of thousands of students and
hundreds of teachers, you begin to see the dissemination of infor-
mation. The media has been helpful, especially with docudramas
and docu .nentaries.

Now the Holocaust has become accepted by certainly the intellec-
tual community and the cultural community as one of those signifi-
cant demarcation points of what it means to live in 20th century
civilization.

Mr. Wriss. What do other countries do to educate their citizens
about the Holocaust?

Dr. BErenBAUM. I didn't hear you.

M; Werss. What do other countries do about educating their citi-
zens?

Dr. BERENBAUM. That is a very interesting question. Let me give
you what I know.

In Austria, you have a very interesting case of denial. Austria
says that in March 1938, Austria was abolished and Austrian histo-
ry continues in April 1945.

Germany has made significant attempts over the past several
years to begin introducing in education with respect to the Holo-
caust into its curriculum.

Israel obviously has a deep commitment Lo education of the Holo-
caust. It has increaced its commitment in that direction.

England has begun to introduce some elements of that into its
curriculum. And ironically, some of the best material on the Holo-
caust is education now being develoged in Poland, which for a long
period of time had difficulty in adwmitting that the victims who
were killed in Poland were killed for two reasons. One is those who
were killed as Polish citizens and the other is the majority though
more than 3.1 million were killed solely because of their Jewish
birth. And over the lart couple of years there has been an intensive
effort to undertake educational materials in Poland.

The same, by the way, is true of Canada, which has adopted
many of the American curricula and has also used much of the ma-
terial that has been developed in the United States.

Mr. WEIss. As you have indicated, there are those in our society
who claim that the Holocaust either never happened or has been
greatly exaggerated. Do only fringe elements of our society have
that view, or does it go further?

Dr. BERENBAUM. Approximatelﬁ 120 books have been published
over the last several years, which denied that the Holocaust hap-
pened. Some of these people are tenured full professors at universi-
ties, some of them at distinguished universities. In certain cases—
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one of them is a professor of electrical engineering, which has no
relevance to history—but he still serves at one of the most distin-
guished Midwestern universities in the country.

The most important element and one of the reasons why I think
it is critical that these hearings took place ic to make sure that the
attitudes that we saw reflected in the evaluations that were given
by so-called professionals do not become accepted in the main-
stream, that one does not have to look over one’s shoulder and say,
“How did I treat the Nazis in my curriculum, how do I treat the
KKK, and did I create a sympathetic environment for them,” so
that one deals in a world of relativism where nothing matters,
where there is nothing of value. There is nothing that we can call
evil and nothing that we can call good.

It is incredible to me that 26 critique of Facing History and Qur-
selves comes out of conservative fringes of this society, that on the
other nand is bemoaning the ioss of values in American iife.

It seems inconceivable to me that one could stress the impor-
tance of values, of goodness, of family values, of tolerance, of plu-
ralism and of freedom, commitment to national security, and then
say, “Well, it was this, it was that, it was the other thing.”

Your job, Mr. Chairman, «nd you have discharged it much to our
admiration, is to make sure that these views do not become m.ain-
stream, do not becorae accepted, and do not begin to corrupt the
national discourse with respect to this topic.

Mr. WEsss. Thank you very much.

Again, we are greatly appreciative of your sharing your wisdom
ard knowledge with us.

The hearing now stands adjo'irned, subject to the call of the
Chair.

[Whereupon, at 1:05 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, to recon-
vene subject to the call of the Chair.]

ERIC HO I
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APPENDIX 1.—MATERIAL REFERRED TO IN THE RECORD

Campaign °88

Democratc Nanonal Committee
430 South Capitol St S.E . Washington, DC 20003
(202) 863-8087 FAX (202) 863-8140

October 18, 1588

Hor. Ted §. weiss

Chairman

Subcommittee on Muman Resocurces and Intargovernmentsl Rslstions
Comnitteés on Government Qperstions

House of Representatives

washington, DC

Desr Mr. Chairsan:

" commend you and your committes for 9iving immediste sttention to
a8 distressing news about the failure to support the "Pacing
Ristory" Holocsust studies program resulting froa right-wing
extremist pressures.

It may be of intersst to you to know that esrlier this sonth !
happened to be travelling with Kitty Dukakiz, w#ife of the Goveraor
of Massschusetts and currently the Desocratic candidate for
Prasident, when she learned about the prcject derials. Mrs,
Dukakis and I both had served on the U.S. Nolocsust Memocisi
Council for about seven years, leaving only sfter President Reagan
faiied to re-appoint us %o the Council. During these lmn‘rm I
learnsd hov devoted both Kitty and XMichael Dukakis were to the
vhole program of educsting Americans, especislly cur children, to
the meaning of the Nolocsust for sll pooslo. I write to tell you
how shocked Xitty was vhen she learned o the Departmen: of
Xducation action and particularly of the incredible reasons
offered. ghe spoks out eloguently and movingly about the metter st
tvo meetings I participated in, noting the work on kolocaust
studies she and her huaband had supported in Massachusetts and

.xr:ouinq contfidancs that » 8 sdministration would not have
to unm the situation thet had developed st the pepartsent of
Bducet .

It 18 my hope that your hearing will lead to & re-examination of
the presant policies both st the Department and the white House,
and that s reverssl in policy may result.

fincerely,

o odlr

Nyman Bookbinder
fpecisl Advisor

HBiel

Convinsions w e Domesrms s

~ 8 R34 " FW P,
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OAK RIDGE SCHOOLS
PO BOX 930
OAK RIDGE. TENNESSEE 37831-0830

OFFKCE OF DIRECTOR OF PERSONNEL
August 29, 1988

TF. NUMBER
AREA CODE (413) 4826311

Ns. Margo Stern-Strom

Pacing History snd Ourselves Poundation, Inc.
25 Xennard Road

Brookline, Massachusetts 02146

Desr Margo:

As the school Yyesr begins, I want to take this opportunity to
express my gratitude for hsving your continuous support in our
efforts to work with Pacing History. Your organizstion has
learned how to make contacts, initiste good thinking on the part
of edmini.trators regarding curriculum change, and sustsin 8
network for teachers. We have seversl sdditional teschers this
year who have approached =e tc learn about the socisl, civic and
history issues in racing History saterisls.

m-yt\nncyyuunlpubnc.choolduuw, I have not seen a
sore cogent project. I am impressed with the high expectations
{:: hava for both teachers end students. R r ch

jcates that our textbooks have been "dumbed down.® Pacing
History, on the other hand, sets s standard that students can be
rigorous in their perusal of historic documents and primary
sources. The use of visiting scholars, film clips,
drcumentaries, nevspapers, per 1 reaini exemplify tne
tools ©f scholars and historians. Just as we knov that in
learning tv read, students must read hooks, so too, in order to
ap--eciate and understand history, students must dig, delve,
reflect, synthesize, discuss and argue the idoas and events of
history. Pacing Rimtory trsins teachers to sct as facilitators
of euch sctivity. I know that teachers who sttand your institute
leave with self confidence and inspiration to work with their
students as they ponder the issues of our past.

The issues in Pscing History are timely and relevant ‘-~ our daily
life. I am personally interested that, through Pacing History
curricula, students exsmine the complicasted issues of prejudice
and discrisinstion, ths responsi.l)i’ies o2 being 8 good cit zen,
the povers of obediencs snd disobediance in & democratic societyv.
I au convinced that students in sll eress, urban and rursl, East
coast and Southeast, find relevance in studying these subjects.

I em slso parsusded that to honor and support the concepts og
saintsining and living in s democratic svuciety, we need to heve
our student-citizens sppreciate the complexities. And so, I

O \’;‘
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Margo Stsrn-Strom August 29, 1988 Page 2

applaud all that you do in insp! ring us asd treining us to take
history seriously. I believe in your basic premieem

order to understand our Present, and to project tovlral,. 3
tuture, we must study the past. Thank you for all you-do.

We will be in contact this year. Our teachers in T who
have attended one of your institutes and the re reat vhich ve
held last year, are eager to re-group and continie learning.
Have a great year.

Most sincerely,

J Bohstedt
Director of Teacher Center and
Parsonnel Services

JB/mds
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THE WINMETKA PUBLIC SCHOOLS

VeS GAR 3TAECT WNNETCA LL 2093 FIRETLT

12 *ctober 88

Corgressran Slaney Yates
Urited States House of Reoresentatives
Washington, D.C.

Dear Congressman Yates:

Althtough I am one of your corstituerts I am writing this letter
to you as a concerned educator., [ am Thairperson ofthe Social
Studies Department at Carleton Wastburne School in Winnetka and
have been for the past 12 years. In that time I hav> sgeen
textoooks come and go, most without loss. I have se n innovative
curricula, many wich potertial, get washed upon the onore o?f
disuse, As educatior is sitject to t:ue whims and fancies of the
times, as well as its politics, I au often distressed to see good
subst..tive curricula attacked for frivolous and often partisan
reasons. It is in this frame of mind that I am writing to you to
comrent uvor, defend and extol Facing Uistory and Curselves.

Aprruxiracely si: years agc I tecare familisr w#ith the Facing
History curriculum. I teach Americar nistcry wnich, as you know,
carnot Se taught in isolation in ihe 20trn century without consider-
ation of the tumultucus events that emanated from Europe. The
watesshea event of this century (and maybe any century) has been
the -“clocaust and it has been exceptivnally difficult to find
rigorous and intellectually sound materisls. Facing History

has pronuced sucstantially researched, dynamicsaliy effective and
pedagogically important materials. I have used Facing distory
films, text s.prlezents and dguments for as long as I have taugat
my current rolocaust unit at Washourpne Scuo2le I have also trzined
o*her teachers ir the use of Farlag nistory materials. Without
fail this program reaches the denths of the conscience and intel-
lect in a manner that I nave not experienced with any other

tody of wore. Ffor six consecutive years I have surveyed my students
a* the end of the jyear and aske wiat tnre most stiaulatdin, and
rewaraing unit of study has oseen. Without fall the answer has been
the unit on the 'olocanst and the reason has been tae inspiration
of Facing History.

I am awvare of the diffi-ulties *hat Facing rldstory has encountered
of late with tre .ational Diffugion Jetwork. It is very unfortunate
that this model program wnicn stouli be emulated for its style and
conpesiticn has fallen victir to partisanshin. Good programs have
nv learir.gs. They are pelitdczlly neutrale In thedir bes® form

a sol’d rrogrcm e~ccurters, insrires and enlightens. That is the
susztance of the Facing Uistory a-d "u-selves prograrm and thai is
wh I am concerned *:at It is un-der a*iack in the "etwork.

Deau the revorts and irterview teacher: wno have worked with Facing

Ll
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History materials. We extol critical trinking arnd searching for
causatior; skill development and complicating thinkirg in my school.
Ve demand these from our children as Facing History demands them
from us.

As you investigate the NDN ratings and its eflfect on Facing distory
I believe that you discover a program that is§ worthy of broader
dissemiration, Facing History needs the funding to expand its
audience. It also mandates a fair treatment from an impartial

roup of critics.e I do not believe that it has received trat

egree of fairnesse

Thank You for t.e cornsideration. I hope that my testimon’ has been
valuable, Good educatiozal pojects are becoming rare as mediocrity
and simple remedies to complicated problems saturate the market. I
am thankful that Facing History has given me the ability to
counteract that mediocrity and challenge my s.udentc,

I remain

SW

CHARLES J, MEYLRS
Department Chair

Carletor Washburne Scnool
515 Hibbard Rd ‘
Winnetka, I, 60093

cc: Ms Margot Strom, Facing History and Ourselves

Foan
h,
OO
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Montebello Unified School District
123 SOUTH MONTEREI LO BOULEVARD / MONTEBELLO, CALIFORNIA go640 4729

(13) 7261223

August 10, 1988

Ms. Margo Strom

Facing History and Ourselves
25 Kennard Road

Brockline, Mass. 02146

Dear Margo:

Thank you for the opportunity of participating in the summe~ seminar
(July 24-29) on Facing History and Ourselves. 1 am certain that those
participating in the seminar came away with a greater uaderstanding and
commitment that Facing History and Ourselves is a critical cemponent to
the curriculum taught in our schools.

I must compliment you and your staff, specifically Marc Skivirsky, for
providing us with outstanding speakers from academia, experts in the
studies of holocaust and genocide, Viterature, histori®ns and the medi-
cal profession. The intensity of topics covered gave pause for the
participants to do a great deal of refiective thinking.

In my five-year association with Facing History and Ourselves, it has
bacome apparent that your concern with the holocaust and human rights
jssues are provocative pieces of curriculua that require a challenge

to teacher training and staff development. As & large school district on
the west coast, I have found our teachers embracing and engaging Facing
History and Ourselves to better meet the needs of our student pupulation.
Our miti-ethnic student population readily identifies with the complicated
jssues inherent within the Facing Ourselves curriculum. I have come awdy .
from this five-day seminar with greater insight and abildty to not only
articulate the program within our district, but to other educators in the
state of California. Facing History represents the only support system in
the Unitod States dealing with these issues in an unbiased and thoughtful
manner. The training and resources are incredible! Th's is what social
studies should be about!

BOARD OF EDUCATION ADMINISTRATION

WHEARD U Y ANMAGLC T Preodeat JOHN P COOK  Suprmintendrnt of Schosls

FEOANUIR N VAN Lue Proodent NORM AN j RIRSCHENBAL A Ainiuzent Suprrinsemdient ~ Instraciionsl Servces

DARKELL 1 A MOUN it STEPHEN | FHIT LIPS Buosen Mavaerr

HERID KA A ST ARNN A mar RICHARD b ATARR  11100% Supmrsienarst — Prviaward Worwe

ARTHUR A (AN Vrmary DARDINE P ROBIES tomg duntent Submotesiens  Bogil < mmumiy \evt vt
3 A )
X 1o




ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

111

Ms. Margo Strom August 10, 1988

I ook forward to your continued support as we expand the program 1n our
district and throughout the State of Califormia. Thank you for allowing
me the opportunity to interact not only with the Facing History staff,
but other educators throughout the United States The commitment and
ctupport from those in attendance of the Facing History and Ourselves
Fuundation creates a base of support that will allow us to expand thys
curriculum throughout our schools.

Cordrally,

Jont

Norm Kirschenba.m
Assistant Superintiec dent
Instructional Services

le
Enc.
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YORK SCHOOL DEPARTMENT
Oftice Ot
Superintendent of Schoois

February 3, 1988

Dr. Chester E. Finn, Jr.

Assistant Secretary and Counselor

U.S. Department of Education

Office for Education Research & Improvement
Mashington, D.C. 20208

Dear Checker:

It has come to my attention that the “Facing History and Qurselves”
curriculum project, sponsored by the non-profit foundation of the same
name, has been denied federal funding through the National Diffusion
Network based on negative ratings from a panel of outside reviewers.
Apparently the curriculum, {n the reviewers' eyes, lacks “balance,”
"objectivity,® or {s not "relevant to contemporary {ssues." 1 cannot
bel{eve that you could personally share the opinions of reviewers who feel
that the curriculum's failure to present the "Nazi point of view" {s
evidence of serfous imbalance or lack of essential objectivity.

Ne teach the "Facing History® curriculum §n our high school. In part it
{s incorporated into Twentfeth Century American History and 1t also exists
as a stand-alone semester course in our history department. 1 proudly
refer to 1t as an example of our school system's effort to teach relevant
nistorical content in the context of basic moral questions waich face
civilfzation now and 1n the next century just as surely as they faced
civilization in the middle third of the present century. 1 honestly
pelieve the Facing History curriculum to be one of our best efforts to
produce the kind of education {n the humanities that you and Secretary
Sennett would want to see in our high schools.

The curriculum s balanced and objective primarily because it challenges

students to consider the relevance of the historical events of the
Holocaust to the social and political context of our present day. The

44 Organug Road * York, Maine ¢ 03809 ¢« Te! 207-363-3403
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Dr. Chester E. Finn, Jr.
b bruary 3, 1988
Page Two

curricilum takes no political stand on these modern issues other than
forcefully rafsing the great moral questions inherent in the course. As
for {ts relevance as suLject matter, the Holocaust §s surely at least as
relevant for study as the French Revolution or tie Crusades, to name two
subjects no one would deny prominent positions {n our history books. The
advantage of the Holocaust is that we can bring to fts study the mylti-
sensory impact of modern document recording:  f{ln, tape recordings and,
for a while Tonger, 1{ve eyewitness accounts of survivors.

In sunmary, I urge you to restore NON, funding for Facing History and
OQurselves.

Sincerely, :
Richard E. Barnes
Superintendent of Schools

L6
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BOSTON PUBLIC SCHOOLS
SOUTH BOSTON HIGH SCHOOL

Septemben 16, 1986

To whom 1t May Concenn:

1 am delighted to wuite thet Letter «n support oy Facung Hustory and
Ourselves.

Foun teachers preparing o begin a new ninth grade clusier program

an the §all attended « Facing Hustony and Ourselves insictute an late

Tune, 1985. None of them were particulanly excited about giving up

§ive precious days of tho.: tummen vacation to participate 4n a

conference. They exprcted to Learn enougn alout the Holocaust o

enable them to teach ‘he concepts Lo ninth graae students. As the

instutute progressed, «f was clean that acquinir, the necessary methods and
maternials was superseded by a fascunation fon che subject matten itself. The
teachens sought to undenstand the chain of events leading Lo the Holocaust
and Lo make some sense of the hoaror that confron-ed them.

The wnaiitute brought the team of teachers closer sogethen. Not only ded
they share greater insight nto a powerful piece of nuslony, but the raw
emotions that wene exposed revealed thein own suppressed prejudices that
werne painful to talk about {on even thank about). Ultumately, the process
senved Lo heal and draw them togethen.

Discusaions and curriculum development contuinued in the fall of 1985. Marc
Skuarshy §rom Facing Hustony and Oursefves attended every meeting. He
suggested §<lms, books, speakers and specific Lessons, but most of all, he
brought o deeper sense of mussion o the group. As the tume draw Loser

to actually teachung the unct, th" teachers' anwety nose drumatically but,
neventheless, they Zad a fervent deswre to share what they had tearned with
students.

Needless to say, the unct was an unconditional success. The greatest worry
teachens had was unfounded - that leawnung about the Hofocaust would reinforce
students’ stereotypical beleefs. 0f particular note, students began Lo
undenstand that wndividuals are nesponscble for acts. Groups should not be
blamed §on the behavion of a few. One teachen observed &wo black femates
tathing about the persistent wacst attctudes of a whete male. "But",

said Crystal, "1¢'s not all whites, «t's just Denek." In addition to

changing atictudes, the Facung Hestony and Ounsefves currccubum dignifecantly
ancreased thubing and wraiting shefls, The materal was 40 engagang that
they wanted to expreds und share thewn thoughts weth others.

ot
9% G STREET ¢ SOUTH BOSTON WASSACHUEET™S Q2127 e 268 izi’—-FlEA 817
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This year three other teachens well attend a one-day conference
in the fall - with an wmportant difference. They well kave the
trcouragement and support of the pioneer teachers at South Boston
High. They can teann grom thein colleagues’ experiences.

Two upeoming events hosted by Facing History and Ourselves are the
conference "Cheldren at War" on Apnil 9, 1987 and the Anne Frank
exhibit at the Boston Public Librany. Both of these will enrich

our understanding of the Holocaust. Teachers are Looking §omward

Lo participating - meeting with other school staff, sharing stonies,
and cunnicuta ideas. They are also planning to bring students to the
scheduled presentations.

The ataff at Facung History and Ounselves are superb. They are dedicated
educators - professionals in every sonse of the word. They are exceiting,
creative and unfailingly supportive.

Endorsement of Facing History and Qurselves is a pacviledge. They rececve
n very highest praise.

Yours truly,
ANITA JAMIESON

Darector
Program and Staff Development

AJ/par
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Memehils,
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&gm 2597 Avery Avenue « Memphis. Tenressee 38112 « (901) 454-5200

Pioase Reply To
South Area Ofhice
2300 Hemando Road
April 18, 1988 Memphis, Tennessee 38106
Mr. Marc Skvirsky
Facing History and Ourselves
25 Keanard Road

Brookline, Massachusetts 02146
Dear Marc:

Qo behalf o the teacbers and students wno bave been javolved in
the Facing History... program this year 1 would like to coomend you oo your
untiring efforts to foster critical thinking and awareness of vital i&sues.

Having worked in mmercus prajects I can attest that Facing
History... is unique. So mmny times teachers are exposed to new material,
giveo ioservice training, and then sent back to the clasaroom to implement a
pro’ect. Pacing History..., oo the otber band, provides support and
follow-up for teachers in the form of con*inued training and a wealth of
mterials and speakers. 1 have never seen a group of teacbers so excited

We caonot begin to express our gratitude for allowing Leon Bass to
speak to several of our Pacing History... classes. His words and ccocerns
touched all who heard him. The students were spellbound, as were the adults
who heard him spesk. Thank you for this wonderful opportunity.

1 loock forward to our continued involvement with Facing History and
Qurselves. 1 think we have mmde an cutstanding start and expect even
greater things pext year.

Sincerely,

Qi

Ann B. Nero, Ed. D.
Social Studies lostructional Supervisor
Memphis City Schools

ABN/mls =
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L.s Angeles Unified School District e St
OFFICE OF SBCONDARY INSTRUCTION m\m L HEYMAN

ADMINISTRATIVE OFTICES: 450 NoaTH GRAND AYRNUN, LOS ANGELES, CALINORNIA
MAILDW; ADORESS: BOX 3307, .08 ANGELES, CALIFORNTA 50051
TELEPUONE: (213) 623-6403

November 14, 1965

Bi11 Parsons, Program Director
Facing History and Ourselyes
National Foundation Inc.

25 Kennard Road

Brookline, MA 0214€

Dear B{11:

I wish to thank you for agreeing to do a workshop for teachers {n the LAUSD.
Having seen your presentations in the Glendale and Montebello School Dfstricts,
1 fully understand the relevance of your program to a secondary history-social
science curriculum.

As you know, we here in California, and §n the Los Angeles Unified School
District, are in the middle of a concentrated effort to provide a more rigorous
curriculum and to strengthen the development of critical thinking ski1ls.
Nowhere are these efforts more {mportant than in the social sciences and history.
Your efforts on behalf of our teachers can 2lay a role in helping us to fulf{1)
these goals and to strengthen key elements of the instructional program.

Teachers who are better able to show students the {mport of decisfon-making,
Justice, the uses and abuses of power, and obedience in societies can assist
those very students to deal with complex and critical issues in history. After
411, Tooking at difficult questions in history in a logical and systematic way
means thinking “historically® and that {s a major goal of any history-social
science curriculum.

It is in this sense that your program can do vital and important things for our
teachers. vYour approach and your methodology are appropriate for a large,
aulticultural district such as ours as we begin to implement our new high school
course, Cultural Awareness and as we deal with themes such as tolerance for
others and individual rights in a democratic society--themes that run throughout.
our history-soctial sclence curriculum.

I Took forward to working with you on this project.

Sincerely, / A
e /ﬁ/ﬂ,&l‘(

Allan H. Scholl, Ph.D. -
History-Social Science Specialist

AHS:cd

-~
Q : ‘.‘J(‘)

RIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:




ERI

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

ARTHUR M CHAVEZ, Vemier

118

Montebello Unified School District

133 SOUTH MONTESELLO BOULEVARD/ MONTEBELLO, CALIFORNIA §0640°4729

(at3) 726-1223

September 15, 1988

Ms. Margot Strom

Facing History and Ourselves National Foundation. Inc.
25 Kennard Road

Brookline, MA 02146

Dear Margot,

1 would like to thank Facing History and Ourselves National Foundation for

their efforts to aide school districts in infusing the teaching of human rights

{ssues into the curriculum. Our assoclation with Facing History began five

ms ago and since then, approximately 65 of our teachers, grades 8-12,
been trained by Facing History personnel.

One of the most significant outcomes of our relationship with Facing History
is that your program has given our teachers an alternative way of teaching
about the values of human rights. The program has worked especially well
with adolescents and touches many of them on a personal level. Our student
population is 84% Hispanic, with approximately 10% Asian or Pacific
Islander and both these groups of students benefit a great deal from the
program. especially when there are students in classes who may have
experienced similar violations of human rights.

The curriculum is complete as it explores human rights issues and their
relationship to the lives of adolescents. Questions surrounding peer
pressure, prejudice and racism are excellent avenues for teachers to utilize
in helping adolescents relate this history and its learnings to the events of
today. Facing History shows students that each of them has a range of
choices ar u that they can exercise a degree of control in their lives.
Citizensh.p education is greatly enhanced. Lastly, your program offers
teachers and students hope that mﬂ_canmkc_a.dlf{mms

1 thank you for your wonderful curriculum and leadecship. I look forward to
many fruitful years of asscciation with Facing History. Keep up the good
work!

Sincerely.
Lloyd Kajikawa, Coordinator
Staff Develognent -

>
Do
p—3
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PARENT RESPONSE:

"In no other course was she (my daughter) exposed to
real dilemmas as complex and challenging. In no other
course has ghe been inspired to uge the wholea of her
spiritual, moral and intellectua. resources to solve a
problem. In no other course has she been 8o gure that the
task mattered Seriously for her development as a responsible
person."”

TEACHER RESPONSES :
o nT SBoFYUNSLES

"This program is g;xfect for juynior high kids. 1It's
developmentally appropriate, speaks to the needs,

Ccapacities, and issues they're concerned with and ready to
grow with. Students are asked to use their understanding of
themselves and their own groups in society to help make

sense of the history they expiored, and the implications of
that history for their own behavior, thinking and
understanding of themselves. Although the history is taught
for its own sake, the focus is always on the issues it '
raises, issues of prime relevance to an adolescent."” -

- A Harvarid Curriculum Development
Specialist

"This curriculum is about more than the Holocaust.
It's about the reading and the writing and the arithmetic of
genocide, but it's also about such R's as rethinking,
reflecting, and reasoning. 1It's about prejudice,
discrimination and scapegoating; but it's also about human
dignity, moralify, law, and citizenship. It's about
avoiding and forgetting, but it's also about civic couraqe |
and justice. 1In an age of 'back to basics' this curriculum
declares that there ig one thing more basic, more sacred,

than any of the three R's; namely, the sanctity of human
life."

~ Scholar of German History and
Social Studies Curriculum Dirsotor-

5
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STUDENT QUOTES:

"A human mind is too valuable to be wasted on
prejudice, and a human life is too valuable to be the victim
of it."

- Marblehead High School student

"It has come to my attention that the funding you have
provided for the Holocaust course will come to an end. The
reasons that you have given seem unjust to me. First of all
you stated something to the effect that the course materia®
wasn't appropriate for our adolescent minds. If you feel
that adolescents are incapable of dealing with the material,
then when did you expect to throw us this information; when
we're forty years old and already set in our ways? The
information dealt with in the Holocaust course is very
emotional a.d difficult, but the manner in which it is
taught is sensitive, yet effective. My mind has matured and
been opened to so many new thoughts through taking this
course. It is unfai- to deny it to others."

"It is hard to believe wa have studied this subject for
six weeks. When we began I thought I'd hate it, it's so
depressing. Then we read all those personal histories and
letters and diaries from the people who suffered so much,
and then we “rct™ ituc people through video testimonies. The
last segment was the best though. I want to know more about
the people who cared enough to help the Jews. I know there
weren't as many of them as there should have been, and I
know that the ones who did great things for their fellow
human beings were just averaje people, but that is why they
are so important, isn't it? Because if they can choose to
rigk everything to do what is right, can't I do that, too?"

- high school junior

"I don't thin% I can reduce all my feelings to words,
especially just to a journal entry. when we rsad and
discussed the horror and the hercism and the history, we
always turned it into a personal journey for nurselves from
looking at other people and other times to looking at
ourselves in our own time. How did we do that? 1Is that why
you kept referring to the book on Facing History a 4
OURSELVES? I'm not sure what you want me to write about, I
have so many ideas running through my head. Maybe I should
just tell you one important effect this unit has had on me
already and let you draw your own conclusions. I wrqQte an
essay for 'you once about my job in the bakery? Weli, pAart
of my job is to throw out the old bread and stuff that
hasn't been sold or isn't lresh enough to be gold anymore.
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But after meeting Anne (a survivor of the Warsaw Ghetto and
of eight camps, including Buchenwald), and after reading
about the hunger and the horror, and after hearing the
testimonies on the videos you brought far us to see;-I - -
couldn't just go to work anymore and throw away bread
because it's two days old. So I talked to my boss, and I
told him all about what we were studying, and I asked him if
I could call around and find a place like a mission center
or a hunger project and give the bread to them on a regular
basis. He said fine, 80 now the bread goes to San Jose to a
shelter. I even get to vist and serve the free food
sometimes now, and I am thinking about how many other
opportunitiec 3 there are... My friend from Crystal Springs
School (that's in Hillsborough) belongs to an Oxfam Chapter.
Maybe we should start one here at MHES..."

~ high school senior

"This course strengthened my feelinys toward the fact
that although people are different and have different
backgrounds, everyone has a right to live their lives the
#ay they desire. Also, just Lacause someone 18 different
they should not be considered in{erior, they are human just
like the rest of us."

= parochial sgchool student

"1 feel that this course has made me aware that I was
V ry prejudiced against different races before. However, I
.eel that my feelings have changed and tiat I have matured.”

= parochial school gtudent

STUDENT RESPONSE TO RESOURCE SPEAKER (Leon Bass)
S Soot oS 1Y RESUURLE SPEAKER

"As I looked around the classroom during his speech it
seemed as though we wevre all affected by his words. Not
only was his speech proof of unfair teatment of man but it
also brought forth a sense of brotherhood in me. I was not
alone in feeling this for I noticed that many students both
black and white, Jew and Gentile, went to shake hands with
Mr. Base and thank him. This one presentation was inspiring
enough to make me and my fellow students realize how,
important it is for us to hold strong to our background and
make sure that nothing like the Holocaust will ever happen
again. As Jai Tsung, a seventh century Chinese ruler said,
"Hietory is a mirror."” Hopefully, all of society can use
this mirror._ta reflect-on- history's mistakes -ama make 'a °
change rather than watch the same thing happen sgain.”
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APPENDIX 2.—STATEMENTS SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD

UNITED STATES DFPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

THE ScCRETARY

STATEMENT BY SECRETARY CAVAZ0S

October 19, 1988

Questions have been raised in the media and elsewhere concerning
the operation of the Department of Edncation's peer review process
In connection with the National Diffusion Network, Stories in the
press have alleged that the Department's peer review process did not
operate properly 1in connection with the Facing History and
Ourselves" program that was under consideration for NDN funding
earlier this year.

I want to assure . °s Subcommittee that I am a strong believer
in the peer review process and will take whatever steps are
necessary to ensure i1ts proper functioning at the Department, It
has been my good fortune to have served as a peer reviewer for
programs funded by the National Library of Medicine, My experience
there has convinced me that a strong peer review process ensures
integrity and objectivity 1in the government's grant-making process.

While the decision not to fund projects 1n the History,
Geography and Civics category occurred before my confirmation as
Secretary of FEducation, in light of the allegations surrounding the
NDN funding decisions earlier this year, I am reviewing the
process. I 1intend tou take 11l poszible steps to ensure that future
peer reviews are conductel 1n accoardance with congressional 1intent.

I do want to assure this Subcomm:ttee that allegatioas of
ant1-Semitism in the funding decision concerning "Facing History and

Qurselves™ are unfounded.

400 MARYLAND AVE .S W WASHINGTON DC 20202
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STATEMENT BY
CONGRESSMAN HENRY A. WAXMAN
before the
HUMAN RESOURCES AND INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS SUSCOMMITTEE
of the
HOUSE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS
MR. WAXMAN. Mr. Chairman, [ want to commend you for holding this
important hearing on the Education Department's decision to block funding

for a Holocaust education program.

I am outraged that the Educatior Department’s review panel
recommended rejection of the program "Facing History and Ourselves' by
noting that: "The program gives no eviderce of balance or objectivity.

The Nazi point of view, howeve. wnpopular, is still a point of view and is

not presented, nor is that of the Ku Klux Klan."

Is ensuring that Nazi and Ku Klux Klan views are represented the
new litmus test for approving holocaust educational programs? The process
surrounding ""Facing History and Qurselves" seems to be another inciedible
example of an unthinking and insensitive bureaucracy running out of
control. It suggests that narrow and vicious interests can now dictate
broad policy without any accountabilty. This is not an 1ssue of one
panelists misguided views--it is a question of who's running the Education

Department and who's responsibible for important public policy decisions.

"Facing History and OQurselves™ is a worthwhile and balanced
project. It has been used effectively in over 1,900 schools across our

country, including such diverse cities as Memphis, Tennessee, 1nner-city
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Page Two

Chicago, Albuquerque, New Mexico, and Los Angeles. It's purpose isn't to
promote extreme ideas, but to educate our children about one of the most
heinous crimes in history. It has been well received and has bona fide

credentials.

Political maneuvering should have no place in deciding the fate of
important educational programs. Again, I appreciate your holding this
hearing Mr. Chairman, and look forward to working with you in

investigating this decision.
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Congressman
Stephen J. Solarz

13th Destrict/Brooklyn, N Y
New York (718) 372.8800
Washington (202) 226-2361
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STATEMENT OF MON. STEPHEN J. SOLARZ

TO THE GOVERNMENT OPERAT IONS SUBCOMMITTEL
ON HUMAN RESOURCES AND INTERGOVERNMENTAL RECLATIONS

OCTCBER (9, 1988

Chairman (.e1ss and members of the Subcommittee, I am
Jrateful for the opportunity to testify pefore you this morning
on the important issue of Holocaust related curricula in our
nation's schools.

In my view, any discussion of this subj)ect must begin with
the premise that the Holocaust 1s the central existential fact in
the history of human civilization. The systematic slaughter of
six millioh men, women, and children =-- for no other reason then
that they were Jewish -- igs a shocking indication of the depths
of depravity to which the human spirit can sink.

hy district 1s home to the larges. community of Holocaust
Survivors 1n the country. These are courageous and 1nspiring
people, who dragged themselves from the fires of the Nazi inferno
to rebuild their communities and bring up their families in the
United States. The tragedy which befell those who perished must
never be forgotten. And the sufferiny which was endured by those
who survived can and should be transiated into lessons for
ourselves and for our children.

For a number of years, I have been involved in efforts to
introduce Holocaust related curricula to the public schools. As
@ wwwbdr Of the New York State Assembly in the early 1970s, 1
introduced legislation to add Holocaust studies to the State's
education program. 1In my first two terms in Congress, 1
introduced bills to authorize the National Institute of gducation
to develcp and distribyte educationdl materials on tje Holocaust
tc elementary and secondary schools. 1 am Proud that my efforts
helped convince the WIE in 1978 to incluie suc: macerlals in i1ts
Educational Research Information Center.

Over the last ten years, educational programs on the
Holocaust have been instituted in tens of thousands of schools
across the country. Among the most successful 1s "Facing History
and Oursclves,® whose difficulties with the Department of
Bducation are the reason for this hearing. Originally
established in Brookline, Massachusctts in 1976, "Facing History"
was deemed “exemplary* by a Department of Bducation panel 1n 1980
and has since been distributed to some 30,000 teachers in nearly
¢very state in the country.

In laght of the clear success of 1ts method and tihe profound
importance of itg message, 1 was saddened to learn that ®Facing
History" has been denied Federal funding tor the past three years
under the most unfortunate circumstances.

= OVER -
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1 first heard of the regrettable remarks attributed to
National Diffusion Network review pPaneiist Christipa Price in
August, 1987. At that time, 1t had been reported in the press
that Ms. Price had said of "Facing History": “The proyram gives
no evidence of balance or objectivity. The Nazi point of view,
however unpopular, 1s still a point of view and i8 pot presented,
nor 18 that of the Ku Klux Klan." 1 have since learned that ls.
Price also wrote: "1t is a paradoxical and strange aspect of
this program and (sic) the methods used to change the thinking of
students is the same that Hitler and Goebbels used to
propagand ize the German people.”

In a letter of August 21, 1987, I tuvld Secretary Bennett
that review boards "must be staffed with combetent experts and
not i1rresponsib.e 1dealogues” and that "the Department of
BEducation should ... do all that it can to promote rather thar
denigrate quality Holocaust related programs.” Four months
later. Secretary Bennett wrote to me that he was "appalled” by
Price's remarks and that "Facing History" did not receive funding
because 1t faced "stiff and worthy competition.”

It 1s 1ot clear, however, that this was the sole reason for
denying grants to "Facing History." Recent press accounts have
alleged that the program 1s harshly opposed by an extremely
conservative i1deological element within the Department. One
senicr Department official anonymously told the hashlnﬁton Pust
that these rejections were orchestrated by "thos’ on the extreme
right wing of the Republican Party.”

Mr. Chairman, when we speak of sustaining the lessons and
cgacies of the Holocaust, we are not speaking of a Republican or
D'mocratic issue, but one of primary importance to all
Americans. Just last week, while laying the cornerstone for the
ilolocaust Museum, President Reagan stated: "I think all of us
here are aware of those, even among our own countrymen, who have
dadicated themselves to the disgusting task of minimizing or even
denying the truth of the Holocaust., This act of intellectual
genocide must not 3o unchallenged.”

Nr. Chairman, 1 commend you for not letting this incident go
unchallenged. I urge you and the members of the Subcommittee to
fully investigate the circumstances surrounding the denial of
funding to "Facing History." And 1 urge all of my colleagues in
the Congress to work together to ensure that tte evils of the
Holocaust a”e never forgotten.

Let us not forget the words of the noted philosopher George
Santayana: "Those who cannot remember the past are condemned to
repeat 1t.”

Thank you.
91-645 $216
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